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VISION AND MISSION
BERKfEw

POWERING THE eWORLD

EE ) ERK

EJ To be a manufacturer of world-class standard
in power electronics

@ HREKENTREEFEREED

VISION
HiE A To capture global demand in innovative

products in the new smart economy
BRESLENYAHERNER

] To be socially and environmentally responsible
to all stakeholders

EHERBRRITEHAFHERE

assion to improve & innovate ,
SR ER R R AV (&)

MISSION

bligation to stakeholders f& fip
ERBEBEOE

orld class standards & quality
SRR M E Rk E

xcellence in operations
EHNEE

esponsibility to develop our people
BEAEEBEAT
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Founded in 1983, Trio Industrial Electronics Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) is an
electronics manufacturing services (“EMS”) provider specialising
in the manufacturing and sales of customised industrial electronic
components and products, with headquarters in Hong Kong,
production facilities in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)
and Republic of Ireland (“lreland”), and offices in Ireland and
Germany.

As an OEM of industrial electronic components and products,
we provide our customers with a comprehensive scope of
services, from procurement of raw materials, manufacturing
to product delivery. We also provide technical advice and
engineering solutions to our customers during product design
and development stage. Our OEM products include: (i) electro-
mechanical products; (ii) switch-mode power supplies; (iii) smart
chargers; and (iv) smart vending systems, which are generally
applied in various industrial electronic equipment such as (a)
renewable energy facilities; (b) telecommunications equipment;
(c) commercial freight equipment; (d) medical devices; and (e)
security systems. Our OEM products are manufactured according
to the specifications provided by our customers and are either
incorporated into their products or sold as stand-alone products
under their own brands.

ABOUT THE GROUP
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

NEER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS HITESE

Lai Yiu Wah (Chairman) RRE (£/F)

Tai Leung Lam (Chief Executive Officer) RN (7TBAEZ)
Joseph Mac Carthy Joseph Mac Carthy

Georges René Gener
(resigned with effect from 15 February 2020)

Georges René Gener
(BZZE-TF_A+HBEEE)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS BIFHITES

Fung Chun Chung SR
Cheung Kin Wing SR

Wong Raymond Fook Lam E &R
REGISTERED OFFICE TMRERE
Block J, 5/F, Phase I, E

Kaiser Estate BEALHY

51 Man Yue Street R¥E515

Hung Hom, Kowloon

SUE TR D28

Hong Kong 51EJE
COMPANY WEBSITE ANCIE b
www.trio-ieg.com www.trio-ieg.com
AUDIT COMMITTEE EREES
Cheung Kin Wing (Chairman) REL ()
Fung Chun Chung IS

Wong Raymond Fook Lam =B
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE FMEESR
Wong Raymond Fook Lam (Chairman) w=@w (FE)
Lai Yiu Wah BB

Fung Chun Chung S IE
Cheung Kin Wing SRR
NOMINATION COMMITTEE BREZESE
Fung Chun Chung (Chairman) KBER (/)
Lai Yiu Wah B

Wong Raymond Fook Lam =R
RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE EREEZESY
Lai Yiu Wah (Chairman) R (F5E)
Cheung Kin Wing SRR

Fung Chun Chung bektes

Wong Raymond Fook Lam =R
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COMPANY SECRETARY
Wan Mei Wa Ruby (ACS, ACIS, CGR, CPA)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Lai Yiu Wah
Tai Leung Lam

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
22nd Floor Prince’s Building

Central, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
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INFORMATION FOR OUR INVESTORS
REESEER

Financial Calendar

Financial year end

Announcement of annual results

Annual report available online

e Company website: http://www.trio-ieg.com (“Investor Relations” section)

* Hong Kong Stock Exchange website: www.hkexnews.hk

Annual report dispatch date

Annual general meeting

Ex-dividend date

Latest time for lodging share transfer documents for registration
to entitle the final dividend

Payment of final dividend

Share Information

Stock Code
Board Lot
Market Capitalisation as at 31 December 2019

Share Registrar
Tricor Investor Services Limited

Address:  Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong

Telephone: (852) 2980 1333
Facsimile: (852) 2810 8185
Email: is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com
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31 December 2019
23 March 2020
22 April 2020

23 April 2020
29 May 2020
16 June 2020
17 June 2020

(Not later than 4:30 p.m.)

3 July 2020

1710
4,000 shares
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000 Change
FHBxT FET i
Revenue Wz 808,599 885,971 -8.7% 8
Gross profit e 191,053 218,733 12.7% 3
Profit before income tax B BT 18 4 Bl A 24,311 49,639 -51.0% S E
Profit for the year F N A 22,357 42,378 -47.2% o %
Basic earnings per share (in HK cents) &RREARZF] (GHL) 2.24 4.24 -47.2% ié’
Dividends per share (in HK cents) B S GBAL) =
- Final — RE 0.80 1.80 2
— Interim — A EA 0.80 -
- Special — R - 0.80
1.60 2.60 -38.5%

Sales by Product Category for the years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018
BE-Z—NFE=-Z—\F+=-A=+—HLFEMN
EmaENHEER

1.6%

1.5%

3.2%
2.1%

40.0%

40.39
19.8% N

—E-NF
—EN\F

) S

Smart chargers

32.2%
36.3%

q Electro-mechanical products q

WEES BEAESR
Switch-mode power supplies 4 Smart vending systems
FREIR BREEER

Others
¢ Hth

Sales by Region for the years ended 31 December
2019 and 2018
BE_Z—NEFR-Z-NF+-A=+—BLFEUN
WENVESENHER

2.7%
3.4%

2.7%
2.0%
3.7%

"

17.3%
23.7%

[ ¢

73.3%
67.1%

q Europe q North America The PRC (including Hong Kong)
BOM b= T (BEEE)
q South-east Asia q Others
R At
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

Sales per Capita (US$)
AGHEREY ()
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Note: Kz -
(1) “Sales per capita” represents average sales per person, which is calculated (1) [ANHERE] BB ATHHEEE - HUX—REHAHE

by dividing total sales for a particular period by the number of employees in EHRBERARRAES ABGE -
the same period.

Sales, Gross Profit, and Profit for the Year (HK$’000)
SHEH - EFRFREF (FET)
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MERE

Gross Profit Margin and Net Profit Margin
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERERE

BBESLLE

FEFNTESE

Lai Yiu Wah

Chairman and Executive Director

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Trio Industrial Electronics Group Limited (the “Company”),
and together with its subsidiaries (“Trio” or the “Group”), | am
pleased to present to you the final report of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2019.

| reported in the 2019 Interim Report that the Group experienced
a slight slowdown in sales mainly due to the adversities of
international relations and macroeconomic environment (e.g.
prolonged US-China trade disputes and Brexit). These adversities
had further hit the Group’s business in the second half of 2019,
in particular, in the fourth quarter. Customers in our main market
in Europe had exercised even more stringent measures in placing
orders with manufacturers based in the PRC. Many projects
had been strategically delayed or even cancelled. Attributable
to the drop in sales demands from our largest customer in
the US market, the Group had experienced an unprecedented
challenge in decrease in sales of 8.7% comparing to FY2018,
not to mention a much larger fall short percentage comparing to
our original sales budget.

FAEREHETLETEEERAA (X
AR ERAEWBLAFAEHE] KK
SE)EE(ESE) AR ESL (ES
&) RAR BTRZALEBE_ZT—H
F+=A=+—AILEREZ KBRS -

AAERZZ-NFHHPHRETERT  AKE
HERMHREMTE - DEEARBEEBERK
REEBERE (WRARBRNPXE S F
REBRE) OTHNEEMRE - R_F—NF
THF  BRREFNFE 25 TMERE—
SHREAKEER - ZBPARBNEEMENT
FPrafinr B HEER T ET ERCRRBRA
BIREER FZHEACETRBLHERES
BUE - RERMEBEMSRATPNHESRK
Tk AEEEHRAAMARENIE  HEER
“E-)\FBRFETRE8.7%  BERENHMN
[RIFEREEE -
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To counteract this disruptive threat to our Group, our management
has rapidly reacted to the crisis by instituting the following
measures:

o analyse possible internal and external crises the Group was
then facing;

° devise various solutions to reduce the impacts on the
Group’s working capital and net operating profit; our
current and liquidity ratios are still very strong to meet any
immediate liabilities falling due;

° define the ultimate line of defense of our Group’s target
future results and strive to achieve on top of the ultimate
line; and

° establish a new alert system to rapidly respond to crisis.

Our shareholders might have interest to note our turnaround
strategies and actions, namely the following:

° apply the “Internationalisation” strategy to explore flexibility
in production base (e.g. in Europe or South-east Asia) to
meet customers’ demands; this may probably remove the
extra tariff on imports of our customers’ products to the US
in the future;

° following the above strategy, the Group has decided to
set up an assembly factory in Waterford, Ireland and a
larger-scale plant in Rayong, Thailand:

° pay high attention to cost controls, in particular, unit
material costs, labour costs and certain discretionary costs;
and

° enlarge customer visiting programs by our marketing
executives to explain to our customers the measures that
the Group has exercised or will exercise to meet their
order policy and demands; encouraging feedback has
been received from most of our major customers and the
management believes that by virtue of our production
capabilities, quality control, pricing and services, we would
regain the interest of our existing customers to place orders
with us.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
IRRE

BESTREYAEEEKRNEZERE T2
[E B HEUA T MR R EL B

o NMAKEERHEERNAMINDELER
1

o FIEBREMANEUREHEAEELESR
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EIRME

A very encouraging news during the reporting period of 2019
was that the Group achieved a significant milestone with its
principal subsidiary, Trio Engineering Company Limited (“Trio
Engineering”), being officially awarded the Certificate of Industry
4.0 level 1i Maturity recognition. The certification testifies to the
Group’s capability in real time information generation including
business operations, production and logistics.

.'a‘l

L]
hkpc 1i Maturity Recognition - Trio Engineering Company Ltd.

“E-NFREHANE -RIEES ASENHE
B AREERT —EERBREE  HTEHK
BARHETRARAR ((HBIR]) BES
BT IRAOKNAERAEE — 11k - ZRBEEH
BIAEEEXRGEE LEMIRLERE
AMPRENEN -

ThibD

POMPRING Tra e

22 Fraunhofer
L]

HKPC"

Certificate
of Industry 4.0 Maturity Recognition .:__T
Tﬂo!m: Mﬁl:piﬂ'i s, =
o _
1i

Real Time Information Generation

e LT IE R T

“Certificate of Industry 4.0 Maturity” Award Presentation Ceremony organized
by Hong Kong Productivity Council and Fraunhofer Institute of Production

Technology IPT on 24 May 2020

L " EREENERRREEASDEREERMARAN —F-FFRA—TMA

2020 also marks an important year for massive 5G networks
deployment, further boosting the industrial loT development.
Echoing with the Group’s motto, ‘Powering the eWorld’, Trio
foresees promising opportunities from the huge demand for
electronic devices such as smart chargers, smart electric
vehicles and smart city systems to support the 5G ecosystems,
achieving greater power efficiency and continuous technological
advancement.

BITH) [ T 4.0 AERA] B E | RIS

TR CEFERRARECGHREENERSF
B g SHPTEDBRBER - RERILM

MIRE DEEN - BARK] - BERE - XFH5G
ERRAEG BRER TR N M EIREM

ESTELHBETES SREDIRDE
HTRREETREOEABL - HEREX
HERE -
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Nevertheless, the recent coronavirus outbreak has added
uncertainties to the global economy in 2020. In particular for
the EMS industry, the potential deceleration in manufacturing
of core raw materials and the slowdown or suspension in
production has impacted the entire EMS production chain and
the product delivery schedule among electronic manufacturers.
The Group’s production facilities in Nansha District, Guangzhou
City, Guangdong Province, the PRC have experienced a
temporary decrease in production (please refer to our Voluntary
Announcement dated 16 March 2020). Without much saying,
the Group has been closely monitoring the situation with regular
communication with customers and suppliers, as well as making
timely adjustments to its overall operation.

The current business environment remains overshadowed by the
serious coronavirus outbreak, international confrontations and
gloomy economic climate. Despite the relaxation of the US-China
trade tensions and the clear picture of Brexit, the Group is unable
to estimate the time to rebound at this moment. However, as a
leading player in industrial electronics, Trio has demonstrated
a high level of precision and efficiency in production, together
with strict compliance with customers’ standards in product
quality. We will focus on product development, market share
gain, geographic production facilities, operational excellence
and prudent financial management. Together with the strong and
quality workforce we have established for long, the management
has the confidence to lead our Group to “recover from the worst”.

On behalf of the Board, | must express my most sincere thanks
to all who have extended their best supports to our business.

Lai Yiu Wah
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 March 2020

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
IRRE
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERSREEERE

1. Mr. Lai Yiu Wah
REERE

2. Mr. Tai Leung Lam
BRMELE

3. Mr. Joseph Mac Carthy

4. Mr. Fung Chun Chung
BEPEE

5. Mr. Cheung Kin Wing
REEELE

6. Mr. Wong Raymond Fook Lam
HERELE
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESREREEEREE

1. Mr. Lai Sek Piu
HEGEKE

2. Mr. Lo Ka Kei Jun
EERHLE

3. Ms. Wan Mei Wa Ruby
BEELL

4. Mr. Shahpour Javanmard
Emamghissi

5. Ms. Wu Mo Man
HEZEzt:
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESREREEEREE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lai Yiu Wah (Z®#2%), aged 64, is the Chairman and
Executive Director. He is the Chairman of the Risk Management
Committee and a member of each of the Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee. Mr. Lai joined our Group
since April 2015 and has been the Director of the Company since
15 April 2016. He is a director of all the subsidiaries. Mr. Lai is
responsible for the corporate and strategic development and
investor relationships of the Group as well as the management
of the finance division. Mr. Lai has extensive experience in
management consulting, finance, accountancy and taxation. He
also has wide experience in businesses including manufacturing,
catering, retailing and trading sectors.

Mr. Lai obtained a higher diploma in accountancy in November
1978 from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as Hong
Kong Polytechnic University). He was admitted as a fellow of
the Hong Kong Society of Accountants (now known as the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants) in September
1988.

Mr. Lai served in different positions, including trainee
and supervisor, in Coopers & Lybrand (now known as
PricewaterhouseCoopers) from November 1978 to August 1981,
and served in different positions, including internal auditor and
credit controller, in A.S. Watson & Co., Limited from December
1981 to June 1983. In 1983, Mr. Lai founded Thomson Y. W. Lai
& Co. Certified Public Accountants, which had been the Group’s
auditors and tax representative from August 2008 to April 2015
and from July 2008 to April 2015, respectively, before Mr. Lai was
invited to join the Group in April 2015.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tai Leung Lam (&, R #), aged 72, is Chief Executive Officer,
Executive Director and the director of manufacturing. Mr. Tai
joined the Group since October 1985 and was appointed as a
Director on 15 April 2016. He is responsible for the management,
strategic planning and development of the manufacturing division.
Mr. Tai was a director of Trio Engineering from October 1985 to
July 1987, and has been serving in the same position from July
1990 until present. He is a director of all of the subsidiaries.
Mr. Tai has over 45 years of experience in the electronics
industry, and specializes in the establishment and management
of production plants for electronics manufacturing.

Mr. Tai obtained a diploma in Wireless Mechanical Maintenance
without Wireless Telegraph Communication in The World Electric
Engineering College (F#&t A EH TIZER) in March 1965.
During the period from October 1976 to 1983, Mr. Tai held
various positions in Timco Manufacturing Co. Limited (“Timco”),
a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong and
principally engaged in electronics manufacturing. Timco was
dissolved in December 1991 as a result of creditor’s winding up.

Mr. Joseph Mac Carthy, aged 54, is the Executive Director and
the director of marketing of the Company. Mr. Mac Carthy joined
the Group since March 1996 and was appointed as a Director
on 15 April 2016. He is responsible for the overall management
and supervision of the marketing activities in Europe and the
US. He joined us as a consultant in March 1996 and has been a
director of Trio Engineering since October 2003. He is a director
of certain subsidiaries. Before joining the Group, Mr. Mac Carthy
worked in different companies engaging in related industries. Mr.
Mac Carthy has been in the industry of design engineering for
electronic and magnetic products for over 30 years.

In 1985, Mr. Mac Carthy obtained a national certificate in
electronic engineering from Waterford Institute of Technology in
Ireland.

ESNEREEREERE

BERMELE 725 RITHRAHE RITES
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESREREEEREE

Mr. Georges René Gener, aged 71, was appointed as Executive
Director on 2 November 2018 and has been the Chairman of
European Operations of the Company since February 2018.
He is responsible for overseeing the Group’s overall business
operations and developments in the European markets. Mr.
Gener resigned from his positions with effect from 15 February
2020. He has over 36 years of experience in the industrial
electronics industry in senior managerial positions in various
European enterprises.

Mr. Gener obtained a Diploma in Electrical Engineering from
ESIGELEC Graduate School of Engineering in Paris, France
in 1970. He further obtained a Master Degree in Business
Administration from Institut de Controle de Gestion in Paris,
France in 1990.

Mr. Gener worked from 1993 to 2000 as the sales director
for Myrra SAS (“Myrra”), an industrial company for magnetic
components with businesses worldwide. From 2000 to 2013, he
was the chairman and majority shareholder of Myrra and engaged
in the international development of the company, including setting
up factories in Poland and the People’s Republic of China, as well
as building agents and sales structures internationally. Mr. Gener
is currently a director of Myrra Hong Kong Limited.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Fung Chun Chung (%), aged 77, is an Independent
Non-executive Director appointed on 10 February 2017, and
is the Chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member
of each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Risk Management Committee. Mr. Fung has over 40 years of
experience in the electronics industry.

Mr. Fung received an advanced diploma in engineering from
North-East Essex Technical College in the United Kingdom in
July 1968 and a master degree of science in engineering from
the University of Hong Kong in November 1978. Mr. Fung was
admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
in January 1983, and a member of the Institution of Production
Engineers (now known as the Institution of Engineering and
Technology) in the United Kingdom in July 1971.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Fung worked as a manager of production in Transelectronics
Ltd. from June 1970 to December 1974, responsible for leading
the development of the company and training of the production
operators and staff. Mr. Fung was appointed as the chairman
of Manlion Industrial Co., Ltd., a company principally engaged
in the manufacturing of lighting products and festival items and
decorations, in October 1983, and of Packway Industries Ltd.,
a company principally engaged in the manufacturing of battery
chargers and festival items and decorations, in November
2007. In addition, Mr. Fung was the secretary of the Hong Kong
Electrical Appliance Industries Association from 2006 to 2008
and the executive committee member of group four (electrical
products) of the Federation of Hong Kong Industries from July
2005 to July 2015.

Mr. Cheung Kin Wing (R#%), aged 65, is an Independent
Non-executive Director appointed on 10 February 2017, and
is the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of each
of the Remuneration Committee and the Risk Management
Committee. Mr. Cheung has more than 31 years of experience
in information technology, financial accounting, auditing and
management.

Mr. Cheung obtained a bachelor degree in commerce
from the University of Calgary in Canada in June 1979. He
became a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a fellow of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales in May 1986 and February
2015, respectively.

From September 1980 to March 1995, Mr. Cheung held
several positions, including assistant manager, manager
and senior manager in Coopers & Lybrand (now known as
PricewaterhouseCoopers). He was a partner of Coopers &
Lybrand (now known as PricewaterhouseCoopers) from March
1995 until his resignation in May 1999. Since February 1999,
Mr. Cheung has been a director and lead consultant of Sunplex
Consultants Limited, a company principally engaged in the
provision of human resources management and IT consultancy
services. He was an independent director of Principal Trust
Company (Hong Kong) Limited (formerly known as AXA China
Region Trustees Limited), a provider of investment and retirement
solutions, from August 1999 to August 2015 and an independent
non-executive director of Bank of Communications Trustee
Limited, from November 2003 to January 2018. Mr. Cheung
was a director of the finance and operations department of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants from July
2004 to April 2008 and a consultant of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants from April 2008 to August 2008.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESREREEEREE

Mr. Cheung is currently an independent non-executive director of
BaWang International (Group) Holding Limited, (whose shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1338), ENM Holdings
Limited (whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 128), and Kin Pang Holdings Limited (whose shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1722). Mr. Cheung
also joined Self Strengthening Service Centre Limited (B 38 R
AR AR (an NGO to help the underprivileged) as a director
on a voluntary basis in September 2019.

Mr. Wong Raymond Fook Lam (E&®), aged 65, is the
Independent Non-executive Director appointed on 10 February
2017, and is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and
a member of each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Risk Management Committee. Mr. Wong has
approximately 31 years of experience in financial management,
treasury, internal control and investment in the commercial field.

Mr. Wong was an independent non-executive director of
Wenzhou Kangning Hospital Co., Ltd., a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 2120), from April 2015 to June
2016. From January 1997 to June 2007 and from July 2009 to
December 2016, Mr. Wong served as an executive director of
SOCAM Development Limited (“SOCAM”), a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 983) and a member of the Shui
On Group, a group principally engaged in property development
and construction in Hong Kong and the PRC. He also took up
the role of chief financial officer from July 2009 to December
2016 and assumed the role of managing director of SOCAM
from July 2013 to December 2016. During his tenure with
SOCAM, he was primarily responsible for financial, treasury and
legal and secretarial functions, corporate restructuring, mergers
and acquisitions, investment decisions, investor relationships
and corporate governance matters. In March 2007, Mr. Wong
was appointed an executive director of China Central Properties
Ltd., an affiliated company of SOCAM, which was listed on the
London Stock Exchange. Following the privatisation of China
Central Properties Ltd. in June 2009, he rejoined SOCAM. From
1992 to 1995, Mr. Wong served as the finance director of the
Shui On Group.

Mr. Wong obtained a diploma in accountancy from the City
of London Polytechnic (now known as London Metropolitan
University) in June 1976. He is a Fellow of The Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lai Sek Piu (2$51Z), aged 60, is the Head of Manufacturing
Division and Innovation Development Division and is responsible
for the management and supervision of the Group’s innovation
and development. Starting from 1 January 2019, Mr. Lai has
also been a Joint Managing Director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company. He has over 34 years of experience in the field of
manufacturing and engineering.

Mr. Lai completed a three years’ part-time course in electronic
engineering at Kasetsart University in Thailand in July 1993.

Mr. Lai worked as a section manager in Capetronic International
(Thailand) Public Company Limited in Thailand, a company
principally engaged in the manufacturing, distribution and
provision of after-sales services for computer monitors in
Thailand, from August 1988 to February 1997. He joined the
Group as an engineer in November 1998 and a general manager
of manufacturing division in April 2007, and has been the director
of Innovation and Development Division since January 2018.

Mr. Lo Ka Kei Jun (%), aged 41, is the director of the
Marketing Division and is responsible for the management and
supervision of the Group’s marketing. Starting from 1 January
2019, Mr. Lo has also been a Joint Managing Director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. He has 17 years of experience
in international marketing and business development in the
electronics industry.

Mr. Lo obtained a higher national diploma in business and
marketing in July 2001 and a bachelor of arts degree in business
management in September 2002 from the Southampton
Institute in the United Kingdom. He obtained a master degree
in management and a master degree in business administration
from Macquarie University in Australia in November 2013 and
December 2014, respectively.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESREREEEREE

Mr. Lo worked in Apogee International Limited, a company
principally engaged in the manufacturing of electronic products
and audio and innovative designed items, as a marketing
executive from June 2003 and an assistant marketing manager
from May 2005 to October 2005. He joined the Group as a
marketing executive in February 2006 and the general manager
of the Marketing Division since September 2012, and has been
the director of the Marketing Division since January 2018.

Ms. Wan Mei Wa Ruby (B 3% %), aged 36, is the Group Financial
Controller and Company Secretary. She is responsible for overall
financial management and company secretarial matters of the
Group.

Ms. Wan obtained a Bachelor of Commerce (Honours) in Accounting
from Hong Kong Shue Yan University (formerly known as Hong
Kong Shue Yan College) in July 2006 and a Master of Corporate
Governance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in October
2012. She is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries, and the Chartered Governance Institute (formerly
known as the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators).
Ms. Wan has over 10 years of experience in audit and assurance,
financial management, and corporate governance. She was
awarded the Chartered Governance Professional qualification of
the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and the Chartered
Governance Institute in September 2018.

Ms. Wan joined the Group as the Assistant Financial Controller
in March 2015 and has been the Group Financial Controller
since January 2018. She has also taken up the role of Company
Secretary of the Company since 1 January 2019.

Mr. Shahpour Javanmard Emamghissi, aged 63, is the
director of project development and is responsible for business
development in the European market and supervision of the
product designs. He has over 31 years of experience in the
electronic engineering industry and specialises in manufacturing,
quality control and business development management.

Mr. Emamghissi obtained a higher national diploma in electrical
and electronic engineering from Liverpool Polytechnic (now
known as Liverpool John Moores University) in the United
Kingdom for session 1980/1981 and subsequently received
a diploma in electrical and electronic engineering from Leeds
Polytechnic (now known as Leeds Beckett University) in the
United Kingdom in June 1982 and a postgraduate diploma in
manufacturing management and technology from the Open
University in the United Kingdom in July 1997.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

After leaving college, Mr. Emamghissi worked on Automation
projects with Micro Systems Control until January 1984. He
joined Denis Ferranti Group in February 1984 as an Electronics
Engineer. During his 19 years with Ferranti Group, he held
a number of positions (Electronic design and test engineer,
Project and Telecom Engineering Manager). In 2003, he joined
Eaton Electrical Part of Eaton Corporation USA, a manufacturer
of electrical distribution equipment, circuit breakers and safety
products in the United Kingdom as Project/Process Manager.
Between November 2003 to April 2005, he worked as an
engineering project manager in Dolgarrog Aluminium Limited. In
November 2005, he joined Lake Communications Ltd holding
the position of offshore manufacturing and quality manager.
Lake Communications designs and supplies Telecom products
throughout Europe and the US. During the period from December
2011 to December 2015, Mr. Emamghissi worked as a consultant
for Mr. Joseph Mac Carthy, and provided support to the sales
activities in Europe as well as technical support to the customers
therein. He formally joined the Group as the director of project
development in January 2016.

Ms. Wu Mo Man (#%X), aged 41, is the director of the
Marketing Division, responsible for the management and
supervision of the Marketing Division.

Ms. Wu obtained a diploma in management in December 2003
from the University of Leicester, and a master degree in business
administration from the University of lowa in May 2019.

She joined the Group in March 2006 as Marketing Executive
and was promoted to Marketing Manager in 2009 until she left
in June 2011. From June 2012 to April 2014, Ms. Wu worked in
Fuji Xerox (H.K.) Limited as sales planning executive and assisted
in pipeline, sales and marketing data analysis and presented the
pre-sale & sales performance. In December 2014, she rejoined
the Group as Marketing Manager and has been the director of
the Marketing Division since January 2019. Ms. Wu has over
18 years of experience in the procurement and supply chain
development in the electrical and mechanical industry, as well as
sales planning and international marketing business development
in the electronics industry.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

US-China trade tensions and Brexit negotiation in the United
Kingdom (the “UK”) had persisted in the second half of 2019,
which had created considerable uncertainties and downward
pressure in the global economy. The gloomy outlook for the
world’s economic growth had adversely affected the Group.
Market sentiment had become increasingly cautious, affecting the
Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2019 to have
reduced by 8.7% to HK$808.6 million as compared to the same
period of 2018. Profit attributable to owners of the Company
for the year recorded a 47.2% decrease to HK$22.4 million.
The drop in business offset certain favourable factors driven by
reduced material prices due to the stabilised supplies of certain
components and lessened operating costs from the depreciation
of Renminbi (‘RMB”) and Euros (“EUR”).

In the view of tough business situation, the management of the
Group has adopted the following strategies to respond to the
hardships:

1. optimising working capital and maintaining robust cash flow
management;

2. diversifying customer base and product category with high
profit and/or contribution margin;

3.  exploring the extension of production facilities to reduce the
geographical reliance;

4.  adopting a number of cost control measures and promoting
efficient use of existing resources to minimise operating
expenses; and

5.  strengthening communication and enhancing business
cooperation with customers, suppliers and bankers.
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Meanwhile, the recent outbreak of the coronavirus (“COVID-19”)
has added uncertainties to the business environment and
economic activities of the Group. Due to travel restrictions
and extension of nationwide public holiday for the Lunar New
Year taken by the PRC government to contain the spread of
COVID-19, the Group’s production facilities in the PRC have been
affected and experienced a temporary decrease in production.
The Group has taken various precautionary measures to minimise
the threat of COVID-19 in its business communities and will
endeavour to mitigate any adverse impacts on the Group and
its customers.

The global economy is facing enormous challenges this year.
The outlook is far from promising in the short term. Despite the
foregoing, the Board remains positive in the medium to long term
about the future prospects of the Group and continues to take
prudent but proactive approach to drive the Group forward.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBEARR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The following table summarises the amount of revenue generated
and as a percentage of total revenue from each product category
for the years ended 31 December 2019 (“FY2019”) and 2018
(“FY2018"):

Bt 75 1o

Wy 75
TREASERDBERBE_T-—NF(==F
—NEFUBFE]) T \F([ZB-N\F
MBFE]) T—A=+T—BLFEMEL K
SREMEBKEANL

FY2019 FY2018
—E-NEHBREE —E-N\FHRFEE
HK$’000 % HK$’000 %
FET % FET %
Electro-mechanical products HEE S 323,513 40.0 357,086 40.3
Smart chargers BRemE R 260,743 32.2 322,012 36.3
Switch-mode power supplies HEER 185,607 23.0 175,261 19.8
Smart vending systems HELEST X4 25,939 3.2 18,533 2.1
Others” H i 12,797 1.6 13,079 1.5
Total et 808,599 100.0 885,971 100.0
Note: Hiat -

(1) Others include automatic testing equipment (“ATE”), power switch gear
boards, and catering equipment control boards.

The Group achieved a revenue of HK$808.6 million for FY2019,
representing a decrease of 8.7% as compared with HK$886.0
million for FY2018. The slowdown mainly resulted from: (1)
decline in sales orders from customers in Europe and the US as
a result of extended trade frictions between the US and the PRC
and deteriorated global business and economic environment; (2)
delay in product launch from some customers in smart chargers
and electro-mechanical products categories; and (3) certain
significant projects in smart chargers and electro-mechanical
products yet to materialise. The slowdown in revenue, however,
was partially offset by sales from new customers in smart vending
systems and steady sale growth in switch-mode power supplies.

(1)  EBEEBERIRE ([EBERARE]) TR
BRI E R R E KR EERIR

AEBR-_ZE—NLFHRFEHS K
808,600,000/ L * |-_ZT— \FHERFEH
886,000,000/ 7T 28.7% c Wi T B EE
REA: WFEBZEBBRAREIREER
KEIRIERL  BERARERFHNHEER&E
WL QEAEREFTERIEEERBEINE
FHEBEMER  RQBTEARTHEAEREK

BEEMBERREE - A DHEEBERS
FREFEFMEEEULABESREEEETEER
I T HOBRETE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBEARR DN

The table below summarises the geographical revenue segment F&REMN —E—NFEHBREER T~ \F

based on location of customers for FY2019 and FY2018: PHRFERREFAUED B HIBINEDEE
FY2019 FY2018
—E-hEFHHREE —E-\FYBRFE
HK$’000 % HK$’000 %
FET % FET %
Europe M 592,098 73.3 594,854 67.2
North America® it @ 139,908 17.3 210,080 23.7
South-east Asia® Rt 32,491 4.0 32,855 3.7
The PRC (including Hong Kong) AR (BEEE) 21,640 2.7 30,364 3.4
Others®” H e 21,562 2.7 17,818 2.0
Total 4Bt 808,599 100.0 885,971 100.0
Notes: Wis

(1) Europe includes Austria, Denmark, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, (1) BNEZEF - 2 LB - 1EE - FH - 9T

BEHORE S
SY3IATOH3YVHS ¥NO OL

Ireland, Italy, the Netherlands, Sweden, Switzerland and the UK. F - BEE - BEAF - w8 - A I REE -
@) North America includes the US. @) JEZE B FIFEE A o
3) South-east Asia includes India, Malaysia, Singapore and the Philippines. 3) HEEHE - BRI - B R IEEE -
(4) Others include Australia, Israel, Japan, South Korea and Taiwan. (4) EBEMETEMN - UESH - AA - HEREE -

Europe and North America remained the two largest overseas BUM RILENAREBREZAEINTS - 2
markets of the Group which in aggregate accounted for 90.6% R -_ZTE—NFHBRFER -_ZF— \FHBRF
and 90.9% of total revenue for FY2019 and FY2018, respectively. & 5 Bk 48 I &% #990.6% 190.9% ° 3k & BUM
Revenue from Europe and North America reduced by 0.3% KitEMUWZE — T — \FH B FEE L5 7
and 33.4%, respectively as compared with FY2018 mainly due  J&4°0.3%%33.4% * T ERHRFEMN 2RI
to weak business sentiment as a result of prolonged global & BUA K &% T HEE I E B g 2500855 » K
geopolitical and economic uncertainties. Sales from the PRC B H B HEREESE - — \EHREER
recorded a reduction of 28.7% as compared with FY2018 428.7% ' RA AL EZ RNE - (WM IEE
because of slower economic growth which lessened the product @& K °

demands.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBEARR DM

Cost of sales

Included in the Group’s cost of sales were mainly direct materials,
direct labour costs, and manufacturing overheads. Cost of
sales for FY2019 amounted to HK$617.5 million, representing
a reduction of 7.4% as compared with FY2018. While the cost
of sales has moved in line with revenue, a combination of high
materials consumed for products of new customers, increased
labour rates and depreciation expenses on newly-acquired plant
and machinery offset the decrease in cost of sales than expected.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group’s gross profit was HK$191.1 million and HK$218.7
million, representing a gross profit margin of 23.6% and 24.7% for
FY2019 and FY2018, respectively. This reflected a combination of
decrease in sales, escalated labour costs, coupled with growing
depreciation expenses on new plant and machinery as compared
with FY2018.

Other income, net

Other income, net increased by 3.2% from HK$5.2 million for
FY2018 to HK$5.4 million for the same period of 2019. Such
increase primarily resulted from the receipt of scrap material
sales income, government grants in relation to New and High
Technology Enterprise (“NHTE”) accreditation and other subsidies
in the PRC for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses mainly represented freight,
insurance and transportation charges, marketing and promotion
expenses, and custom duties and declaration charges. There
was a 44.0% increase in selling and distribution expenses from
HK$15.3 million for FY2018 to HK$22.1 million for FY2019. The
increase was primarily driven by the incurrence of tariff payment
amounted to HK$7.3 million on those products exported to the
US to secure sale orders for certain customers.

HERAE
TEENHERATEREEEDRE - HE
BIRAREERK - —E— NLEHHFED
$HE R A A617,500,0008 7T » BT — \F§
BREERD7.4% - BEHEK A B E B —
BOMARTEFEANYEERS B18
MEBEREREENTEBREMZRAY
2 K ERA T RNREBRES -

EMNRERNE
KEEBR_ZE—NFYREFER_ZTE—NEF
B EFEREFD R A191,100,000% T K&
218,700,000/ 7t £ F & 5 5l £23.6% %
247% - WRBME - — N\FHRFEMEL
HERRD BT AEFAURTRE RS
RITEERIZN -

Hag AR EE

EMBWAFEH -_Z—N\NFHHRFEN

5,200,000/ 7T N3.2%E —FE— N F R EH

54%0%%% BEIE I o E R UER B B
TE-NEFF+ZA=+—HULEFENREY

ﬂ%%%k FREEESIENCE ((BFHE

it ) RBHBUS B R H AR, o

HERDHEHR
HERDHERTZRREEE RBRIESH
& MEHEREERIUAREGEBT LR
BoHENDHEBERABE T \FHHRFEN
15,300,000/ T MN44.0%%E — T — L FEBH K
FE 22,100,000 7T » AT EZHR A
BETEFPHNHEEEMMERLOZEEM
JEBAN T 7,300,000 TTATEL ©

IXEFEERRLA



Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses went down by 5.1% from HK$139.5
million for FY2018 to HK$132.4 million for FY2019. Such
decrease was primarily attributable to the decline in operating
expenses derived from the depreciation of RMB against other
currencies and lower staff salaries and allowances following the
reduced sale levels, which partially offset the rise in consultancy
fees in relation to Industry 4.0 certification and increased rent
and rates arisen from new factory in Ireland and temporary
warehouse facilities due to the development of a new production
base in the PRC.

Other operating expenses, net

Other operating expenses, net dropped by 23.1% from HK$7.7
million for FY2018 to HK$5.9 million for FY2019. The decrease
mainly resulted from the reversal of provision for impairment loss
on trade receivables amounting to HK$1.0 million which cancelled
out the negative effects arisen from the loss on derivative financial
instruments and provision for impairment loss and write-off of
obsolete inventories for the reporting period.

Finance expenses, net

Finance expenses, net for FY2019 was HK$11.8 million, which
remained comparable with that of FY2018. The Group recognised
the interest expenses on lease liabilities of HK$1.8 million which
offset the decrease in interest expenses arisen from reduced
average borrowings during the reporting period.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense decreased by 73.1% from HK$7.3 million
for FY2018 to HK$2.0 million for FY2019, which was primarily
due to the decline in profit from some group companies and
write-back of overprovision of income tax in prior years during
the reporting period.

Profit for the year

The Group’s profit for the year decreased by 47.2% from
HK$42.4 million for FY2018 to HK$22.4 million for FY2019. The
net profit margin also went down from 4.8% for FY2018 to 2.8%
for FY2019. The reduced profit reflected the impacts of gloomy
outlook for the world’s economic growth which depressed
customer sentiment in overseas markets, soaring labour costs
and depreciation expenses, as well as the increased costs
derived from new factory in Ireland and the development of new
production base in the PRC during the transitional period.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBEARR DN

THEX

THATHZT - N\FHEFER139,500,000
BILRASARE T - NFYHRFEN
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBEARR DM

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During FY2019, the Group’s operation and capital requirements
were financed principally through a combination of cash flows
generated from the operating activities, proceeds from the listing
of the Company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on
23 November 2017 (the “Listing”) and bank borrowings. As
at 31 December 2019, the Group had net current assets of
HK$282.3 million (2018: HK$297.6 million), including cash and
bank balances (including restricted bank deposits) of HK$103.9
million (2018: HK$202.7 million). The cash and bank balances
(including restricted bank deposits) are mainly denominated in
HK$, United States dollars (“‘US$”), RMB and EUR. The Group’s
current ratio (as calculated by current assets divided by current
liabilities) remained stable at 3.0 times as at 31 December 2019
(2018: 2.4 times). Gearing ratio is calculated by net debt divided
by total capital as at the end of the reporting period. Net debt is
calculated as total borrowings (including bank borrowings and
finance lease payables) less cash and bank balances, while total
capital is calculated as “equity” as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position, plus net debt, where applicable.
As at 31 December 2019, the gearing ratio was not applicable
(“N/A”) to the Group (2018: N/A) as the Group had sufficient
working capital level from the net proceeds received from the
Listing.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks:
(i) market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash flow and
fair value interest rate risk), (i) credit risk; and (iii) liquidity risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

I)Ib@ﬁ%&/\jﬁﬁlﬁ

RZZE-NFHBRFTE  AEEXZERLEE
EEBEESR ARRAR T —+tF+—A
=l HW%xﬁimimULmD%%ﬁ
MRTEFBRNEERESFTE - R-E— N
F+ZA=Z+—8 AEBORBEEFEAR
282,300,000/ 7T (== — A\ £ : 297,600,000
B BREBSRBITHES (BIEZRGE
1717 5%) #9103,900,000/% 7T (= & — )\ & ¢
202,700,000 70) - W& RIBIT & % (B I1E
SRHBITFER) EBTIAB T EL (X
Tl ARERBEITEHE - AEBARE L X
(?ﬁ/ﬁ@ééﬁ%bﬁmb@%f HE)RZZE— j-|.1$
T A=+ —H#EFEYEETE  B3.0E
—J\EE : 2.4f%) o ﬁ?%ﬁ&wﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%
KOBEBFERUNBERGTESY - EEFH
TIREERESE (RERTERLARETREE
H%E>mai&ﬁﬁ LERETE - MBEARR
B BARARA R [#x ] mEEEF
%(Wkﬁ)a#°%f§ nNF+ZA=+—
H BEEBELXTAEARA ([TFER]) A%
B (ZZ—N\F: TEA) DNEXEE LR
EBEHREENLEES MM »

BBRRERE
AEBEBEZZRHBRR : ()TSER (2
FHNERR  HeRBERATENEAR) :

mﬁEHA: KiiynBE AR - AEBRE

AR E2EE TS RTS8 A AT B
ﬁ WERBEREEAEEBNFRRNEB
TF|S 2 -

Foreign exchange risk HMNEE 3 B
The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and the PRC. Entites AEBETEREBLAHLE - KEBARNE
within the Group are exposed to foreign exchange risk arising E%Tyﬁ B HEE £ eI E R B \Ixﬁﬁﬁﬁé
from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to HK$, B RAR®E - INERKRESEB NI IER
EUR and RMB. Foreign exchange risk arises from export sales, ﬁ%? B ERETENTOHEE B8 - Hit
purchases, other future commercial transactions and monetary HREBEEXFUAREEEEREE -
assets and liabilities that are denominated in a currency that is
not the entity’s functional currency.
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The management of the Company has set up a policy to require
the Group to manage their foreign exchange risk against its
functional currencies. The Group does not adopt formal hedge
accounting policy. It manages its foreign currency risk by closely
monitoring the movements of foreign currency rates and will
consider to enter into forward foreign exchange contracts to
reduce the exposure should the need arise.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group had
entered into certain forward foreign exchange contracts with a
bank and a loss on derivative financial instruments of HK$2.2
million (2018: nil) was recognised at the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income. All forward foreign exchange contracts
had expired for the year ended 31 December 2019.

As at 31 December 2019, no new forward foreign exchange
contracts had been entered into by the Group (2018: nil).

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from borrowings. Borrowings
obtained at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk which is partially offset by cash held at variable rates.
Borrowings obtained at fixed rates expose the Group to fair
value interest rate risk. The Group does not adopt any interest
hedging strategy.

During FY2019 and FY2018, all bank borrowings of the Group
were arranged at floating rates varied with the then prevailing
market condition.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has bank borrowings of
HK$11.9 million (2018: HK$31.9 million), which are primarily
denominated in HK$ and US$.

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risks are primarily attributable to financial
instruments, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, time deposit,
and cash and cash deposited at banks.

In respect of time deposits and cash deposited at banks, the
credit risk is considered to be low as the counterparties are
banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit
rating agencies.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBEARR DM

The management of the Group makes periodic assessment
on the recoverability of trade and other receivables based on
historical payment records, the length of the overdue period,
the financial strength of the debtors and whether there are any
disputes with the debtors. The Group’s historical experience in
collection of trade and other receivables falls within the recorded
allowances and the management is of the opinion that adequate
provision for uncollectible receivables has been made in the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2019, the customer bases are widely
dispersed despite that 21.4% (2018: 34.2%) of the trade
receivable were due from the Group’s largest customer and
64.8% (2018: 70.1%) were due from the five largest customers
determined on the same basis.

The Group is also exposed to credit risk in relation to financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss. The maximum exposure
at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of these
investments.

Liquidity risk

Cash flow forecasting is performed in the operating entities of
the Group. Such forecast takes into consideration the Group’s
debt financing plans, covenant compliance and, if applicable
external regulatory or legal requirements — for example, currency
restrictions. The Group maintains liquidity by a number of
sources including orderly realisation of short-term financial assets
and receivables; and long-term financing including long-term
borrowings. The Group aims to maintain flexibility in funding by
keeping sufficient bank balances, committed credit lines available
and interest bearing borrowings which enable the Group to
continue its business in the foreseeable future.

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not have capital
commitments in relation to the purchase of property, plant and
equipment (2018: HK$2.8 million).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There has been no change in the capital structure of the Group
during FY2019. The share capital of the Company only comprises
ordinary shares.
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As at 31 December 2019, the Company had 1,000,000,000
shares in issue (2018: 1,000,000,000 shares).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not hold any significant
investments (2018: nil).

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSAL
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

The Group did not have any material acquisitions nor disposals
of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during FY2019
(2018: nil).

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as those disclosed in the prospectus of the Company
dated 13 November 2017 (the “Prospectus”) or otherwise in this
annual report, the Group currently has no other plan for material
investments and capital assets.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have material contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2019 (2018: nil).

TREASURY MANAGEMENT

During FY2019, there had been no material change in the Group’s
funding and treasury policies. The Group has a sufficient level
of cash and banking facilities for the conduct of its trade in the
normal course of business.

The management of the Group closely reviews trade receivable
balances and any overdue balances on an ongoing basis and
only trade with creditworthy parties. The management of the
Group closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure
that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and
commitments can meet its funding requirements to manage
liquidity risk.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2019, the financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss amounted to HK$8.6 million (2018: HK$6.8
million), property, plant and equipment amounted to HK$24.6
million (2018: HK$24.8 million) and bank deposits amounted
to HK$6.2 million (2018: HK$8.1 million) have been charged as
security for bank borrowings of the Group.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had property, plant and
equipment with net book value amounted to HK$0.2 million held
under finance leases (2018: HK$1.4 million).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The total number of employees were approximately 1,700 as at
31 December 2019 (2018: approximately 1,800). The Group’s
employee benefit expenses mainly included salaries, overtime
payment and discretionary bonus, share options, other staff
benefits and contributions to retirement schemes. For FY2019,
the Group’s total employee benefit expenses (including Directors’
emoluments) amounted to HK$182.7 million (2018: HK$193.8
million).

Remuneration is determined with reference to the qualification,
experience and work performance, whereas the payment of
discretionary bonus is generally subject to work performance,
the financial performance of the Group in that particular year and
general market conditions.

The Group operates a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards
to eligible Directors and employees of the Group, who contribute
to the success of the Group’s operations. As at 31 December
2019, the Group had outstanding share options granted to 14
employees (2018: 16 employees), exclusive of three executive
Directors, for the subscription of 8,400,000 ordinary shares
(2018: 9,700,000 ordinary shares) of the Company in total. The
vesting period of these share options will end on 28 December
2020.
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As approved by the Board and consented by the option holders,
all existing share options granted under the Share Option
Scheme, being an aggregate of 28,400,000 share options, were
cancelled with effect from 21 January 2020 in accordance with
the terms of the Share Option Scheme. No compensation was
payable to the option holders for the cancellation of the share
options. Details of the cancellation of share options are set out
in the announcement of the Company dated 21 January 2020.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme was conditionally approved and
adopted in compliance with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules by
written resolutions of the then Shareholder on 27 October 2017.
A summary of the Share Option Scheme and the movement
of the share options granted was set out in note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and the risks of non-compliance with
such requirements. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge,
information and belief, and having made all reasonable enquiries,
the Group has complied with all relevant laws and regulations in
Hong Kong and the applicable PRC labour laws and regulations
in all material respects during FY2019.

The Group also complies with the requirements under the Listing
Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571
of the laws of Hong Kong (the “SFO”) for the disclosure of
information and corporate governance in all material respects.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group recognises its responsibility to protect the environment
from its business activities. The Group continually seeks to
identify and manage environmental impacts attributable to its
operational activities in order to minimise these impacts if
possible.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises employees as one of the valuable assets
of the Group. The Group strictly complies with the labour laws
and regulations in Hong Kong and other jurisdictions applicable
to the Group and regularly reviews the existing staff benefits for
improvement.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBEARR DN
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEARR D

The Group provides good quality services to customers and
maintains a good relationship with them. The Group is able to
establish trust and long-standing business relationship with its
major customers.

The Group also maintains effective communication and develops
long term and stable relationships with suppliers. During the year
ended 31 December 2019, there was no material dispute nor
disagreement between the Group and its suppliers.

COMPARISON OF BUSINESS STRATEGIES WITH
ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS

The following sets out a comparison of the business strategies
as stated in the Prospectus with the Group’s actual business
progress for FY2019 and up to the date of this annual report:
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Business strategies as stated in the
Prospectus

BB E R A T R R

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBEARR DN

Actual business progress up to the date of this
annual report

HEXFRAMNERXBER

Continue to expand the customer base in the
European market and explore new markets in the
PRC, the US and other Asian countries

HEBRBNTSEPEUARERR « B RHEME
MB KI5

Manufacture products of higher value and/or with
higher profit contribution per the resources

BREREEBERS R, FFBOBREHER

The Group has successfully attracted several customers
in Europe, the PRC, and the US, and some of their
products had been launched during the year ended
31 December 2019. While several potential customers
remained under discussion, some of which have placed
trial orders to the Group. The Group will continue to put
more resources on sales and marketing and focus on
approaching potential customers with high value and/
or high profit contribution products, like smart vending
systems and smart chargers.

REBEKINRAEMN - FREREENBEER - EH9E
MERBE_T-NFT+_A=1T—HLFEEL - &F
ZEBERFPIDERNT  BEEFETEFEAAEEE
HHEE - AEEHESRHNESERNHEREH
WEITRERAAAESBER IefEER (MEERES
ELkEexER) NEERR -

Following the establishment of offices in Dublin, Ireland
and Munich, Germany, the Group continues to deepen
its presence across Europe, including but not limited to:
(i) set up new websites to increase its product publicity
and the Group’s image (i) participate in exhibitions,
trade shows, and other promotional campaigns to solicit
businesses from industry players in Europe and the US;
(ili) pay regular visits to existing customers and business
partners to maintain better cooperative relationship
and project development; and (iv) collaborate with
existing and potential customers, design houses, and
other industry participants to develop innovations
and technologies in new industries, including non-
EMS products. It is expected to crystallise certain new
product lines with higher value and/or higher profit
contribution per the resources in the near future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBEARR DM

Business strategies as stated in the

Actual business progress up to the date of this

Prospectus annual report
BRI Z 52 P A B SR A SR BEXFHRAPNERXBER

Continue to expand the operations in ATE business  The ongoing US-China trade disputes and the PRC'’s
segment slower economic growth created uncertainties, affecting

HEENABCRARBERD

Strengthen the sales and marketing efforts in the
industrial EMS sector

MBHTEETRERBRIMNHEREHNE

the business sentiment and curtailing customers’
demands for ATEs. Some companies, if not all, have
become more cost-conscious and have held off their
capital investment. To fully utilise its resources, the
Group shifted ATEs talents to assist European team for
technical supports, project development, and product
enhancement to strengthen its competitive edge in the
industrial electronics industry.
FHENPEXEZHFm P BREEERIEEKTHEENS - &
ELHBERHBSEFHEBBCRBIRENFTR - HH
(1B3E2F) ARIBMEMBEEIR AL EEEEERKRE -
RADTNAEER  AEEERARE S BAREAT
B BNEOM B B E 1T R 2 4% - TR B R REmIBRT LAE R
HRIXEFIRNBHFED -

The European offices allow the Group to gain closer
access to target customers and suppliers. The European
team, including five staff members and four independent
consultants, currently partners with the existing
marketing teams of the Group to take part in business
development activities and explore new business
opportunities. On 25 October 2019, the Board resolved
to change part of the unutilised net proceeds amounting
to HK$13.3 million to capture business developments
and opportunities in Europe. Details of the change in
use of net proceeds are set out in the announcement of
the Company dated 25 October 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEFNRR DN
Business strategies as stated in the Actual business progress up to the date of this
Prospectus annual report
18 IR Z 72 Pyt 9 SE S SR B BEAFRAPNERERER
Further enhance the production efficiency and The development of new production base alongside
expand the production capacity the existing production complex in Nansha District,

Guangzhou City, Guangdong Province, the PRC was
under way during the year ended 31 December 2019.
Part of the existing warehouses at the Group’s Nansha
plant had been dismantled in order to reserve lands
to commence construction works for the expansion.
Construction works commenced in the second quarter
of 2019 and are expected to complete during the year
of 2020, which would offer up to two 6-storey factory
buildings to the Group.

On 28 November 2019, the Group entered into a second
supplemental agreement ( “Second Supplemental
Agreement’ ) with Shiji Cooperative Economic
Association of Dongchong Town, Nansha District,
Guangzhou City, Guangdon% Province (& 2 % & M
mEpERBARAERN S ELEB S ) ("Shiji
Association”), the landlord of the Group s Nansha
plant, to amend some of the terms regarding the
construction timetable and payment schedule of the
memorandum of understanding (as amended and
supplemented by the supplemental agreement dated
20 July 2018). Details of the Second Supplemental
Agreement are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 28 November 2019.

BEHORE S
SY3IATOH3YVHS ¥NO OL

To minimise the disruption of daily operations, the
Group has implemented several measures during the
transitional period, including additional manpower
resources, lease of new warehouse facilities, re-
structuring the usage of existing production floor
areas, rearrangement of supply chains, etc. By the
time the new factory buildings commence operations,
it will provide the Group with more capacities to cater
for large volume of production in more efficient and
effective ways.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Business strategies as stated in the
Prospectus

BB R A T R R

Actual business progress up to the date of this
annual report

HEXFRAMNERXBER

Continue to recruit talents and professionals

BEREBESATREEAL

The Group currently has 14 employees working at the
strategic talent centre (“STC”) in the Guangzhou
City, Guangdong Province, the PRC. Following its
establishment, those talents add value to the Group
in various aspects, which include looking for those
materials with limited supplies and its substitutes,
negotiating better prices and favourable terms with
suppliers, developing and upgrading software for
internal and commercial uses, to name but a few.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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USE OF PROCEEDS FrBFERRE

On 25 October 2019, the Board resolved to change the use R-ZE—NF+AZ+HB EFCEZRE
of the remaining unutilised net proceeds from the Listing (the & TAREBRBZ EWAEZHEFHE AR ([E
“Reallocation”). For details of the Reallocation, please refer to  H2® ) - BEEFOE XI5 HL2HAQA]
the announcement of the Company dated 25 October 2019. The HEIA-Z—HAF+AZ+HHWH LM - T&
following table sets forth the status of use of net proceeds from  FI|& IR EFER _Z—NLF+_A=

the Listing as at 31 December 2019: T—HBERER
The actual Incurred
The actual net proceeds up to
net proceeds subsequent 31 December Balance as at
prior to the to the 2019 31 December
Reallocation Reallocation Bz 2019
Business strategies as REH A EA The REHIE% “Z-RFE RIE-NE
set out in the Prospectus EMRFTE Reallocation BEBFRE t—A=t—-H +t=A=1+—-H
RRERFANEBR KR MIERR ENAE HEEE E28A 2tk .
HK$’ million  HK$’ million  HK$’ million  HK$’ million  HK$’ million §
BEET BEET HEET BEET AEET ;Hi ;
Development of new production base 77.8 = 77.8 (29.4) 48.4 g §
REFEEEY £3
Upgrading of existing production facilities 4.5 - 4.5 (4.3) 0.2 =
BB A L ERIE @
Establishment of offices in Dublin, Ireland and
Paris, France 11.3 (8.3) 3.0 (3.0) S

EERWHORRERERRIHER
Establishment of the STC in Guangzhou City,

Guangdong Province, the PRC 11.3 (5.0 6.3 (3.1) 3.2
EHEEREEMNTRIBBAT AL
Working capital and other general corporate purposes 5.1 - 5.1 (5.1) -
LEReRHEM—REERRE
Business developments and operations in Europe - 13.3 13.3 (0.6) 12.7

EBNETERERRIEE

110.0 = 110.0 (45.5) 64.5

The unutilised net proceeds have been deposited in interest- RE)BHAERIBFHELEDFHES A IEEE
bearing bank accounts with licensed banks in Hong Kong. FTHET BARITERP A ©
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBEARR DM

FUTURE PROSPECTS

The macroeconomic and political environment are deteriorating
and difficult to estimate the time to rebound at this stage. In the
past few decades, the Group has faced and overcome many
challenges, turning crises into opportunities, and thereby has
developed its solid foundation in the power electronics industry.
Although the Group is encountering unavoidable hard times, the
Board will focus on improving productivity and cost efficiency as
well as looking for expansion opportunities to enhance its global
footprint.

The development of the new production facilities provides the
Group with a higher degree of flexibility to serve customers
worldwide and the ability to cater for large volume production
on high value and heavy-duty product series. Regardless of
the adverse economic situation, the Group will continue to put
more resources on sales and marketing to explore new business
opportunities.

The Group is cautiously optimistic about its future in the medium
and long term, and will take a proactive approach to strengthen
the existing operational foundations and business portfolio, and
seek suitable high-quality investment opportunities in the pursuit
of predictable and stable returns over the long term.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company’s corporate governance code is based on the
principles of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Company
is committed to ensuring a quality board and transparency and
accountability to Shareholders.

The Company complied with all code provisions in the CG Code
during the year ended 31 December 2019.

The Board has reserved for its decision and consideration in
relation to (i) formulating the strategic objectives of the Group; (ii)
considering and deciding the Group’s significant operational and
financial matters, including but not limited to substantial mergers
and acquisitions and disposals; (iii) overseeing the Group’s
corporate governance practices; (iv) ensuring a risk management
and internal control systems in place; (v) directing and monitoring
senior management in pursuit of the Group’s strategic objectives;
and (vi) determining the remuneration packages of all Directors
and the Group’s senior management, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments for loss or termination
of their office or appointment. Implementation and execution of
Board policies and strategies and the daily administrative matters
are delegated to the respective Board committees and the
management team of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREBEE

The Board conducts at least four regular Board meetings in a
year and additional meetings will be held or resolutions in writing
signed by all Directors in lieu of a meeting will be arranged as and
when required. If a substantial shareholder of the Company or a
Director has a conflict of interest in a transaction which the Board
determines to be material, it will be considered and dealt with by
the Board at a duly convened Board meeting. Comprehensive
information on matters to be discussed at the Board meeting
will be supplied to the Directors in a timely manner to facilitate
discussion and decision making.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

At the date of this annual report, the Board comprises three
Executive Directors and three Independent Non-executive
Directors. The name and office of each of the members of the
Board and the Board committees of the Company are as follows:

EXZgEFRLAANRERETEEES I
RBEEFRTRIGZINERBETRENS
HRZRABEBTER - HEFERR/AQA
MEBRRAEEN AR ZP P REKN =R
R EERFIEREAABRNEZEER
HEFSERNERE - AKEERREFRH
BREZEEABAINEEZIZEEN B
A SR o

EEg AR

RAFHREY EEER=-BRTESR=4
BUFRTESEAK - ARAIEFENERZ
ek B cua MBIINT

Board members Office

EEgHE8 B

Lai Yiu Wah Chairman and Executive Director

B TRERATES

Tai Leung Lam Chief Executive Officer, Executive Director and Director of Manufacturing
R TR  NITEEREELE

Joseph Mac Carthy
Joseph Mac Carthy
Georges René Gener*
Georges René Gener*

WITERREHEE

WITEZRENEELE

Executive Director and Director of Marketing

Executive Director and Chairman of European Operations

Fung Chun Chung

Independent Non-executive Director

ototes BUIFMITES
Cheung Kin Wing Independent Non-executive Director
SRR BUIERITES
Wong Raymond Fook Lam  Independent Non-executive Director
=RER BN IEMITESF

*

Resigned with effect from 15 February 2020
B-Z-TH- A+HAA®RET
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AUDIT COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Cheung Kin Wing (Chairman)
Fung Chun Chung
Wong Raymond Fook Lam

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE MEMBERS
Wong Raymond Fook Lam (Chairman)

Lai Yiu Wah

Fung Chun Chung

Cheung Kin Wing

NOMINATION COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Fung Chun Chung (Chairman)
Lai Yiu Wah
Wong Raymond Fook Lam

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Lai Yiu Wah (Chairman)
Cheung Kin Wing

Fung Chun Chung

Wong Raymond Fook Lam

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREBE|E
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All of the existing Executive Directors have signed a service
contract with the Company for an initial term of three years,
commencing from 10 February 2017 (subject to termination
in certain circumstances as stipulated in the relevant service
contract). The said service contracts have been renewed for
a term of three years commencing from 1 February 2020. Mr.
Georges René Gener has signed a service contract with the
Company for a term of no more than three years commencing
on 2 November 2018 and expiring at the conclusion of an annual
general meeting (“AGM”) to be held in the third year following the
year of his appointment. Mr. Gener resigned from his positions
with effect from 15 February 2020.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has signed
a service contract with the Company for an initial term of three
years, commencing from 1 February 2017 (subject to termination
in certain circumstances as stipulated in the relevant service
contract). The said service contracts have been renewed for a
term of three years commencing from 1 February 2020.

All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years in accordance with the articles of association
of the Company (the “Articles”).

The Board composition is regularly reviewed to ensure that it has a
balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements
of the business of the Group. A balanced composition of
Executive Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors is
maintained to ensure independence and effective management.
The Company has satisfied the relevant provision of the Listing
Rules in having at least one of the Independent Non-executive
Directors with appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise. There is
no relationship among the members of the Board.

The appointment of Directors is recommended by the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee and
approved by the Board based on a formal written procedure
and policy for the appointment of new Directors. When selecting
potential candidates for the Directors, their skills, experience,
expertise, devotion of time and non-conflicts of interests are the
key factors.

The daily operation and management of the business of the
Group, among other matters, the implementation of strategies,
are delegated to the Executive Directors and senior management.
They report periodically to the Board on their work and business
decisions.
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All Directors have been fully consulted about any matters
proposed for inclusion in the agenda for regular meetings.
The chairman of the Board has delegated the responsibility for
drawing up the agenda for each Board meeting to the company
secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”).

With the assistance of the Company Secretary, the chairman of
the Board seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly briefed
on issues arising at the Board meetings and have received
adequate and reliable information in a timely manner.

Notices of at least 14 days are given to the Directors for regular
meetings, while the Board papers are sent to the Directors not
less than three days before the intended date of a Board or Board
committee meeting. With respect to other meetings, the Directors
are given as much notice as is reasonable and practicable in the
circumstances. The Directors can attend meetings in person or
through other means of electronic communication in accordance
with the Articles. The Company Secretary ensures that the
procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are complied
with. Minutes of the Board meetings and meetings of the Board
committees are kept by the Company Secretary and are available
for inspection at any time on reasonable notice by any Directors.

The Directors have full access to information of the Group and
are able to obtain independent professional advice whenever they
deem necessary. The Directors will be updated with legal and
regulatory changes and matters of relevance to the Directors in
the discharge of their duties from time to time.

Draft minutes are normally circulated to Directors or members of
the relevant Board committees for comment within a reasonable
time after each meeting.

Any material transaction, which involves a conflict of interests
between a substantial shareholder or a Director and the
Company, will be considered and dealt with by the Board
at a duly convened Board meeting with the presence of the
Independent Non-executive Directors. Directors are abstained
from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings
for approving transactions in which such Directors or any of their
associates have a material interest.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREBEE

The Company has received from each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of their
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all of the Independent Non-executive
Directors are independent.

RESPONSIBILITIES

In the course of discharging their duties, the Directors act in
good faith, with due diligence and care, and in the best interests
of the Company and its shareholders. Their responsibilities
include (i) regular board meetings focusing on business strategy,
operational issues and financial performance; (i) monitoring
the quality, timeliness, relevance and reliability of internal and
external reporting; (i) monitoring and managing potential conflicts
of interest of management, board members and shareholders,
including misuse of corporate assets and abuse in connected
transaction; and (iv) ensuring processes are in place to
maintain the overall integrity of the Company, including financial
statements, relationships with suppliers, customers and other
stakeholders, and compliance with all laws and ethics.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors’ responsibilities for the consolidated financial
statements are set out on page 125 of this annual report.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out
the approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced development
of the Company and also to enhance the quality of performance
of the Company.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives as stated in the above. The ultimate decision will
be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates
will bring to the Board.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises six
Directors. Three of the Directors are Independent Non-executive
Directors and are independent of the management, thereby
promoting critical review and control of the management process.
The Board is also characterised by significant diversity, whether
considered in terms of professional background and skills.

BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETINGS

During the year ended 31 December 2019, eight Board meetings
were held to review and approve, among other things, (i) the
financial results for the year ended 31 December 2018; (ii) the
interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2019; (iii)
business progress, operation updates, and quarterly results; (iv)
publication of profit warning and alert announcements. The Board
also held a Board meeting on 23 March 2020 to approve the
annual results of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2019. One AGM was held during the year ended 31 December
2019.
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Details of the Directors’ attendance records in Board meetings and
general meetings during the year ended 31 December 2019 are set
out below:

Name of Directors

BESHR

BE_Z-NF+-_A=t—"BLEE &=F
REFGERANMBRRAS RN L FLEFS
wmr

No. of Board
meetings attended/
eligible to attend
HE S REREE
ESg23¥

No. of general
meetings attended/
eligible to attend
HEAERLEE
BRERAEEBIRH

Executive Directors
HITEE

Lai Yiu Wah

RpREE

Tai Leung Lam

B R M

Joseph Mac Carthy
Joseph Mac Carthy
Georges René Gener*
Georges René Gener~

Independent non-executive Directors
BUIHTEF

Fung Chun Chung

IS

Cheung Kin Wing

SRR

Wong Raymond Fook Lam

EER

* Resigned with effect from 15 February 2020
BT A+ A HRET

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board has established four committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee
and Risk Management Committee. Specific responsibilities of each
committee are described below. All committees have defined terms
of reference which are no less exacting than those set out in the
CG Code.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 27 October 2017 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules and paragraph C3 and paragraph D3 of the CG
Code. The Audit Committee comprises three members, namely
Mr. Cheung Kin Wing, Mr. Fung Chun Chung and Mr. Wong
Raymond Fook Lam. The chairman of the Audit Committee is
Mr. Cheung Kin Wing, who holds the appropriate professional
qualifications as required under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the
Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, but not limited
to, the following: (i) making recommendations to the Board on
the appointment and removal of the external auditor; (i) reviewing
the financial statements of the Group and monitoring the integrity
of such financial statements; and (iii) overseeing the financial
reporting system and internal control procedures.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, two Audit Committee
meetings were held, during which the Audit Committee reviewed
and discussed (i) the general functions of the Audit Committee
and the engagement of external auditor; (i) the audited financial
statement of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018;
(iii) the unaudited interim financial statement of the Group for the
six months ended 30 June 2019; and (iv) the re-appointment
of the independent auditor of the Group. An Audit Committee
meeting was also held on 23 March 2020 with all the members
present to review and consider, inter alia, the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019
and the re-appointment of independent auditor of the Group.
There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee on the selection and appointment of the external
auditor.
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Attendance at meetings of the Audit Committee during the year
ended 31 December 2019 is as follows:

Name of Directors

ERZEEEENEBE_T-NF+RA=+
—HIEFENHFELENT

No. of
meetings attended/
eligible to attend

HE BE®%
ESHR HESBRE
Cheung Kin Wing 2/2
SRIE R
Fung Chun Chung 1/2
S
Wong Raymond Fook Lam 2/2
=B

The Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2019 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee considered that the relevant
financial statements have been prepared in compliance with the
applicable accounting principles and requirements of the Stock
Exchange and disclosures have been fully made.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established with written
terms of reference in compliance with paragraph B1 of the CG
Code on 27 October 2017. As at 31 December 2019 and date
of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee comprises
four members, namely, Mr. Wong Raymond Fook Lam, Mr. Lai
Yiu Wah, Mr. Fung Chun Chung and Mr. Cheung Kin Wing. The
chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. Wong Raymond
Fook Lam.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include, but
not limited to, the following: (i) making recommendations to the
Board on the policy and structure for the remuneration of all the
Directors and senior management; (ii) making recommendations
to the Board on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policy; (iii) determining
the specific remuneration packages of all Directors and senior
management; and (iv) reviewing and approving the management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the corporate goals and
objectives resolved by the Board from time to time.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, two Remuneration
Committee meetings were held to (i) review the remuneration of
senior management; (i) review the incentive bonus scheme for
the Executive Directors and Chief Executive Officer.
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Attendance at meetings of the Remuneration Committee during
the year ended 31 December 2019 is as follows:

Name of Directors

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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FWEEEEENEBE_S—NF+R=+
—HIEFENBELENT

No. of
meetings attended/
eligible to attend

HE S AEK
EEpnE HESBAIH
Wong Raymond Fook Lam 2/2
HER
Lai Yiu Wah 2/2
Fung Chun Chung 2/2
ST
Cheung Kin Wing 2/2
SRR

Details of the directors’ remuneration and five highest paid
individuals for the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in
note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the remuneration of
the senior management is listed below by band:

BE-T-AFT-A=t—BLFE =%
HOR AL BEHIWALORE - RRGAY
BRI -

BHE_Z-NFT_A=1T—HLFE &k
BEEFHIBERIOT

Number of

individuals

A¥

HKS$ nil to HK$1,000,000 1
T L% 1,000,000/ 7T

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 4

1,000,001 % 7T % 1,500,000/ 7T

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established with written terms of
reference in compliance with paragraph A5 of the CG Code on 27
October 2017. As at 31 December 2019 and date of this annual
report, the Nomination Committee comprises three members,
namely Mr. Lai Yiu Wah, Mr. Fung Chun Chung and Mr. Wong
Raymond Fook Lam. The chairman of the Nomination Committee
is Mr. Fung Chun Chung.
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The primary functions of the Nomination Committee include, but
are not limited to, the following: (i) reviewing the structure, size
and composition of the Board; (ii) assessing the independence
of the Independent Non-executive Directors; and (iii) making
recommendations to the Board on matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, one Nomination
Committee meeting was held to (i) review and consider the
structure, size, diversity and composition of the Board are
appropriate; (i) assess the independence of Independent Non-
executive Directors; and (i) recommend the re-appointments of
Directors.

Attendance at meeting of the Nomination Committee during the
year ended 31 December 2019 is as follows:

Name of Directors

RAZBENIBZRIEEE (BARR) ATE
B (VRNEFERE - RENAK  (i)FHEE
MIEMITERHNBELIL - Ri)HEERENRZ
TEFREFUIFINESTSELEREZS -

REBEE-T—NF+-A=+T—HLFER"
REAZBEEBT - RERARITEFTSIHR
B BRE ZTARERERRBEE ; (i)
HELERTEZNBLM - R(NEZEENE
TE%-

REZEEEANBE_T—NF+-_A=+
—HIEFENHFELENT

No. of
meetings attended/
eligible to attend

HE BERK
EEpE HESBRE
Fung Chun Chung 11
R
Lai Yiu Wah 11
Wong Raymond Fook Lam 11
HIBRR

The Nomination Committee has reviewed annually the Board
composition by considering the benefits of all aspects of diversity,
including but not limited to those described under the heading of
Board Diversity Policy in this annual report. The Board Diversity
Policy shall be reviewed by the Nomination Committee, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.
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The Nomination Committee shall consider a number of factors
in making nominations, including but not limited to the following:

Skills, Experience and Professional Expertise

The candidate should possess the skills, knowledge,
experience and professional expertise which are relevant
to the operations of the Group.

Diversity

Candidates should be considered on merit and against
objective criteria, with due regard to the diversity
perspectives set out in the Board Diversity Policy of the
Company.

Commitment

The candidate should be able to devote sufficient time to
attend the board meetings and participate in induction,
training and other board associated activities. In particular,
if the proposed candidate will be nominated as an
Independent Non-Executive Director and will be holding
his/her seventh (or more) listed company directorship, the
Nomination Committee should consider the reason given
by the candidate for being able to devote sufficient time to
the Board and committee meetings.

Standing

The candidate must satisfy the Board and the Stock
Exchange that he/she has the character, experience
and integrity, and is able to demonstrate a standard of
competence commensurate with the relevant position as a
director of the Company.

Independence

The candidate to be nominated as an Independent Non-
Executive Director must satisfy the independence criteria
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Where applicable,
the totality of the candidate’s education, qualifications and
experience shall also be evaluated to consider whether he
or she has the appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise for
filling the office of an Independent Non-Executive Director.
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RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Risk Management Committee was established on 27 October
2017 to review and monitor the risk management system and
oversee the hedge activities of the Group. As at 31 December
2019 and date of this annual report, the Risk Management
Committee comprises four members, namely Mr. Lai Yiu Wah, Mr.
Cheung Kin Wing, Mr. Fung Chun Chung and Mr. Wong Raymond
Fook Lam. The chairman of the Risk Management Committee is
Mr. Lai Yiu Wah.

The primary functions of the Risk Management Committee

EREEEES

RREEZEEeN _T—tFtA-TEHEX

Vo NBENERRREERRAREBLAE
EEHES R TE-NF+_A=+—BXK

EEEREAN MREDEAROENLN

CEVRBE S RREKL OBAPEE
REARLL - BRERESHLEALE
ok o

FREEZEENTIERERE (ETRR) A

include, but are not limited to, the following: (i) reviewing the T&IE : (Mi@r AEBERREKRE IR X5 @ WHE
risk management system of the Group and ensure that the REEEBCETHBEURIAEXNERE R
management has performed its duties to establish an effective %% : (ii)#I 5] B BUR RAZHE © ()R s ANEE
risk management system; (i) formulating risk policies and FTEYHEZRER : (v)FFRE AR R
standards; (i) reviewing the material risk exposures of the E&Eﬁ“ﬁ VWEBFRAIEEEFEERRE
Group; (iv) reviewing annually the changes in nature and extent RBREEZGHNHEREZ (ViR ESEHIIL
of significant risks; (v) reviewing annually the scope and quality of ﬂﬁtﬁfﬁﬁf’ﬁﬂ’ﬂ?&% P (ViR R SR R B A R
management’s ongoing monitoring of risk management systems; % R (vii)EBEE BN T A F E RS H
(vi) reviewing the Directors’ decisions on entering into hedge HKEREZEE=SIRHHEBES
arrangements; (vii) reviewing the effectiveness of the hedge
policy; and (viii) providing recommendations to the Board on
improving the hedge policy, where appropriate and if necessary.
During the year ended 31 December 2019, one Risk Management REZ - ZT—HhF+-_A=+—HILEER
Committee meeting was held to review the material risk exposures &l ﬁgﬁzz BEBT-AEE URB aﬂLZlS%
of the Group and formulate risk policies. A1 35 89 8 KRB A0 ) E R IER e
No. of
meetings attended/
Name of Directors eligible to attend
HE S RERK
EEnE HESBXAH
Lai Yiu Wah 1/1
BRIE
Cheung Kin Wing 1/1
SRS
Fung Chun Chung 1/1
A
Wong Raymond Fook Lam 11
=E®
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as the code of
conduct governing Directors’ securities transactions. All Directors
have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company, that
they have complied with the required standards set out in the
Model Code and there were no events of non-compliance during
the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to the date of this
annual report.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
FOR DIRECTORS

Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities.
Before the Listing, each newly appointed Director received
training from the legal adviser of the statutory and regulatory
obligations of a director of a listed company in Hong Kong. The
Directors are continually updated with business and market
changes, and legal and regulatory developments to facilitate
the discharge of their responsibilities through various Board
meetings, resolutions, memoranda, Board papers, and updates
on corporate governance practices and director’s responsibilities
under the Listing Rules, applicable laws and other relevant
statutory requirements. The Company has arranged the legal
adviser to provide a training to all Directors on continuous
professional development for directors.
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Up to date of this annual report, the current Board members have HZEAFRAH  BIEZTSKEZLXNUT

participated in the following training programs: HHIRIE -
Types of training
A B
Reading materials
Attending training updating on
organised by legal new rules and
Name of Directors adviser regulations
i FE B A R R R HEEEFRAR
EEpnA g2 3: 0k ER 2 EH
Executive Directors
HITEE
Lai Yiu Wah v v
Tai Leung Lam v v
B R AR
Joseph Mac Carthy - v
Joseph Mac Carthy
Georges René Gener~ v v
Georges René Gener~
Independent non-executive Directors
BUINTESE
Fung Chun Chung v v
ik etes
Cheung Kin Wing v v
SRR
Wong Raymond Fook Lam v v
Resigned with effect from 15 February 2020
BT +AAREE
DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS INSURANCE EERESABERE

Appropriate insurance covers on directors’ and officers’ liabilites A RAFBEAAEBEENS BB EEEAED
have been in force to protect the Directors and officers of the & 1R & 1% 5 A AN £ B 2 75 R E A R 1R
Group from their risk exposure arising from the business of the /R » MAANFRAH - ARRZEENSR
Group and, as at the date of this annual report, the Directors and BERET AR RESE L RBEHE - EK
officers of the Company are indemnified under a directors’ and ZETHE Mo BN TAMETHZHNEELS
officers’ liability insurance against any liability incurred by them B E TR ZHE - WEEARARAREE R
in discharge of their duties while holding office as the Directors /= # B B FEMMEGE - KBiskkE775 - A
and officers of the Company. The Directors and officers of the K& TERE -

Company shall not be indemnified where there is any fraud,

breach of duty or breach of trust proven against them.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is to ensure a good information flow
within the Board and between the Board and senior management
of the Company, to provide advice to the Board in relation to
the Directors’ obligations under the Listing Rules and applicable
laws and regulations and to assist the Board in implementing
the corporate governance practices. Ms. Wan Mei Wa Ruby,
the Company Secretary, had attended not less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training as required under Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2019.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for monitoring the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group on
an ongoing basis and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than to eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take
in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing
and maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems.

The Risk Management Committee and Audit Committee assist
the Board in leading the management and overseeing their
design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems.

Principles of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The principal aim of the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems is to manage and mitigate business risks, with
a view to enhancing the value of shareholders’ investments and
safeguarding assets.
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Main Features of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The key elements of the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems include the establishment of a risk register to
keep track of and document identified risks, the assessment and
evaluation of risks, the development and continuous updating
of responsive procedures, and the ongoing testing of internal
control procedures to ensure their effectiveness. A risk matrix is
also adopted to determine risk rating after evaluation of the risk
by the likelihood and the impact of the risk event. The risk ratings
reflect the level of management’s attention and risk treatment
effort required.

Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage Significant
Risk

All divisions/departments conducted internal control assessment
regularly to identify risks that potentially impact the business
of the Group and various aspects including key operational
and financial processes, regulatory compliance and information
security. Self-evaluation has been conducted annually to confirm
that control policies are properly complied with by each division/
department. The management assessed the likelihood of risk
occurrence, provide treatment plans, and monitor the risk
management progress, and reported to the Board on all findings
and the effectiveness of the systems.

The management has confirmed to the Board, the Risk
Management Committee, and Audit Committee on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Internal Audit Function

As at the date of this annual report, the Group did not have an
internal audit function as required by code provision C.2.5 of the
CG Code. The Board reviewed the need for setting up an internal
audit function during the reporting year and considered that
there was no such an immediate need after taking into account
the Group’s current circumstances, such as the focused nature
and geographical spread of the business, the relatively simple
operating structure and small size of the Group and the close
involvement in supervision and management of daily operations,
which could provide sufficient risk management and internal
control for the Group.
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Although the Group does not have an internal audit function, the
Group is committed to maintaining and upholding good corporate
governance practice and internal control systems.

The Board, through the Risk Management Committee and
Audit Committee, conducted an annual review of design,
implementation, and effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group, which covered all
material controls including financial, operational and compliance
controls. Such annual review was done with a view to ensuring
that resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal
control and financial reporting functions are adequate. In this
respect, the Risk Management Committee and Audit Committee
communicated any material issues to the Board.

The results of the independent review and assessment were
reported to the Risk Management Committee, Audit Committee,
and the Board. Moreover, improvements in internal control and
risk management measures to enhance the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group and to mitigate
risks of the Group were adopted by the Board. Based on the
findings and recommendations, as well as the comments of the
Risk Management Committee and Audit Committee, the Board
considered the internal control and risk management systems
are adequate and effective.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group complies with the requirements under the Listing
Rules and SFO to disclose inside information to the public as
soon as reasonably practicable unless the information falls
within any of the safe harbours as provided in the SFO. Before
the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group
ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group
believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be
maintained or that confidentiality may have been breached, the
Group would immediately disclose the information to the public.
The Group is committed to ensure that information contained in
announcements are not false or misleading as to a material fact,
or false or misleading through the omission of a material fact in
view of disclosure of inside information in a balanced, adequate
and effective way. The procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information are as follows:
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° the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the
disclosure requirement under the Listing Rules, the
Guideline on Disclosure of Inside Information issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission and its own policy;

° the Group has implemented and disclosed events or
matters on fair disclosure by non-exclusive distribution of
information to the public through channels such as financial
reporting, public announcements and its website;

° the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of
confidential or inside information; and

° the Group has established procedures for responding to
external enquiries about the Group’s affairs so that only
the Executive Directors, Company Secretary and other
person duly authorised by the Board are authorised to
communicate with parties outside the Group.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION AND RESPONSIBILITIES

The Company has appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers as
the Auditor of the Group. For the year ended 31 December
2019, PricewaterhouseCoopers charged HK$1.68 million
for audit services. Non-audit services provided to the Group
mainly represented interim review and taxation services
provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers and its affiliates was
HK$0.57 million in aggregate. The reporting responsibilities of
PricewaterhouseCoopers are set out in pages 126 to 128 of this
annual report.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee on the selection and appointment of the external
auditor during the year ended 31 December 2019.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with its
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investors’ understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company also recognises the importance
of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information,
which will enable the shareholders and investors to make the
best investment decisions.

The disclosure of the Group’s information in a reasonable and
timely manner by the Board is to facilitate the shareholders
as well as the investors to have a better understanding of the
business performance, operations and strategies of the Group.
The Company’s website at www.trio-ieg.com allows the potential
and existing investors as well as the public to get access to
and acquire the Company’s up-to-date corporate and financial
information.

Shareholders are provided with contact details of the Company,
such as telephone hotline, email address and postal address, in
order to enable them to make any query that they may have with
respect to the Company.

They can also send their enquiries to the Board through the
above means. The contact details of the Company are set out in
page 64 of this annual report and the Company’s website.

The Board welcomes views of the shareholders and encourages
them to attend general meetings to raise any concerns that they
may have with the Board or the management directly. Board
members and appropriate senior staff of the Group are available
at the meetings to answer any questions raised by shareholders.
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PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO
CONVENE GENERAL MEETING

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each
substantial issue, including the election of individual Directors,
for shareholders’ consideration and voting. Besides, pursuant
to article 68(c) of the Articles, the Directors may, whenever they
think fit, convene a general meeting, and general meetings shall
also be convened on such requisition, or in default, may be
convened by such requisitionists, as provided by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, the laws of Hong Kong) (the
“Companies Ordinance”). If any time there are not within Hong
Kong sufficient Directors capable of acting to form a quorum,
any Director or any two or more members of the Company
representing at least 10% of the total voting rights of all members
having a right to vote at general meetings, may convene a general
meeting in the same manner as nearly as possible, as that in
which meetings may be convened by the Directors.

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company or put
forward any enquiries or proposals to the Board. The contact
details are as follows:

Board of Directors
Trio Industrial Electronics Group Limited
Address: Block J, 5/F, Phase Il, Kaiser Estate,
51 Man Yue Street,
Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Telephone hotline: 2765 8787
Email address: rubywan@trio-ieg.com

To put forward proposals at an AGM or a general meeting, the
shareholders shall submit a written notice of those proposals with
detailed contact information to the Board/Company Secretary at
the Company’s registered office.

The request will be verified with the Company’s share registrar
and upon its confirmation that the request is proper and in
order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board to include the
proposed resolution in the agenda for the general meeting.
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Moreover, the notice period concerning the notice to be given to
all the shareholders for consideration of the proposals submitted
by the shareholders concerned varies as follows pursuant to
article 70 of the Articles and subject to section 578 of the
Companies Ordinance.

(@) for an AGM, it shall be called by notice in writing of at least
twenty-one clear days (or such longer period as may be
required by the Listing Rules); and

(b)  for a general meeting other than an AGM, it shall be called
by notice in writing of least fourteen clear days (or such
longer period as may be required by the Listing Rules),

shall be given in the manner mentioned in the Articles to all
members, to the Directors and to the Auditors.

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and
send the original duly signed written requisition, notice or
statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the Company’s
registered office and provide their full names, contact details
and identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’
information may be disclosed as required by law.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no change on the articles of association of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2019. An up-to-date version
of the articles of association of the Company is available on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.
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The Board is pleased to present their annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding and the activities of its
principal subsidiaries are shown on page 198.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages
129 to 132.

An interim dividend of HKO0.8 cent per share (2018: nil) totalling
HK$8,000,000 was paid to the shareholders on 16 October
2019.

The Board has recommended a final dividend of HKO0.8 cent per
ordinary share of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2019 (2018: final dividend of HK1.8 cents) to the Shareholders.
The proposed final dividend, subject to the approval of the
Shareholders at the AGM to be held on Friday, 29 May 2020, is
expected to be paid on Friday, 3 July 2020 to all Shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company
on Monday, 22 June 2020.

No special dividend was paid during the year ended 31 December
2019 (2018: HK0.8 cent per share).
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM to
be held on Friday, 29 May 2020, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Monday, 25 May 2020 to Friday,
29 May 2020, both days inclusive, during which no transfer of
Shares will be effected. In order to be eligible to attend and vote
at the AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share
registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 22 May 2020.

In order to ascertain the entitlement to the final dividend,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 18 June 2020 to Monday, 22 June 2020, both days
inclusive. In order to qualify for the final dividend, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s share registrar, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m.
on Wednesday, 17 June 2020.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during
the year ended 31 December 2019, the key factors affecting
its results and financial position, and the information on the
compliance with laws and regulations, environmental policy and
relationships with stakeholders are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
Furthermore, a fair review of, and an indication of likely future
development in the Group’s business are set out in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement” of this annual report. Save as
disclosed in this annual report, since the end of the year ended
31 December 2019, no important event affecting the Group has
occurred.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The recent outbreak of COVID-19 has caused adverse
impact on the Group’s sales, raw materials supply and
production.

The crisis brought by COVID-19 has created unprecedented
uncertainties to the global economy in 2020. In particular for
the EMS industry, the deceleration in manufacturing of core raw
materials is causing disruption to the entire supply chain and the
product delivery schedules among the electronic manufacturers.
In the first quarter of 2020, the Group’s production schedules in
the PRC were largely affected by the extended Lunar New Year
holidays and transport disruptions.

The Group’s existing customers stay prudent on project
developments and slow down their orders. Potential customers
are also vigilant on new projects and new orders. If the virus
outbreak is not under control in the near future, it is yet
unpredictable the extent of the impact on the Group’s business
in the medium and long term.

The five largest customers accounted for more than 70.0%
of the total revenue. Any loss of the major customers or any
request for price reduction may materially and adversely
affect our business performance and financial condition.

Since (i) the Group does not enter into long-term sale and
purchase agreements with the customers and does not have
long-term purchase commitment from them; and (ii) the Group
is not their exclusive supplier, there is no assurance that the
five largest customers will continue to purchase the products at
current levels or at all in the future. If the prices of the products
are not as competitive as those set by the competitors for
comparable products or if the quality of the products does
not meet the customers’ expectations or requirements, the
customers may reduce their purchase volume or may not make
purchases from the Group. If any of the five largest customers
significantly reduces its purchase volume or ceases to place
purchase orders with the Group, and the Group is unable
to identify new customers, the business performance, results
of operations and financial condition may be materially and
adversely affected.
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In addition, there is no assurance that the major customers will
not negotiate for a reduction in the price of the products in the
future. In order to maintain business relationships with them, the
Group may have to offer a more competitive price to them. If
the Group is unable to reduce the production cost accordingly
in order to maintain the profit margins, the profitability, results
of operations and financial condition may be materially and
adversely affected.

Fluctuations in the prices of raw materials may affect the
cost of sales and adversely affect our business operations
and profitability.

The major raw materials include integrated circuits, metal parts,
plastic parts, printed circuit board components, capacitors,
connectors, transistors, cables and cores. The prices of the
raw materials generally follow their respective price trends in the
market and vary with industry conditions and market supply and
demand.

Since the Group does not enter into long-term supply contracts
with the suppliers, there is no assurance that the suppliers will
not significantly increase the prices of raw materials in the future,
in particular when the market prices of or the market demand
for such raw materials increase. There is also no assurance that
the Group will be able to pass the increase in the costs of raw
materials to the customers in a timely manner or at all to avoid
adverse impacts on the profitability. If, in the event of material
fluctuations in raw material prices, the customers do not agree
to a price adjustment or the Group cannot pass the increase in
the cost of raw materials to them in a timely manner or at all, the
profitability, financial condition and results of operations may be
materially and adversely affected.

Any slowdown of the industrial electronics industry may
materially and adversely affect our results of operations,
financial condition and business prospects.

As an EMS provider specialising in the manufacturing and sales
of customised industrial electronic components and products,
our business performance depends, to a large extent, on the
performance and condition of the industrial electronics industry.
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The industrial electronics industry may experience slowdown or
downturn due to market or industry conditions, global economic
environment or other factors beyond control. Any decrease
in the demand for industrial electronics equipment such as
renewable energy facilities, telecommunications equipment,
commercial freight equipment, medical devices and security
systems may reduce the demand for our OEM products. In
such circumstances, the sales may decline and the results of
operations, financial condition and business prospects may be
materially and adversely affected.

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risks.

The major functional currency is US$, while some of the business
transactions and the cost of sales are denominated HK$, EUR
and RMB. The Group is exposed to foreign currency risks as a
result of sales and purchases that are denominated in a currency
other than US$. Any significant changes in the exchange rate
between US$ and other currencies may result in substantial loss
for the Group and the financial condition and results of operations
may be materially and adversely affected.

Failure to retain the services of key personnel may
adversely affect the results of operations.

The success to date has largely been attributable to the
contributions, commitment and experience of the management
team and key employees, in particular their familiarity with the
business operations and their experience and expertise in the
industrial EMS industry. Some of our Executive Directors have
more than 30 years of experience in the electronics industry.
In particular, Mr. Tai Leung Lam and Mr. Joseph Mac Carthy,
the Executive Directors, have more than 45 and 20 years of
experience in the electronics industry, respectively. The continued
success is dependent on the ability to retain the services of
members of the senior management and key employees who
possess the necessary experience and expertise in the industrial
EMS industry. If there is any significant or material change to
the composition of the key management team, the Group may
not be able to recruit experienced or qualified personnel in a
timely manner or at all, and may need to incur additional costs
and resources in the recruitment and training of the new staff
members. In addition, if the Group loses the key management
personnel or employees to the competitors, the competitiveness,
business performance, results of operations as well as business
prospects may be materially and adversely affected.
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There is no assurance that the business strategies and
future plans will be successfully implemented.

The successful implementation of the business strategies and
future plans will depend on various factors, including but not
limited to the ability to (i) retain the major customers; (i) enhance
the production efficiency; (iii) retain the existing workforce and
recruit new staff members at a rate that is consistent with
the business growth; (iv) raise additional funds to support the
business expansion; and (v) explore new business opportunities.
There is no assurance that the Group will be able to successfully
implement the business strategies or future plans. Even if the
business strategies or future plans are implemented, there is no
assurance that they will increase the market share or enhance
the market position. The results of operations and financial
position may be materially and adversely affected if the business
strategies or future plans are not successfully implemented.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 232 of this annual
report. This summary does not form part of the consolidated
financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details (including the principal activities) of the Company’s
subsidiaries as at 31 December 2019 are set out in note 16 to
the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in
note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2019 amounted to HK$53,000 (2018:
HK$68,000).

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2019, the Company’s distributable
reserves available for distribution is HK$16,550,000 (2018:
HK$23,641,000).
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro
rata basis to existing shareholders unless otherwise required by
the Stock Exchange.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set
out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to date of
this annual report were as follows:

Executive Directors

BTES

BRBERE

BB BARTI  BRILETEETEH
BRBERORAT - BRADAARLA@E
BRFRSBENM -

(&N
ARAMBARDHERR G M HRRN
24 °
=

RRARMAEFEREEAFREARZEETRT
(I

Lai Yiu Wah (Chairman of the Board)
ReE (EFGER)

Tai Leung Lam (Chief Executive Officer)
B R (FTEAREL)

Joseph Mac Carthy

Joseph Mac Carthy

Georges René Gener

Georges René Gener

Independent non-executive Directors

BYFHTES

(resigned with effect from 15 February 2020)
(BZZ_ZTF_A+HBREEITE)

Fung Chun Chung

ST

Cheung Kin Wing

SRR

Wong Raymond Fook Lam

AR

The Company had received the resignation letter from Mr.
Georges René Gener confirming that he had no disagreement
with the Board and there was nothing relating to the affairs of
the Company which needed the attention of the Shareholders
of Company.

Pursuant to article 120(a) of the Articles, subject to article
120(e), at each AGM, one-third of the Directors (excluding those
Director(s) who are not subject to the rotation requirement under
the Articles) or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three
the number which is nearest to and is at least one-third, shall
retire from office by rotation. A retiring Director shall be eligible
for re-election.

NATDUWE|Georges René Generft A BHTE
EMEBK BREREESUEERTE -
BUYERARNREHERNERERELARA
MR EE o

RIFMAIZE120@)& © BrABIZE1206) K5 B
REN REERRBFREL =H2—H8
B (TEEITHENTHERTRTEMER
NZEEE) RWBENARLFE=H=HF
o ARBEABTIPR=ZNZ - ABHNESAE
WERT - RIEZHERERET -
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Pursuant to article 120(e) of the Articles, any Director who holds
the position as an Executive Director shall not be subject to the
retirement-rotation requirement of the Article.

Pursuant to A.4.2 of the CG Code, all directors (no matter
executive or independent non-executive directors) including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. Mr. Tai Leung Lam and
Mr. Cheung Kin Wing will retire pursuant to article 120(a) of the
Articles. All the retiring Directors, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election as Directors at the forthcoming AGM.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The name of Directors who have served on the boards of the
subsidiaries of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this annual report are set out below:

Lai Yiu Wah

Tai Leung Lam
Joseph Mac Carthy
John Anthony Tiernan
Lai Sek Piu

Lo Ka Kei Jun

David Mac Carthy
Georges René Gener*

g Resigned as a director of subsidiary as at the date of this annual report.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
£ £

RIBADRIFE120(e) 6k - ERIEERITE SR
MESHARZARNGREREREMER -

RBECEERTAEAL2E  FIAEESE (T
MTRBURTER) (BRERBEENZ
THESE) ERIB=ZFHFERT X - R
MRIE A B R 2 AR ST A A AR IR 40 Bl 55 120(a) fiR AR
T MERIEZHTAERLBERNERER
REAFAGLBEETES -

MEBARNES

REAREERFRAY  HEARAHKBL
AESRENESRRENT

B R A

Joseph Mac Carthy
John Anthony Tiernan
RGHE

‘A

David Mac Carthy
Georges René Gener”

RAFREAPEREMNBARNES -

HEED
JONVNYIA0D ILvH0d400

Annual Report 2019 €3 /3



74 TRIO INDUSTRIAL ELECTRONICS GROUP LIMITED | 32

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
3£

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors an annual written confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules as at
the date of this annual report and considers all the Independent
Non-executive Directors are independent.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management
of the Group are set out on pages 14 to 23 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Three Executive Directors have each signed a service contract
with the Company for an initial term of three years commencing
from 10 February 2017 (subject to termination in certain
circumstances as stipulated in the relevant service agreement).
The said service contracts have been renewed for a term of three
years commencing from 1 February 2020. Mr. Georges René
Gener has signed a service contract with the Company for a term
of not more than three years commencing on 2 November 2018
and expiring at the conclusion of an AGM to be held in the third
year following the year of his appointment.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has signed
a service contract with the Company for an initial term of three
years, commencing from 1 February 2017 (subject to termination
in certain circumstances as stipulated in the relevant service
contract). The said service contracts have been renewed for a
term of three years commencing from 1 February 2020.

None of the Directors proposed for election at the forthcoming
AGM has entered into any service contract or letter of appointment
with any member of the Group which is not determinable by
any member of the Group within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.
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TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in
relation to the business of the Group to which the Company, or
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries was a party and
in which a director or a connected entity of a director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year, nor was there
any transaction, arrangements or contract of significance for the
provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries
by a controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) or
any of its subsidiaries for the year. There was also no contract of
significance between the Company or one of the subsidiaries and
the controlling shareholders or any of its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
or its subsidiaries were entered into or existed during the year
ended 31 December 2019.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors on a named basis
during the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in note 9
to the consolidated financial statements.
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REMUNERATION POLICY

Under the remuneration policy of the Company, the Remuneration
Committee will consider factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment, responsibilities and
performance of the Directors and senior management, as the
case may be, in assessing the amount of remuneration payable
to the Directors and members of the senior management.
The Remuneration Committee will periodically review the
compensation levels of the key executives. Based on the
performance and the executives’ respective contribution to the
Group, the Remuneration Committee may, within the aggregate
remuneration amount having been approved in a Shareholders’
meeting, make recommendations to our Board as to salary
increases or payment of discretionary bonuses.

The Group’s employee benefit expenses mainly included salaries,
overtime payment and discretionary bonus, share options, other
staff benefits and contributions to retirement schemes.

Remuneration is determined with reference to the qualification,
experience and work performance, whereas the payment of
discretionary bonus is generally subject to work performance,
the financial performance of the Group in that particular year and
general market conditions.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Appropriate insurance covers on directors’ and officers’ liabilities
have been in force to protect the Directors and officers of the
Group from their risk exposure arising from conducting the
business of the Group.

Pursuant to the Articles and subject to the provisions of the
Companies Ordinance, the Directors shall be indemnified out
of the assets of the Company against any liability, loss or
expenditure incurred by him in defending any proceedings,
whether civil or criminal, which relate to anything done or omitted
to be done or alleged to have been done or omitted to be done
by him as a Director.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
OTHER ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the
Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) (i) as recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein; or (i) as required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Model Code contained in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:
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Number of Number of the Company’s
Shares held Underlying issued share
Name of Directors Nature of interest in Long Position Shares held Total capital (Note 3)
AR H
ERITRAZ
FFREN gzl REFDL
ESHH ERttE RPEE R EE e (Bf&£3)
Lai Yiu Wah Interest in controlled 700,000,000 - 732,000,000 73.20%
(“Mr. Lai") corporations (Note 1)
IR R LB (BFsE1)
([®ExE])
Beneficial owner 25,000,000 7,000,000
EnBEBA (Note 2)
(BitzE2)
Tai Leung Lam Interest in controlled 700,000,000 - 707,000,000 70.70%
(“Mr. Tai”) corporations (Note 1)
R REEEE R (PBiFsE1) =
(T&Ex£])
Beneficial owner - 7,000,000
ERBEA (Note 2)
- (H&E2)
Joseph Mac Carthy Beneficiary of 700,000,000 - 706,000,000 70.60%
(“Mr. Mac Carthy”) a trust (Note 1)
Joseph Mac Carthy  fE3EX %A (BH&E1) -
('Mac Carthy %% |) Beneficial owner - 6,000,000
EnEBA (Note 2)
(KizE2)
Georges René Gener  Beneficial owner 25,000,000 - 25,000,000 2.50%
(Note 4)
Georges René Gener EzmiEA A
GEL))
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Notes:

(1) These Shares are held by Trio Industrial Electronics Holding Limited (“Trio
Holding”). Trio Holding was owned as to 32.5%, 32.5%, 17.5% and 17.5%
by Nawk Investment Inc. (“Nawk Investment”), LLT Investment Inc. (“LLT
Investment”), Proactive Investment Inc. (“Proactive Investment”) and
Grand Energy Investment Limited (“Grand Energy”), respectively. Nawk
Investment, LLT Investment and Proactive Investment were directly and
wholly owned by Mr. Kwan Tak Sum Stanley (“Mr. Kwan”), Mr. Tai and Mr.
Lai, respectively. Grand Energy was directly and wholly owned by King Fung
Nominees Limited (“King Fung Nominees”) on trust for Mr. Mac Carthy.
Because of their interests in Trio Holding, Mr. Kwan, Mr. Tai, Mr. Lai and
Mr. Mac Carthy, Nawk Investment, LLT Investment, Proactive Investment,
Grand Energy and King Fung Nominees are regarded as the controlling
shareholders and together be entitled to exercise and control 70.0% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2019.

(2) These interests represented the underlying Shares comprised in the share
options granted by the Company on 28 December 2017.

(3) The approximate percentages were calculated based on 1,000,000,000
shares in issue as at 31 December 2019.

4) Mr. Georges René Gener has resigned as director with effect from 15
February 2020.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none of the
Directors nor chief executive of the Company has registered an
interests and short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (i) which were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register referred to therein; or (ii) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Save as disclosed under the paragraphs headed “Directors’ and
Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in the Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company or any other
Associated Corporations” above, at no time during the year were
any rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director
or the chief executive of the Company or any of their respective
spouses or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by
them; or was the Company, its holding company, or any of its
subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY OR ANY SPECIFIED
UNDERTAKING OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
OTHER ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

So far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 December 2019,
the following persons (not being Directors or chief executive of
the Company) had or were deemed or taken to have an interest
or short position in the Shares or the underlying Shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under

REEFRAM R-_E-NF+-_A=+—8"
THAL (LFEEXARRAEETBAR) B
ARARNBEDHBEROD TR ER/LE
ERA RN IRIERE 7 R B IRPI£3361F AT
FENBLMANERIORE

Section 336 of the SFO:

Percentage of
shareholding in
the Company’s

issued share

Number of capital
Name of shareholders Nature of interests Shares held (Note 3)
(ERNE
BRITRAZ
REB DL
IRR £ REmE iR 8B (F$EE3)
Kwan Tak Sum Stanley Interest in a controlled corporation 700,000,000 (Note 1) 70.0%
RIS R EE SR (BfFEET)
Grand Energy Interest in a controlled corporation 700,000,000 (Note 1) 70.0% o
Grand Energy NEEB RS (FI5E1) 2
Trio Holding Beneficial owner 700,000,000 (Note 1) 70.0% .
BBIER e DN (H3E1) g
Nawk Investment Interest in a controlled corporation 700,000,000 (Note 1) 70.0% Jﬂ}zg
Nawk Investment REEEE R (FffsE) - g
LLT Investment Interest in a controlled corporation 700,000,000 (Note 1) 70.0% >
LLT Investment REZIEEE R (FfF3E) 9
Proactive Investment Interest in a controlled corporation 700,000,000 (Note 1) 70.0%
Proactive Investment REZIEEE R (FfF3E)
King Fung Nominees Trustee; interest in a controlled 700,000,000 (Note 1) 70.0%
corporation
King Fung Nominees TFREA  RZEEE R (MizE1)
RUAN David Ching Chi Interest of controlled corporation 93,192,000 (Note 2) 9.32%
RUAN David Ching Chi REOEEHER (HMtEE2)
RAYS Capital Partners Investment manager 93,192,000 (Note 2) 9.32%
Limited
RAYS Capital Partners S EASIR (Fff5E2)
Limited
Asian Equity Special Beneficial owner 80,848,000 8.08%

Opportunities Portfolio
Master Fund Limited
Asian Equity Special
Opportunities Portfolio
Master Fund Limited

EaEAA
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Note:

(1) These shares are held by Trio Holding. Trio Holding was owned as to
32.5%, 32.5%, 17.5% and 17.5% by Nawk Investment, LLT Investment,
Proactive Investment and Grand Energy, respectively. Nawk Investment, LLT
Investment and Proactive Investment were directly and wholly owned by Mr.
Kwan Tak Sum Stanley, Mr. Tai Leung Lam and Mr. Lai Yiu Wah, respectively.
Grand Energy was directly and wholly owned by King Fung Nominees on
trust for Mr. Joseph Mac Carthy. Because of their interests in Trio Holding,
Mr. Kwan Tak Sum Stanley, Mr. Tai Leung Lam, Mr. Lai Yiu Wah and Mr.
Joseph Mac Carthy, Nawk Investment, LLT Investment, Proactive Investment,
Grand Energy and King Fung Nominees are regarded as the controlling
shareholders and together be entitled to exercise and control 70.0% of the
issued share of the Company as at 31 December 2019.

(2) Accordingly to the information available on the website of the Stock
Exchange, Asian Equity Special Opportunities Portfolio Master Fund Limited
is owned as to 100% by RAYS Capital Partners Limited, which in turn is
owned as to 95.24% by Mr. Ruan David Ching Chi.

(3) The approximate percentages were calculated based on 1,000,000,000
shares in issue as at 31 December 2019.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, the Directors
were not aware of any other persons who had any interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the
Company which would be recorded in the register required to
be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES
OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than the interests disclosed above in respect of the
substantial shareholders, as at 31 December 2019, no other
person is individually or collectively entitled to exercise or control
the exercise of 5% or more of the voting power at the general
meetings of the Company and are able, as a practicable manner,
to direct or influence the management of the Company.
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Investment * LLT Investment * Proactive Investment
KGrand Energys 5l # £32.5% - 32.5% * 17.5%
F17.5% ° Nawk Investment * LLT Investment}%
Proactive Investments 5Bl B B8 12 % & & -« & R A
KAERRBELEHEE2EHA - Grand Energy
FKing Fung NomineesA 1 5t 2 = AJoseph Mac
Carthyt * BEE R 2EHEE - HRBEREE
R AR ST A - B E 5t 4 RJoseph Mac Carthyst
4+ Nawk Investment * LLT Investment * Proactive
Investment + Grand Energy &2 King Fung Nomineesi
Bl ES R NFE+-A=+—08 %
FI R ERIRIRE - B —REAEITERIZERIARQA
BTN EN70.0% °

(2 IRIRTEH R ETA VLA E B A)E K - Asian Equity
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of sales for the year ended 31 December 2019
generated from the Group’s major customers is as follows:

32.1%
73.2%

— The largest customer
— Five largest customers

The percentage of suppliers for the year ended 31 December
2019 attributable to the Group’s major suppliers is as follows:

7.1%
20.4%

— The largest supplier
— Five largest suppliers

None of the Directors, their close associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) nor any shareholder (which to the knowledge
of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) had any beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five
largest customers or its five largest suppliers for the year ended
31 December 2019.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 December 2019.

DIRECTOR’S SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
Director’s securities transactions on terms no less exacting
than the Model Code. Having been made a specific enquiry by
the Company, all Directors confirmed that they had complied
with the required standard of dealings and code of conduct
regarding securities transactions throughout the year ended 31
December 2019 and up to the date of this annual report.

COMPETING INTERESTS

During the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to the date
of this annual report, none of the Directors nor the controlling
shareholders nor substantial shareholders (as defined in
the Listing Rules) of the Company or their respective close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) were considered to
have any interests in a business which competed or was likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group and/or caused, or was likely to cause any other conflicts
of interest with the Group.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

The Company confirms that the deed of non-competition of each
of Trio Holding, Nawk Investment, LLT Investment, Proactive
Investment, King Fung Nominees, Grand Energy, Mr. Kwan Tak
Sum Stanley, Mr. Tai Leung Lam, Mr. Lai Yiu Wah and Mr. Joseph
Mac Carthy (collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders”),
details of which were set out in the Prospectus, has been fully
complied with and enforced since the Listing Date and up to 31
December 2019. The Controlling Shareholders have provided
a written confirmation (the “Confirmation”) to the Company
on 22 March 2019 confirming that they have duly complied
with the non-competition covenants and undertakings in the
Deed of Non-competition (the “Undertakings”) for the year
ended 31 December 2019. Upon receiving the Confirmation,
the Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company had
reviewed the same as part of the annual review process. In
determining whether the Controlling Shareholders had fully
complied with the Undertakings for the year ended 31 December
2019, the Independent Non-executive Directors noted that (a) the
Controlling Shareholders declared that they had fully complied
with the Undertakings for the year ended 31 December 2019; and
(b) no new competing business was reported by the Controlling
Shareholders for the year ended 31 December 2019.

In view of the above, the Independent Non-executive Directors
confirmed that they have reviewed the compliance with the terms
of the Non-competition by the Controlling Shareholders and
the enforcement of the Undertakings given by the Controlling
Shareholders and are satisfied that the Controlling Shareholders
have complied with the terms of the Deed of Non-competition
during the relevant period up to 31 December 2019. The Board
also confirms that there are no other matters in relation to the
aforesaid undertaking which should be brought to the attention
of the Shareholders and the potential investors of the Group.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme was conditionally approved and
adopted in compliance with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules by
written resolutions of the then shareholder on 27 October 2017. A
summary of the Share Option Scheme and the movement of the
share options granted was set out in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save and except for the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in
the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” above, no equity-
linked agreement that (i) will or may result in the Company issuing
shares or (i) requires the Company enter into any agreement that
will or may result in the Company issuing shares, was entered
into by the Company during the year ended 31 December 2019
or subsisted at the end of the reporting year.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”), pursuant to which the Company will normally pay
dividend twice a year. The Board may declare special dividends
in addition to such dividends as it considers appropriate. The
dividend payout ratio will vary from year to year. There is no
assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for
any given period. In determining/recommending the frequency,
amount and form of any dividend in any financial year/period, the
Board shall consider the following factors:

- the actual and expected financial results of the Group;

- economic conditions and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Group;

- the Group’s business strategies, including future cash
commitments and investment needs to sustain the

long-term growth aspect of the business;

- the current and future operations, liquidity position and
capital requirements of the Group; and

- any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has set up an Audit Committee on 27 October
2017 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules
3.21 of the Listing Rules and paragraph C3 and paragraph D3 of
the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee include,
but are not limited to, the following: (i) making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment and removal of the external
auditor; (ii) reviewing the financial statements of our Group and
monitoring the integrity of such financial statements; and (iii)
overseeing the financial reporting system and internal control
procedures. The Audit Committee comprises three members,
namely Mr. Cheung Kin Wing, Mr. Fung Chun Chung and Mr.
Wong Raymond Fook Lam. The chairman of the Audit Committee
is Mr. Cheung Kin Wing, who holds the appropriate professional
qualifications as required under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the
Listing Rules. The audited consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee, which was of the opinion that the preparation of such
results complied with the applicable accounting standards, the
Listing Rules and legal requirements, and adequate disclosures
have been made.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions of the Group during the year
are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements
in this annual report. None of these related party transactions
constituted a connected transaction as defined under the Listing
Rules during the reporting period.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

From the information publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capitals are held by the public at all times
throughout the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to the
date of this annual report.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Shares.

BREEY
AATN=B—tF+A-TLERIBRE

B HEOMEEHEMFS EMBEAEI21E
MEEATRIFECIR MDD - EZEETH
TEBEBFBEIRRL : ()R BB Z
TRERAZESSHELHEBES @ ((IBHASE
EMEHRRNREBZEMERENZENE &
(NEBHBERERFRANIBIEHRRF - BRE
BeRE=FKE  ARELEE  BEPL
ERERHREE BRRESTIRARESRL
£ BEA ETHEBIEIA0QMI21EREN
BEEEER AEERFANKEZSREM
BHRERECHABEXZELEMN MEZRZEER
AEBEENERBASEL - EWRAIKR
EEERMERE  WEEEEIHEE -

BB LR 5
REBERFEANNBEE T XS FBRNANFRER
EMBRERMES - RBEHEAR - ZFHE
TR SHREEKLETRAUAENBEERS -

TEARERE
BARQNRAISNARER R ESEN  RE
ECT-NFE+_A=+—BHIEEEENE
EXRFHREAPAREMER  NARZIHEEHT
JEARE R D25%MARALIEE °

B R

ARRARIAAHEABRRREFA B M ZBER
A% BB ©

84 TRIO INDUSTRIAL ELECTRONICS GROUP LIMITED |2 T£EFE@MAER AT



COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Company is committed to implementing good corporate
governance practices. Information on the principal corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 43 to 65 of this annual
report.

THE FORTHCOMING AGM

The forthcoming AGM of the Company will be held at Room 4-5,
United Conference Centre, 10/F., United Centre, 95 Queensway,
Admiralty, Hong Kong on Friday, 29 May 2020 at 2:30 p.m.
and the notice convening such meeting will be published and
despatched to the Shareholders in the manner as required by
the Listing Rules in due course.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

As approved by the Board, and consented by the option holders
of the Company, an aggregate of 28,400,000 share options
outstanding as at 31 December 2019 was cancelled with effect
from 21 January 2020 in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme. No compensation was payable to the option
holders for the cancellation of the share options. Details of this
cancellation are set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 21 January 2020.

The recent outbreak of COVID-19 has added uncertainties to
the business environment and economic activities of the Group.
A number of provinces and municipalities in the PRC had taken
emergency public health measures to contain the spread of
COVID-19, including but not limited to travel restrictions and
extension of nationwide public holiday for the Lunar New Year.
The Group’s production facilities in Nansha District, Guangzhou
City, Guangdong Province, the PRC had been affected by the
prolonged work suspension and reduced workforce mobility,
thereby experienced a temporary decrease in production. Certain
scheduled supplies to and deliveries from the Group were also
affected by the traffic disruptions. As at the date of this annual
report, certain customers of the Group had agreed to postpone
their product delivery and none of the sales orders placed to the
Group had been cancelled because of COVID-19. The Group will
endeavor to mitigate any adverse impacts on the Group and its
customers caused by COVID-19. Details of the business updates
on the impact of COVID-19 are set out in the announcement of
the Company dated 16 March 2020.
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As at the date of this annual report, the Group is still in the
process of assessing the financial impacts of the COVID-19
outbreak and its aftermath towards the financial position and
performance of the Group. The management of the Group will
pay close attention to the COVID-19 development and perform
further assessment of its financial impacts.

The COVID-19 outbreak is a non-adjusting event after the
financial year-end and does not result in any adjustments to
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2019.

Saved as disclosed above and in this annual report, there are
no significant events affecting the Group after the year ended 31
December 2019 and up to the date of this annual report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2019 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers,
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment. The Board has taken the Audit Committee’s
recommendation that a resolution for their re-appointment as
independent auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming AGM.

There is no change of independent auditor for the past three

years.

On behalf of the Board

Lai Yiu Wah

Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 23 March 2020
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

SCOPE AND REPORTING PERIOD

This is the third Environmental, Social and Governance
(“ESG”) report of Trio Industrial Electronics Group Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”),
highlighting its ESG performance, with disclosure reference made
to the ESG Reporting Guide as described in Appendix 27 to the
Listing Rules and Guidance set out by The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited.

The Group is an EMS provider exporting products mainly to
Europe, the US and Asia Pacific, etc. This ESG report covers
the Group’s overall performance in two subject areas, namely,
Environmental and Social of the business operations in the
manufacturing plant (the “Plant”) in Nansha District, Guangzhou,
the PRC from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019, unless
otherwise stated. The Group’s head office in Hong Kong, and the
offices in Munich, Germany and Dublin, Ireland were excluded
from the scope since they had no significant environmental and
social impacts generated.

Since June 2019, the Group has commenced the development
of new production base through dismantling two existing
warehouses situated alongside the Plant. The construction
works are expected to be completed in the next reporting period.
New automated surface-mount technology production lines,
interchangeable production lines and other machineries and
equipment will be further installed and upgraded.

STAKEHOLDER
MATERIALITY

The Group values input and feedback of its stakeholders as
they bring potential impacts to the Group’s business. Internal
and external stakeholders have been involved in regular
engagement activities, including face-to-face communications,
tele-conferencing, telephones and email communications, to
share views regarding the Group’s operations and performances.
Adhering to the concept of good neighbourliness, the Group has
participated in regular meetings with village committees in order
to understand the needs of the residents and community where
it operates in.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BE  HEREBES

The materiality assessment process is crucial to the EZWHFHBFEEBERERE HSRER
decision-making process of the Group and its ESG reporting. HR&ERRFEBIEFEAMEE  EHMENDSE
It helps to identify and prioritise the issues that matter most RAREEMHE  WAFELX T KA&EEH
to its stakeholders. The Group has specifically engaged the HFRIFEARIREHANIRE M@ MEAEEAE
shareholders, Board of Directors, senior management, frontline M BKE; - AR - EE2E - SREEE - A
staff, suppliers and clients to gain further insights on ESG #RET - #EELEFHNER -

material aspects and challenges in the reporting period.

Results of the materiality assessment and the consolidated list T7|EMEE - KR N EEHR NEZ BT EE
of material aspects with respective management are presented % - ANMABEBE B NG TR NEEE
in the following matrix, table and section respectively.

Materiality Matrix EEMIEEE

Materiality of Different Topics from Stakeholder Engagement
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

A. Environmental IssuesBE E % =&
Energy RER
Water 7K
Emissions BEH
Effluent and Waste EE7K K EE¥)
Other Raw Materials Consumption #&F H b R #1 %t
Environmental Protection Policies ZR1E R 5
B. Social Issues & &E
Employment {&1&
Health and Safety fi&F % &
Development and Training % & B 525
Labor Standards 4 T *# 8|
Supply Chain Management fH & § & 3%
Intellectual Property Rights &% 2= #E
Customer Data Protection &P &1 (R #&
Customer Service &P IR#%
Product Quality ZEfmE =
Anti-corruption X &/&
Community Investment #t &% &
Cr Other Issues Hfh#E

PNy

Food Health and Safety B @E4 L%

Among the environmental and social aspects, the following topics
are identified as the most material issues to the stakeholders:

Product quality

° Occupational health and safety

° Customer service

o Intellectual property

° Environmental protection measures

With respect to the top concerned aspect of product quality,
the Group has successfully obtained the Certificate of Industry
4.0 Maturity Recognition — level 1i maturity during the reporting
period. Besides, the product defect rate accumulated in 2019
was largely reduced from 550 PPM to 330 PPM, achieving the
monthly average goal for the reporting period.

Regarding occupational health and safety, the Group strictly
complied with the OHSAS 18001 Occupational Health and Safety
Management System and will migrate to ISO 45001 in 2020.
Occurrence of work-related injury remained low and no serious
work-related injury or occupational diseases had occurred.
Employees who are exposing to high occupational hazards are
arranged to attend health check-ups, prior to, during, and after
their term of employment.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BE  HEREBES

Committed to providing the customers with the best possible
service, the Group has adopted the eight disciplines (“8D”)
problem-solving method in resolving complaints from customers
more effectively. During the reporting period, the Group had
achieved a higher level of customer satisfaction with an improved
score in the overall results of customer satisfaction surveys,
meeting the target set upon by the last reporting period.

The Group also received feedback from frontline staff concerning
the indoor air quality of the Plant. The Plant has an enclosed
paint spraying that may affect the overall air quality. In December
2019, the Group has promptly arranged cleaning specialists to
perform a thorough cleaning to the inner parts of the central air
conditioning system, with a view to improve air quality and reduce
odours in the Plant.

Furthermore, the Plant has conducted an annual workplace
inspection during the reporting period. The inspection result has
passed the requirements on air quality. The toxic and hazardous
substances did not exceed the national standards as stipulated
in the Determination of Toxic Substance in Workplace Air (GBZ/T
300.66-2017). Incoming materials and components meet the
requirements of Restriction of Hazardous Substances (‘RoHS”)
and Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction
of Chemicals (“REACH”) regulations. Employees in special
operations are equipped with appropriate protective equipment,
such as masks with active carbon filter compliant with the
statutory requirement.

THE GROUP’S ESG COMMITMENT

The Board understands that it has overall responsibility for the
Group’s ESG strategy and reporting ESG-related risk which
are identified through the risk control procedure. The identified
material aspects are strictly managed through the Group’s
policies and guidelines. Management of the aspects has been
described in separate sections below.

In addition, the Group sets forth annual and monthly ESG targets
and regularly reviews progress on the performances against
ESG goals and targets. The Group is committed to operating its
businesses in line with the concept of ESG and has strategically
embedded ESG into its on-going decision-making process.
Expertise is hired by the Group to provide input and counsel on
ESG-related issues.
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The Group will continue to identify areas of improvement for the
concerned aspects and to keep close communication with its
stakeholders to share and exchange ideas for advancing the
Group’s ESG management.

STAKEHOLDERS’ FEEDBACK

The Group is committed to continuous improvement of its ESG
management. Its administration department and finance division
keep track of the environmental and social data and report to the
Board members for periodic review. The Group also welcomes
stakeholders’ feedback on its ESG approach. Please give your
suggestions or share your views with us via email at ad_hjbin@
triopy.com.

THE GROUP’S MISSION, VISIONS AND
STRATEGIES

Mission and Visions

Powering the eWorld — We pursue to be a manufacturer of
world-class standard in power electronics to capture the global
demand in smart city systems and the new economy, while be
socially and environmentally responsible to our people, clients
and communities to maintain a sustainable business.

Strategies
° Dedicated marketing and regional sales support

o Engage in products of higher value and contributions
° Further enhance capability, efficiency and capacity

° Continue to recruit talents and research & development
resources

° Expand automatic test equipment (“ATE”) business segment

° Explore mergers and acquisitions opportunities for
expansion

B HERERA®RSE
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We strongly believe that the human factor is the core propeller
of our business expansion. Our success formula in maintaining
the best possible people portfolio is:

BAVRETA) EXBEROZLE N - K4
FREANBERESOMARZ

People are our core foundation

BLA B A

Respect
BE

RECOGNITIONS, ACCREDITATIONS AND
CERTIFICATIONS

As a leading manufacturer in industrial electronics, the Group
adopted a progressive approach in its management. With its
long-term endeavours, the Group has complied with various
international standards to stay competitive in the industry and
enhance credibility through third-party accreditation. Certifications
and membership include:

° IPC Association Connecting Electronics Industries Member
° ISO 9001 Quality Management System

o ISO 13485 Quality Management System for Medical Devices

° IATF 16949 Quality Management System for Automotive
Industry

o ISO 45001 Occupational Health and Safety Management
System

° ISO 14001 Environmental Management System

° ISO 27001 Information Security Management System

Development
BR

B AEREE

ERTIXEFERALLER  SEELEE
2 LEmkE ERRHNEN  sIAZERRE
BE . ARFBITERFES  LRBF =R
EXREREE EENGEERERE

o |IPCEIBRETFIXHEREEE
o ISO Q001 E EEEEER
. ISO 13485 B FEEZME S BRI R

o IATF 169498 A E M R ABBRSHE =

EEER

o ISO 45001 Bt ¥ EM L2 EE RS

o ISO 14001 IRIEEIRER

ISO 27001 B L2 BB R
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° TUV Certified Manufacturing Facility

° UL1446 Electrical Insulation System

° UL Traceability Requirement for Printed Circuit Board
Assemblies (Category ZPVI2)

° CCC Product Safety Certification

° UL High Technology Equipment Subassemblies (Category

VZQC2)

The year of 2019 marked a significant milestone for the
development of the Group. The Group’s continuous and
long-term efforts in pursuing excellence in quality assurance,
technology innovation, social responsibility and service qualities
were recognised by national and global institutions.

B HERERA®RSE

o  TUVETILRHEMRE
o UL14464E 5 M B R4

o ULHIRIEERAIFEHER (ZPVI2SEHI)

* CCCEmZTHRRARE

o ULERIREAENE (VZQc24E7))

019F BREERENEERIER - EERIE
kel RMELDERE RWAF HE88
ERRBEERHENEHSCE - HEXENE
ZREFZMEREENRA -

Date H Awards/Recognition 318 T Awarding Bodies fEZ#1&

April 2019 Certificate of Industry 4.0 Maturity — level 1i Hong Kong Productivity Council

201944 A maturity Fraunhofer Institute of Production Technology

TEAOKNAERAEES — 1IRKAE IPT

EREENRER
RS R EREERMATA

May 2019 2018 Award for Emerging Industry Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay

20194%5A 201 8% B A 48 Area Financial Forum — The 7th “Top 100 HK”
Award Presentation Ceremony
BERNEESHGRE —FLtE[BEER] B
2

July 2019 Customer Excellence Award - Epicor Software Corporation

2019%7H Epicor donated US$500 to Children’s Epicor # i8N A

Thalassaemia Foundation on behalf of the
Group

PRS-

Epicorft & A &)

G B M52 E RS BIE500%E T

HEED
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CHALLENGES AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

The Group unswervingly takes the path of sustainable
development. It dedicates to continuously improving its
environmental performance and creating opportunities for
community investment. In the next 3 to 5 years, the strategic
goals of the Group are to drive 5 to 10% improvement in key
performance indicators, to raise employees’ awareness through
strengthened educations, enabling its employees to develop a
conscious mindset towards ESG and take actions that aligned
to the concept of ESG.

As an electronics manufacturer, the Group is aware of the
negative impacts brought by US-China trade tensions, Brexit
and prolonged global economic and geopolitical uncertainties.
During the reporting period, the trade conflict dampened the
sales in the US regions and customers in Europe deferred certain
product launch due to the uncertainties about the Brexit process.
In the face of gloomy market outlook, the management of the
Group has implemented more prudent measures to tackle with
the uncertainties which include to:

1. optimise working capital;

2. maintain healthy liquidity position;

3.  promote the application of high technology and encourage
innovation;

4. nurture various talents and encourage continuing education;
and

5. strengthen communication and enhance business
cooperation with customers, suppliers, and bankers.

The new European teams in Germany and Ireland are believed
to be able to create a positive momentum to the Group’s
technological innovation and business development in the
long run. More importantly, the new production base, which
incorporates the concept of smart factory and digitalisation, will
enhance the production efficiency and provide the Group with
more capacities to cater for large volume production on high
value and heavy-duty product series.
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ENVIRONMENTAL

Sources of emissions the Group involved during the
reporting period included natural gas, petrol, diesel,
refrigerant, electricity, paper, water and business air travel.

The Group is in strict compliance with the national standards
and regulations relating to environmental protection,
including but not limited to:

o Emission Limits of Air Pollutants (DB44/27-2001) of
Guangdong Province;

° Emission Standard of Cooking Fume (GB 18483-2001);

° Discharge Limits of Water Pollutants (DB44/26-2001)
of Guangdong Province;

o Law of the PRC on Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste; and

o Environmental Protection Tax Law of the PRC.

With its compliance to the ISO 14001 standard, the
environment factors identification and control procedure, and
the environmental management plan have been developed
by the Group. It has a comprehensive management system
to continuously improve its environmental standards and
performances. There was no major non-compliance relating
to air and greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste.

The Group has obtained all necessary discharge permits,
installed electrostatic precipitators, carbon adsorption
systems, grease trap and on-site wastewater treatment
facility to control emissions and discharge. Meanwhile,
the Group is preparing for the new licencing system of
national-level pollutant discharge permit, given that the
application for provincial-level pollutant discharge permits
has no longer been accepted in Guangdong since August
2019.

B HERERA®RSE
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The Group keeps track of the effectiveness of the wastewater
treatment facility. It has allocated resources to monitor and
improve the performance of the wastewater treatment facility
so as to improve the quality of effluent. The management of the
wastewater treatment facility was outsourced to a professional
environmental engineering company. The engineering company is
responsible for the routine inspection, maintenance of microbes
and stable operation of the wastewater treatment plant. During
the reporting period, the treated effluent met the permitted
discharge limits as set out in the statutory effluent discharge
standard.

A1. Emissions

A1.1 Air Emissions
During the reporting period, employees and guests
consumed petrol and diesel for Group-owned vehicles and
natural gas for canteen operation, which contributed to the
emission of nitrogen oxides (“NO,”), sulphur oxides (*S0,”)
and respiratory suspended particles (“RSP”).

SEFEEBHTKEIEREEO N - CHEE
IRER RN EISKEERBANEE - INIRSE
KB E - REIESKEERBINIGEEED
RETEQAERE  BHESTKEERNERR
T MAEYNEE RIREERE - EREHA
B IZ 1R M RE/K & 1A TE BEKBEMUS AT IR E /Y
FFATEEAR(E »

Al. B

A1.1 =R
EREHN  EERERTRSERES
mAER TR RER  URNEREREM
HAXRAR  EL£AALVNO) - iR
1£¥(80,) K AT R A SR F KL F (“RSP”) ©

Air emissions (non-GHG) from stationary and mobile combustion

EEMBHRBRELINZRSER GERERRE)

Fuel Source Use of fuel NO,_ (in kg) RSP (in kg) SO, (in kg)
AELY TRABEHTF &y
BRELRR R R E (F=) (F=) (F=)
Natural gas K#AS | For canteen operation RE &i& 5.99 N/A 0.03
Petrol 3 )H For vehicles E#j 7.04 0.69 0.28
Diesel 4¢)H 14.95 0.27 0.02
TOTAL #E 27.98 0.96 0.33
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A1.2 Greenhouse Gas Emissions

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE  HEREAERSE

Al.2 BERBEHER
Emission
(in tonnes of

carbon dioxide Total
Emission equivalent Emission
Scope of GHG Emissions Sources “tCO02eq”) Percentage
B
(W =& 1L bz BHEME
BERBBEREE HERRIR HEHER) (B2tk)
Scope 1 Direct Emission
HEAEEHER
Combustion of fuel for stationary source Natural gas
BREHAE (EEIR) RAR 79.63 11%
Combustion of fuel for mobile sources Petrol
REHRGE CRENIR) VU 51.14
Diesel
g5 4.20
Refrigerants 2% 7 311.70
Scope 2 Energy Indirect Emission
IR 28R BB
Purchased electricity fEEE 3773.94 88%
Purchased natural gas BEBE RXAR 17.59
Scope 3 Other Indirect Emission
RS H fth B EHE
Electricity used for freshwater processing FRAKERIENE 37.95 1% g
By
Electricity used for sewage processing FRI5/KERIEHE /) 19.29 3
el
Business air travel R RITHKIZ 1.24 ;iﬁ
Total #%F 4,296.68 100% e
"3
=
Note 1: Emission factors were made by reference to Appendix 27 to the  Note 1: BB AN - N RBIILBEER S REEMN Z
BRAFZ ER ETRAIM =+t REEE m

Listing Rules and their referred documentation as set out by the
Stock Exchange, unless stated otherwise.

[k

Note 2: EHBEIAMEEREFEEE NABEABRIERAR
0.54ME — AL EE IEREFE

Note 2: Combined margin emission factor of 0.54 tCO,/MWh was used for
purchased electricity in Guangdong Province of the PRC.

EREEAN - NEE R E ) HE £4,206.68
WS b g 2 (BEEE B0.19 —E/b ik
B2/ FHK) - ZEHmRWA=-SHK  F
i —Et—BMEaRtEY  BEE—WRE
HAFELE - HERE T PEA19% ©

The Group’s activities contributed to 4,296.68 tCO,eq
(emission intensity of 0.19 tCO,eq/m?) (mainly carbon
dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide and hydrofluorocarbons)
emission during the reporting period, representing a
decrease of approximately 19% over the last reporting
period.
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A1.3.Hazardous Waste

A3 EEEEY

Hazardous Waste generated in FY2019 20195 i BN EFEELA N ESEEY

Percentage

of Waste

Generated

Type of Hazardous Wastes by Type
BEERYE

BEBREYER (B2t)
Thinner MR 48%
Activated carbon V& R 24%
Emulsifier R 12%
Alcohol and oil-containing fabric ESBRE - RAREM 5%
Oil-containing waste and filter MBS - BN 5%
Lubricating oil 1 ek 2%
Metal containers for thinner and paint SRR - HRME R 2%
Fluorescent lamp HE 2%

The Group generated a total of 4.19 tonnes of hazardous
waste (0.18 kg/m?), including organic solvent and waste,
emulsifier waste and alcohol and oil-containing waste. The
major hazardous wastes generated by the Group were
thinner, activated carbon and emulsifier which were used
for cleaning of electronic products, treatment of emissions
and operation of air compression equipment respectively.
Hazardous wastes labelled with proper signage were stored
in hazardous waste containers and collected by licensed
collectors twice a year.

A1.4.Non-hazardous Waste
The Group generated a total of 61.66 tonnes (2.69 kg/m?) of
domestic waste which was mainly composed of food waste
generated from the canteen operation. All food waste was
collected by villagers to use as fish feeds. Other recyclable
materials (including waste packaging and raw materials)
were collected either by recyclers or suppliers.

NEBMEEAIAMMEEZEZEY (0182 T,/
ERHK) BREERSBEIREY  BIERR
SIS RREY TENEEEREMARE
B OREMERFMECE . DRBRREXRETFE
o BERUR M BN EETT  EEEEY
RERNEBEEEEVRSN  THEFRKEES
FUTERX ©

A14.EEEEY
ANEBE L EA61.660 (26987, FH
K)ATEEY  TEREREARENEG -
FrEE#HBNREKERLA - Hi AT D
KR (BREBEENBREDHFEMR)
F [0 45 7 ok FE R Tl U o
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A1.5.Measures to Mitigate Emissions

The Group endeavours to identify sources of high-energy
consumption, material consumption and environmental
pollution in its plant and implement measures for
improvement, ensuring compliance with the Cleaner
Production Promotion Law of the PRC.

To control the emission of oily fumes and cooking odour
generated during canteen operation, a new electrostatic
precipitator facility has been installed since October 2019
to replace the old treatment facility which has been used
for several years.

As to the construction works for new production base,
the Group conducts regular site inspections to ensures
adequate dust suppression measures are implemented
throughout the construction cycle. Mitigation measures
adopted to reduce dust level include:

o operation of water sprinkler system to avoid dispersion
of construction dust out of working areas

o erection of temporary hoarding at the site boundary

° application of water spaying to exposed earth

o provision of vehicle-washing facility at designated
vehicle exit point to remove dusty materials from
vehicles’ body and wheels immediately before leaving
the construction site

° installation of dust measuring devices for real-time
dust monitoring

Apart from the stringent control on oily fume and
construction dust emission, the Group acknowledges that
its major source of GHG emission was purchased electricity.
The Group closely monitors its electricity consumption and
implements efficient energy use initiatives as described
in the below sections. GHG emissions from purchased
electricity and town gas had been reduced by 19% and
24%, respectively when compared to the last reporting
period. The Group also keeps track of employees’ business
air travels and avoids travelling by air whenever possible to
reduce GHG emissions from travels. GHG emissions from
travels had been reduced by 22% when compared to the
last reporting period.

B HERERA®RSE
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A1.6.Waste Reduction and Initiatives

The Group aims to reduce generation of hazardous
waste through upgrading technologies and minimising
non-hazardous waste generation (mainly paper and food
waste) at source whenever possible. It also promotes
the reuse and recycling of waste arisen from the new
construction site to further minimise construction and
demolition waste.

Reducing Paper Waste

The Group distributed paper according to the monthly paper
consumption of different divisions/departments with registered
record. A total of 5.85 tonnes of paper had been used for daily
office operation such as printing of documents, contracts, order
forms, technical drawings and meeting notes. Waste paper has
been recycled thus the consumption of paper did not contribute
to GHG emission due to paper disposal at landfills. The Group
reduced paper consumption by:

° Developing management software to support establishment
of a paperless office;

° Using recycled paper;
° Adopting double-sided printing;

° Maintaining printers, copiers, and fax machines to avoid
wastage of paper due to poor printing quality; and

° Setting up wastepaper recycling bin to minimise disposal
at landfill

Office waste paper involving confidential information was
shredded and disposed of. Only waste paper packaging materials
were collected by licensed recyclers for recycling. During the
reporting period, a total of 221 tonnes of paper had been
recycled, which contributed to a reduction of 1062.84 tCO,eq.

Reducing Waste from Canteen

In the canteen operation, the Group banned the use of disposable
tableware and managed canteen food purchase through the
self-developed system. Employees must order their meals
through the digital ordering system which enables preparation
of meals based on the received orders. Employees can also
order meals according to their needs to avoid food wastage at
source. The Group had not separately recorded the total amount
of food waste generated or reduced, therefore results achieved
from reducing canteen waste were not available.
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Use of Resources

Reducing energy use, reducing resources consumption and
enhancing utilisation are the Group’s principles in managing
its use of resources. The Group has a management
policy regarding the use of energy and resources such as
electricity, natural gas, petrol, water and paper.

Energy Consumption

B HERERA®RSE

A2. BRFEHR
AEEEREEREANFHE : BAER
A BLERER ReMAX K&
BEHETHER SEAWERMER (10
BN RKAR - AR KNESE) BEF
)Eﬁ °

A2.1.BETRE #E

Direct Consumption

Energy Consumption Sources Consumption (in kWh)
SHFE

RERHFERIR HEHE (FERE)
Electricity BN 6,961,070 kWh T F B 6,961,070
Natural gas KAR 31,190 m® 3 77K 308,222
Petrol YU 18,972 L AFF 168,123
Diesel 4o 1,517 L AF 15,167

The total energy consumed by the Group was 7,453
MWh (2018:7,981 MWh) during the reporting period.
The administration department keeps track of its energy
consumption and informs responsible divisions/departments
if abnormal consumption is found. In particular, electricity
and natural gas consumption for its manufacturing and
canteen operation are closely monitored. The electricity
and natural gas consumption intensities were 304 kWh/m?
and 1.36 m%/m? respectively, reduced by 6% and 20% as
compared to the last reporting period.

A2.2.Water Consumption

The Group consumed freshwater supplied by the municipal
freshwater supplier. Water is mainly consumed for domestic
use and the canteen operation. Water consumption of the
Group during the reporting period was 93,971 m? (water
consumption intensity of 4.10 m%/m?2). There was no issue
in sourcing water that is fit for purpose.

A2.3.Energy Use Efficiency Initiatives

The administration department, the electrical and
mechanical technicians and the logistic department have
been working together to avoid wastage of fuel due to
malfunctioned or deteriorated equipment, generators and
vehicles. The Group tests pipelines against leakage with
infrared laser detection. There were no quality issues
reported on the natural gas pipelines and equipment during
the reporting period.

EREHAN - NEELFEREIRT, 453K FLEF
(2018 : 7,981k L) - TR BFFI & 25 1) 26 Mt
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The Group controlled lightings and temperature of air
conditioners to reduce electricity consumption; and used
evaporative coolers rather than air conditioners in the
canteen. An electricity monitoring system had been installed
to achieve centralised collections of real-time electricity
consumption, voltage, current and frequency and identify
abnormalities in the earliest stage. Monthly data was
monitored, reviewed and analysed regularly to explore
further energy saving possibilities, wherever necessary,
perform maintenance work. Moreover, LED lightings with
higher efficiency had been installed to cut down electricity
consumption.

A2.4.Water Use Efficiency Initiatives

The Group encourages water conservation and reduces
water wastage through inspections and maintenance of the
water supply network. In response to the Guangzhou Water
Management Plan developed by the government, the Group
negotiated with the water suppler and agreed to maintain
its monthly water consumption within the limit of 10,943 m3.
To achieve such target, the Group adopted water-saving
initiatives which include but not limited to:

o Assigning designated person to develop water
consumption and management plans, and assigning
responsibilities to internal inspection bodies;

° Installing water sub-meters at various production units
to monitor water consumption more effectively;

o Recording daily water usage pertaining to production,
fire service and canteen operation; and analysing the
usage pattern by referencing historical data;

° Strengthening inspection of water supply equipment
and pipe network, and replacing aging pipes;

o Promoting the use of water efficient equipment and
appliances; and

° Launching promotion and education programmes
regarding water conservation.
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A2.5.Packaging Materials

AS3.

A3.1

Type of Packaging Materials

B HERERA®RSE

A2.5. 85 ¥

Percentage of
Consumption
by Type

(in percentage)

‘BN BER EMEAE (BEo)
Paper 4 75%
Wood N 12%
Plastic BE 7%
Sponge sk 6%
With its customers’ agreement, the Group adopts KEFEE AEERARRBEME 215

eco-friendly packaging materials, which include carton
boxes and wooden boxes that are made of recycled
materials. During the reporting period, the Group had
consumed a total of 625 tonnes of paper, wooden crates,
cushioning sponge, plastic blisters and plastic bags for
products packaging (consumption intensity of 0.03 tonnes/
m2).

The Environment and Natural Resources

.Significant Impacts of Activities on the Environment

Partnering with the professional environmental engineering
company, the Group has continuously employed advanced
technology for discharge water monitoring. A technician
from the environmental engineering company has also
stationed at the plant to monitor wastewater quality, ensure
discharge compliance and to provide emergency support
and technical assistance. The Group will continue to pursue
better environmental performance and to explore every
possibility to advance its environmental management so
as to reduce adverse environmental impacts caused by its
business operation.

The construction site for new production base has
demonstrated compliance with the Measures for the
Administration of Recordation of Registration Forms of
Environmental Impact of Construction Projects; in which
no violations were found during the reporting period. The
Group is also committed to the efficient use of leftover
building materials to minimise potential wastes.
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B1.

Wastewater generated from building construction activities
has undergone primary treatment in the on-site sewage
treatment facility prior to the further treatments in Panyu
Dongchong Industrial Sewage Treatment Plant. Wastewater
generated from foundation pit excavation and wheel wash
bay, after undergoing primary sedimentation, is recycled for
cleansing of working area and washing of vehicle wheel to
minimise discharge. The main contractor also schedules
construction programme and avoids soil excavation work
during rainstorms to prevent soil erosion.

SOCIAL

Employment and Labour Practices

The Group regards human resources (“HR”) as its most
valuable asset. It aims to provide staff with a workplace
that is free of discrimination and harassment, at the same
time emphasises diversity, health and safety. Moreover,
through HR policies, employee welfare, on-the-job training
and related activities, the Group unites employees from
different provinces. It also enhances their cohesiveness and
their sense of belongings to pursue and achieve the visions
and missions of the Group.

Employment

The Group abides by all applicable laws and regulations
in the PRC in relation to employment during the reporting
period, including but not limited to:

. Labour Law of the PRC;

° Labour Contract Law of the PRC; and

° Social Insurance Law of the PRC.

Total Employees and Turnover

The Group had a total number of 1,612 employees in the
PRC as of 31 December 2019, in which all employees

were on full-time basis. The total employees in the PRC by
gender, age, and grade are shown below:
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Distribution of employees by gender Distribution of employees by age
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A total of 785 employees left the Group in the reporting WEHA - KA78SREERR (AR
period (average turnover rate: 3.83%1). KT AE3.83%") °
The average turnover rate is calculated by averaging the monthly turnover FHREAEERBE2FTAMKENBIERTE T
rates. Monthly turnover rate is calculated by number of employees who left B - BARKENHAEFTAZE BRI AGEBBES A
the Group in a specific month/total number of employees in the previous 58— EAANEEBE100% - ABKH—EA
month*100%. Employees who leave the Group within a month are not counted. EEBNES - BITFEER -
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The average turnover rate reduced by approximately 1.3 B F—REBMAL - FERARTRY
percentage point compared to that of last reporting period. 13EBE DR - TROREZHNERAT
The reduction was attributable to the employment of local BAT AP - A K2019F F B &
workers within the communities and the stable supply ERBSEMEE NS HERET - ;S5
of workers in the local labour market due to subdued RN AEBRFITHAR T ERENEHIA
economic conditions in China in 2019. During the reporting BEAT °

period, the Group reviewed and adjusted the employees’

salaries to retain talents.

Turnover Rate by Gender

(in percentage)
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Strategic Talent Centre (“STC”)

As stated in “Management Discussion and Analysis” section
of this annual report, HK$11.3 million of the net proceeds
will be used to establish a STC in Guangzhou City of
the PRC. On 25 October 2019, the Board resolved to
change the use of the remaining unutilised net proceeds
for the establishment of the STC from HK$11.3 million to
HK$6.3 million. Please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 25 October 2019 for more details. The
purpose of the STC is to recruit high calibre personnel
such as engineers, IT technicians, procurement specialists,
accountants and internal auditors. The STC has come into
operations since fourth quarter of 2017 and there were 14
employees working at the STC as at 31 December 2019 to
engage in strategic purchasing, software development and
enhancement. The management of the Group will continue
to recruit talents of necessary level and number at the STC
for providing various value-added supports to the Group.

Competitive Compensation and Benefits Package
The Group provides competitive compensation and benefits
to employees. The regular working hours are 40 hours per
week, with agreed overtime compensation pay as stated
in the employee handbook and the HR management
policy. Salary adjustment is performed annually according
to the financial results of the Group, work performance
of individual employee and the market trend. Frontline
staff of the Plant working in the Group for three months
or above are entitled to monthly financial reward, which
will be raised with increasing period of service. The Group
provides social insurance, subsidies, holidays and other
welfare according to the statutory requirement. Employees
are entitled to casual leave, annual leave, marriage leave,
maternity leave, paternity leave, lactation break, sick leave
and compassionate leave; and are provided with share
option and subsidised meals, if necessary. The Group also
operates staff canteen which offers employees subsidised
meals of wide variety food options and fruits, and birthday
cakes are treated to employees.
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Employment contract terms are stipulated under the
principles of fairness, voluntarism, mutual consent, integrity
and credibility. Any employee leaving the Group shall
provide a 30-day written notice (3-day notice for employees
in probationary period) as a formal process to terminate the
employment contract with the Group. The employee will
be provided with certification of resignation after carrying
out the handover and resignation procedures according
to the employee handbook and the Labour Contract Law
of the PRC. To protect legitimate rights and interests of
employees, the Group has also set up a labour union. The
Group constantly reviews employee benefits and welfare,
employment handbook and employment contract with
labour union and the Worker’s Representative Congress.

No material non-compliance in relation to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods and other benefits and welfare was recorded
during the reporting period.

Equal Opportunity

The Group treats its people with respect, fairness and
understanding. When there is a job vacancy, the Group
recruits internally before recruiting externally. Recruitment
process is carried out according to the Group’s regulations
on employee recruitment management. The Group
provides equal opportunities for employees in respect of
recruitment, job advancement, training and development,
etc. Employees are not discriminated against or deprived
of such opportunities because of race, nationality, religion,
physical condition, disability, gender, pregnancy, sexual
orientation, political status, age and any other discrimination
prohibited by applicable law. Employees shall not act in
discriminatory manner or they can be subject to disciplinary
actions. No material non-compliance in relation to relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Group regarding equal opportunity, diversity and
anti-discrimination was recorded during the reporting
period.
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Employee Relations

The Group believes that strong communication is a
prerequisite for sound and effective management.
Regular communication at different levels is maintained
in accordance with the Group’s guideline for standardised
communication management. The guideline assists new
employees adapting to the work environment, existing
employees acquiring adequate support and the Group
gaining feedback and suggestions from departing
employees.

The Group has set up message box to collect opinions
from employees and has constantly reviewed the employee
benefits and employee handbook. A WeChat Work account
had also established to maintain connections and cohesions
of staff from different levels, divisions and departments.
The Group communicates with 100% of all types of
employee categories (new employees, existing employees
and departing employees). Channels of standardised
communication include trainings, individual and group
interviews and phone calls. Adequacy of communication is
examined through random sampling surveys and interviews.
The sampling or interview rate was 86% in the reporting
period.

To celebrate Trio’s 35th Anniversary, the Group held a
gala dinner and a wide variety of celebration events that
rewarded employees for their valuable contributions to the
Group. During the reporting period, Panyu Trio Microtronics
Co., Ltd., a principal subsidiary of the Company in the
PRC, organised activities such as tug-of-war games,
team building activities and sightseeing tours to promote
employees’ sense of belonging. The Group also offered a
one-off reward of RMB 3,000 to an employee from Quality
Control Department, recognising his heroic act of saving
lives of drowning people. The news was widely reported
in the media.

Trio Engineering Company Limited (“Trio Engineering”),
a principal subsidiary of the Company in Hong Kong, also
encourages sport participation. Three staff representatives
took part in the 10-km race in Standard Chartered Hong
Kong Marathon 2019 in February 2019. Employees have
also participated in a terrarium workshop organised by a
not-for-profit organisation, S.K.H. Holy Carpenter Church
Community Centre, in November 2019.
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B2. Employee Health and Safety B2. EERERZZ

Safe and healthy working environment is vital for employees
— not only does it reduce injury and illness, but also
raises employee morale and productivity. With the OHSAS
18000 certification, the Group has established standardised
procedures for its occupational health and safety system
pertaining to hazard identification, risk assessment and
risk control. Employees engaged in operations exposing
to high occupational hazards have undergone periodic
occupational health assessments and their health records
are well-maintained. Personal protective equipment (“PPE”)
is provided by the Group and employees are only allowed to
enter the production area when all necessary PPE has been
put on. All results from the annual occupational hazards and
risk factors assessment have met the required standards
and no material non-compliance in relation to laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group
regarding occupational health and safety was recorded
during reporting period.

The Group gives special attention to fire hazards in the
workplace. An on-site fire station has been set up to
provide prompt support to fire accidents. Fire safety is also
ensured through regular fire drills, fire safety trainings and
maintenance of electrical and fire equipment, of which all
the goals have been achieved. During the reporting period,
two fire drills were held. Employees were able to evacuate
within two minutes and to use various types of fire-fighting
equipment from past drill experiences.

Activated carbon is regularly replaced to maintain its active
property for air purification and removal of air pollutants.
Chemical substances are properly controlled over storage,
usage and disposal. Chemicals used in the manufacturing
process are temporarily stored at storage zones specifically
defined in the warehouse, wherein secured double locking
system is adopted, and access is restricted to authorised
management personnel or warehouse workers who
had obtained valid certificates. Hazardous waste, with
precautions, are securely stored at well-ventilated storage
rooms, in which each container is correctly and clearly
labelled with the name of chemical and type of hazard.
The storage room is paved with concrete and provides with
secondary containment that hold and prevent any spills or
leaks of chemicals from reaching the environment.
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Occupational Health and Safety Statistics in FY2019 2019 M EERERER T2 HE

Work related fatality

Work injury cases >3 days
Work injury cases <3 days
Lost days due to work injury

The 14 work injury cases in the reporting period were
all minor injuries. In response to the injury cases, the
Group has analysed cause of the injuries and developed
corresponding measures to avoid reoccurrence.

Food Health and Safety

The Group follows its own regulations regarding canteen
management, hygiene and safety management to ensure
that food served in the canteen is of high quality and
is safe to eat. It only purchases food materials that are
fresh, hygienic, clean and in compliance with all applicable
national standards and regulations. Samples of each dish,
rice and soup are kept 48 hours every day for record and
testing if necessary. Food premises are sanitised regularly
and inspected every day. There were no complaints
regarding food quality in the reporting period.

Development and Training

People are the most treasurable assets of the Group.
Investing in people is one of the Group’s focuses and a
key factor sustaining to the Group’s continuous growth.
The Group therefore provides comprehensive training and
development opportunities to its employees:

a.  Orientation training — To familiarise employees with
the Group’s objectives, culture, rules and regulations,
safety and product-related knowledge on the first day
of employment;

b. Pre-job training — To enable new employees or
transferred employees to familiarise with their new
duties;

(oF Reinforcement training — To ensure employees
participate in continuous personal, vocational and
other technical skills development and maintain their
professional competence; and

d. Key operation training — To ensure designated
employees obtained permits (through examinations)
before performing key operations.
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The Group supports continuous improvement of skills and
employment prospects of employees. It arranges internal
training, external training and development programs
according to needs of employees, which are analysed and
identified annually by individual departments/divisions. Apart
from classroom trainings, e-learning platform is also in place
to cater for different needs of employees. Training courses
including PRINCE2 project management training, agile
project management training and Kaizen Database training
were organised. The training targets and performances are
monitored and evaluated from time to time and therefore
maximising the growth of its people.

During the reporting period, 95% employees of the Group
received trainings, the average training hours per employee
were 12.14 hours per employee respectively. The table
below illustrates the training and development statistics of
the Group.

Training and Development
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Statistics in FY2019

2019F M ESZ IR BEA T BE

Total number of employees
Total training hours

Percentage of employees trained by Gender

- Male
— Female
Percentage of employees trained by
employment category
— Senior management
— Middle management
— Frontline and other employees
Average training hours completed per
employee by gender
- Male
— Female
Average training hours completed per
employee by employee category
— Senior management
— Middle management
— Frontline and other employees

BiEE AE 1,613
48 5| By B 18,685
FIEEBSL - BMERE

_ B 95%

_ A 96%
FIEERSL  REEERIF

- BREEE 95%

- hREEE 94%

- IR EMIEE 95%
SEEFIIZIEE - BRI

- B 9.76

- % 12.77
SEEFHZIGE - RESERG

-EREEE 9.32

-HPREERE 8.79

- IR HEMES 11.71

117 TRIOINDUSTRIAL ELECTRONICS GROUP LIMITED |B{ 2 T2 EFEEAR AR



B4.

B5.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Labour Standards

The Group attaches great importance to labour rights and
interests of its people and has implemented a set of clearly
written procedures that address customers’ concerns
on labour right protection. The Group demonstrated
compliances with the employment contract, the Group’s
regulations and policies, the Labour Law and other related
national laws of the PRC; there was no child labour nor
forced labour employed in the Group during the reporting
period.

The job application requirement specifies that job applicants
must be at least 18 years old. The HR system would limit
and restrict data entry of personal information of applicants.
To ensure that job applicants can meet the age requirement,
the identities of job applicants are verified against their valid
identity documents, relevant permits and certificates. The
HR department is required to carry out background checks
to authenticate information provided by job applicants and
is required to fill in forms that confirm hired employees have
met the age requirement. No non-compliance in relation to
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group regarding prevention of child and forced labour was
recorded during reporting period.

Operating Practices

The Group places highest regards to integrity and
professional ethics. It operates in an honest, accountable
and fair manner which offers safe, reliable and quality
products. On the other hand, the Group devotes to
strengthening social solidarity through community service
and charity.

Supply Chain Management

Equipment or materials are purchased based on
specifications, quality and safety performance of
equipment, reputation, after-sales service and delivery time
of the supplier. The Group has developed a comprehensive
supplier assessment system to effectively and efficiently
evaluate suppliers along different dimensions. It selects
qualified suppliers according to product specifications,
product compliances, production management, quality
management, environmental management and corporate
social responsibility. Qualified suppliers shall ensure
that all the goods delivered are free of defects and
non-conformities; and that they are produced in line with
the provisions laid out in the quality assurance agreement.
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The Group, also, pays close attention to the environmental
impacts and occupational safety management of its
suppliers. In particular, the Group encourages suppliers to
develop towards the ISO 14001 and ISO 45001 systems.
For specific goods, suppliers are required to maintain full
compliances with respect to RoHS and REACH regulations
during the manufacturing process. To verify and ensure
compliance, the Group requires all approved suppliers to
submit relevant documents and conducts factory audit
when necessary.

When choosing energy- or water-consuming equipment,
the Group places preferences to energy efficient and
water-saving equipment according to its management
policy on energy and resources use. During the reporting
period, the Group had sourced its major materials from 771
suppliers of the following geographical regions?.

REBENZETEHERNIRETZER
BEL2ER  LHEBEERSIAISO
14001 XISO 45001 R EER - R
BEMm HENTRERREPNETS
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Distribution of Suppliers by Geographical Regions

wiE D MR EE D

Singapore
e
3%
Taiwan

A=
=75

4%
us

ESE
6%
UK

[

31%
Hong Kong

&

Other geographical regions include suppliers (less than 1% each) in South
Korea, Ireland, Malaysia, Italy, Thailand, Denmark, Japan, India, Spain, the
Netherlands, Australia and Philippines.

1%
France
EE
5%
Others
EHAth

46%
Mainland China
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Product Responsibility

Product Assurance and Recall

The Group sets high standards for ensuring product quality
and reliability, strictly follows all required manufacturing
processes and actively implements quality inspection
system. Product quality is controlled and managed through
laboratory tests, RoHS Directive spectrum inspections,
automatic optical inspections, burn-in tests, and unit under
tests, etc. Products and its incoming components are
assessed of conformity with various requirements for not
less than three times. Quality control personnel undergo
a 3-tier quality control process — incoming, in-process
and out-going quality control to assure that the quality
of incoming materials, intermediate products and final
products adheres to the criteria and meets the requirements
of the client.

Industry 4.0 Certification

The Group places the greatest emphasis on improving
its production process and enhancing quality control
capability. During the reporting period, the concept of smart
manufacturing has successfully driven the Group towards
a higher position, thereby gaining a stronger foothold in
the EMS industry. In April 2019, the Group, is awarded the
Certificate of Industry 4.0 level 1i Maturity Recognition by
the Hong Kong Productivity Council and the Fraunhofer
Institute of Production Technology IPT of Germany. The
achievement of level 1i maturity of Industry 4.0 has
recognised the Group’s long-term endeavours in quality
assurance, technology innovation, system development and
applications. In addition, it testifies the Group’s capability
in real time information generation including business
operations, production and logistics.

Customer Service and Product Recall

The Group devotes to building and growing long-term
sustainability relationships with its clients. It has developed
a holistic complaint management approach to handle
and resolve customer complaints more speedily.
Complaints received by the marketing department are
promptly forwarded to respective departments/divisions for
follow-ups. Upon receipt of complaints, the Group responds
in 24 hours, performs 8D problem-solving analysis exercise
and provides 8D analysis reports to complainant within 7
working days.
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The detailed 8D problem-solving method adopted in the ARERR PR 8D EEAE]
customer complaint handling procedure is illustrated as B TEMR :
follows:

Implementation and
Problem description verification interim
Jt e aE containment actions

Root Cause Analysis
of the Problem

Establishment of
Task Force Team

M EE /M

Btk AEE

Bl im ETHE

D8

Team Recognition
Launching of product
after undergoing
quality improvement
and verification
RAEE/NEANERL ©
RESUENRER
HHEM

Formulation and
Validation of Permanent
Corrective Action

HEREEKAH R

Implementation of Implementation of
Preventive measures Permanent
and Standardization Corrective Action

REVFRBS E AR L DT ERERARE

HERA - NEE KW EIS3EHRF - A
REF & ABDR AR R AR IR - WA T A
EfTBMIEREE - REHR - REAR
Z2RRFERAMEBRER  ©LBHRE
EREBEMRBENZ2ERER - B
REBMELBATE -

The Group has received 53 complaints during the reporting
period. All complaints had been resolved through 8D
problem-solving method with corrective actions and
preventive measures. There was no product recalled due to
safety and health reasons and no material non-compliance
with laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Group in relation to product health and safety recorded
during the reporting period.
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Intellectual Property Rights

Intellectual property (“IP”) includes trademarks, service
marks, copyrights, rights in inventions, rights in know-how,
etc. The Group highly respects the IP rights owned by
the Group and third-party organisations. The Group has
its own policy on IP rights and has registered patents
and copyrights for its utility models, software and system
inventions. Its IP rights policy was in compliance with
the Enterprise Intellectual Property Management (GB/T
29490-2013), Trademark Law and the Patent Law of
the PRC and regulates implementation, maintenance and
continuous improvement of the Group’s management on
IP rights. It is committed to using third-party licensed
rights and IP assets rightfully without infringement of any
applicable laws and regulations.

For major procurement activities, the administration
department and the procurement department of the
Group investigate and analyse IP rights information of
the procurement material, require suppliers to provide
supporting documents to avoid any breach of IP rights.
Suppliers also have been undertaken the mentioned
procedures by the Group to respect IP rights and act in
accordance with the suppliers’ code of conduct developed
by the Group.

Information Security

To keep information such as financial information, IPs,
employee details or information entrusted to the Group
secure, the Group manages information in a systematic
approach. The Group has developed a policy on customer
property control and a procedure on risk assessment
and control of information assets. During the reporting
period, the Group has been certified with the ISO 27001
Information Security Management System by BSI, in which
recognised the Group’s efficient management of information
security.
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Under the policy on customer property control, customer
property under protection not only includes tangible
properties but also IP rights, personal information and
confidential information. Non-disclosure agreements would
be signed between the Group and customers/business
partners where necessary. To maintain network security,
the Group has set up firewalls, installed anti-virus software
and implemented interactive processing for password
verification. Robust support has been provided for network
and servers involved in major operations. In order to
maintain stable network connection, the Group has built
back-up servers and operation systems as contingency
plan in face of network instability and failures.

The procedure on risk assessment and control of
information assets regulates risk assessment of information
security, identifies level of risks and controls measures to
reduce risks. Information assets include but not limited
to data, document, hardware, software, HR and service,
etc. Potential threats and vulnerabilities of the Group’s
infrastructure and its components have been identified
in the procedure in order to implement respective control
measures and analyse gaps.

There was no loss of customer data and privacy identified
or non-compliance with laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group in relation to customer data
protection and privacy was recorded during the reporting
period.

Advertising and Labelling

The Group has no specific policy in relation to advertising
and labelling of products and services as advertising and
labelling of products and services were considered as
immaterial to the Group’s operation. There was no material
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group regarding advertising
and labelling recorded during the reporting period.
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Anti-corruption

The Group has zero tolerance for bribery and corruption.
According to the Group’s anti-corruption policy, all
employees shall abide by the laws and regulations of the
PRC and shall not engage in any illegal activities. Employees
shall uphold the code of ethics, advocate fair competition
and act against bribery by complying with the rules as
stipulated in the employment handbook and Corporate
Governance Control Policy. Any bribery, fraud, money
laundering and embezzlement are prohibited. Employees
must not accept or request any improper benefits including
banquets, gifts, securities, valuables and high-expenditure
entertainment activities from business partners, suppliers
and merchants, etc.

During the reporting period, the Group was in compliance
with all applicable laws and regulations on prohibiting
corruption and bribery that have a significant impact on the
Company during the reporting period, including the Criminal
Law of the PRC, Anti-unfair Competition Law of the PRC
and the Anti-money Laundering Law of the PRC. There
was no concluded legal case regarding corrupt practices
brought against the Group or its employees during the
reporting period.

Whistleblowing Policy

When there is any alleged case in violation of laws,
regulations, code of conduct or Group’s policies, the
Group will investigate and impose disciplinary actions upon
offenders after verification. Employees are obligated to
report any wrongdoing through the Group’s whistleblowing
hotline.

Ms. Ruby Wan

Company Secretary

Tel: +852 2765 8787

Email: rubywan@trio-ieg.com

Mr. Cheung Kin Wing

Chairman of the Audit Committee
Tel: +852 9126 0624

Email: edwin@trimpf.com

Whistle-blowers are protected from retaliation and their
information will be kept strictly confidential.
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HERE

B8. Community Investment B8.

While pursuing its business development, the Group has
been proactively giving back to society through public
welfare undertakings. It is committed to supporting and
creating values - friendship, care and respect for the
communities where it operates in. During the reporting
period, the Group made contributions to the communities
through multiple channels, such as employee volunteering,
donations, sponsorships and home visits.

Poverty Alleviation

The Group strives to improve living conditions of the local
community. In August 2019, the Group made a charity
donation of a total of RMB30,000 as poverty alleviation
funds to Dongchong Town.

The Group also worked in conjunction with Shiji Village in
tackling unemployment issue. To improve the livelihood
of the residents, the Group joined a poverty alleviation
programme through job creation in Shiji Village; and
eventually hired up to 156 workers during the reporting
period.

Community Care

The Group cares for its local community including the
elderlies, children and farmers in the villages. During the
reporting period, the Group sponsored RMB5,000 for
organising activities to elderly persons in Shiji Village and
donated RMB 5,000 to the Shiji Village Primary School
during the International Children’s Day.
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Voluntary Blood Donation

To discharge corporate social responsibilities, the Group
partnered with a medical institution and initiated a blood
donation activity in Dongchong Town in the reporting
period. A total of 84 employees participated in the blood
donation activity.

Anti-drug Promotion

Invited by the Nansha District Committee on Narcotics
Control, the Group has joined the Narcotics Control
Association since November 2018. The Narcotics Control
Association aims to provide the government assistance
in anti-drug campaigns and promotions, and support
employment of rehabilitation workers.

Home Visit Activity

In November 2019, 6 staff members of the Group in Hong
Kong joined a home visit activity to those residents living
in subdivided flats organised by S.K.H. Holy Carpenter
Church Community Centre and donated HK$10,000 to the
families of the subdivided flats. By reaching out to them,
both residents’ physical and psychological well-being and
neighbourhood cohesion were enhanced.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B EE R &

&

pwec

To the Members of Trio Industrial Electronics Group
Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Trio Industrial Electronics
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 129 to 231, which comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2019;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2019, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
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Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have %ﬁﬁ
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

Key audit matter identified in our audit is related to the net
realisable value assessment of inventories.

Key Audit Matter
BRENEHE

Net realisable value assessment of inventories

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMWETNAEERRETSE

Our procedures in relation to the net realisable value

assessment of inventories included:

Refer to notes 4(b) and 17 to the consolidated e
financial statements.

Understanding, evaluating and testing the key
controls in relation to inventory costing and net

realisable value assessment;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHMEE

Key Audit Matter
BREENER

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has inventories
of HK$145 million, which were stated at lower of cost
and net realisable value.

The determination of net realisable value required
judgement to be made by management on the
estimated selling price, estimated cost to completion
and other cost necessary to make the sale including
but not limited to marketing, selling and distribution
costs.

We focused on this area because of the significance
of the balances and the judgements and estimates
involved.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RPN EST MR EERETSEE

Tested, on a sample basis, whether invoiced costs
for raw materials have been correctly recorded
and that the allocation of directly attributable costs
has been correctly calculated;

Assessed the reasonableness of estimated selling
price determined by management by testing, on
a sample basis, the sales subsequent to the year
end. If subsequent sales were not available, we
compared the estimated selling price against the
most recent selling price prior to the year end and
assessed the impact of recent price trends for
these inventories;

Assessed the reasonableness of (i) the estimated
costs to completion by comparing to the historical
costs to completion and (ii) other costs (including
marketing, selling and distribution) by comparing
to costs incurred in previous years.

We found the judgements and assumptions used by
management in determining the net realisable value of
inventories were supported by available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYBZBMEE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHMEE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section
405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYBZBMEE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHMEE

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Wong Kam Chin.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 23 March 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

metERBEE
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE—ZT—hF+-A=+—HLEFE
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
HiaE FET FET
Revenue Wz 6 808,599 885,971
Cost of sales HEXA 7 (617,546) (667,238)
Gross profit EF 191,053 218,733
Other income, net H U A F 58 6 5,400 5,232
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHER 7 (22,082) (15,302)
Administrative expenses THRX 7 (132,378) (139,487)
Other operating expenses, net Hih &2 F58 7 (5,930) (7,711)
Profit from operations LS H 36,063 61,465
Finance expenses, net S F 5 10 (11,752) (11,826)
Profit before income tax & P15 75 BT 4 24,311 49,639
Income tax expense FriS T X 11 (1,954) (7,261)
Profit for the year F R T 22,357 42,378
Other comprehensive income/(expense) Hahemizs,/ (Bsk)
Items that will not be reclassified REETSEHHHE
subsequently to profit or loss: EmmEA -
Fair value gains on revaluation of BHTHREFHRTEE
land and building, net of tax Iz (F0Fi1%) 630 1,285
Currency translation differences [EH =58 (40) (110)
Other comprehensive income for the year, FREMEEWE (F0FE)
net of tax 590 1,175
Total comprehensive income for the year FARAZEMB LT 22,947 43,553
Earnings per share kAT 12
- Basic and diluted (HK cents) — EARREE CF1) 2.24 4.24

The notes on pages 133 to 231 are an integral part of these £133%
AN

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mEMBEMRRTR
As at 31 December 2019 W=-ZT—IF+=-A=+—H
2019 2018
—B-hfF —FN\F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
it FET FET
Assets BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BENEE 14 58,375 49,614
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 35 21,657 -
Financial assets at fair value WA EFT ABLEED
through profit or loss SREE 15 8,621 6,765
Prepayment AR RIE 19 1,897 1,663
Deferred tax assets EEFTEE E 26 214 -
90,764 58,042
Current assets REBEE
Inventories =7E 17 145,095 189,814
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E b e UG B 18 156,635 106,334
Prepayments and deposits AN FIERIZE 19 18,876 16,689
Restricted bank deposits SRHIRITFER 20 6,186 8,114
Bank and cash balances RIT NI 4Eek 20 97,679 194,580
424,471 515,531
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAFENFIA 21 118,507 181,027
Contract liability AHAaE 5 2,964 3,004
Borrowings B 22 11,852 31,871
Lease liabilities — current HEEE - RY 35 6,597 =
Finance lease payables A EENRIE 23 43 866
Current income tax liabilities BEAFTIS i & 1&E 2,191 1,175
142,154 217,943
Net current assets REBEEFEE 282,317 297,588
Total assets less current liabilities EEHABERABERS 373,081 355,630
Non-current liabilities kREBAE
Lease liabilities — non-current HEEE - FERH 35 16,492 -
Deferred tax liabilities EEFRIBEE 26 4,098 SNESS)
20,590 3,735
Net assets EEFE 352,491 351,895
Equity s
Share capital A% A 24 281,507 281,507
Reserves ke 27 70,984 70,388
Total equity AR 352,491 351,895

The financial statements on pages 129 to 231 were approved
by the Board of Directors on 23 March 2020 and were signed

on its behalf

Lai Yiu Wah
REE

Director

EZE

The notes on pages 133 to 231 are an integral part of these

financial statements.

Tai Leung Lam

B R

Director

EFE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE-Z— NG+ _-_A=+—HILtFE

Currency Share
Share Other  Statutory translation Revaluation option Retained
Note capital reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total
Wit RE  EtRE  iERE  EXBE  EfRE  BRERE  REEA Eh)
HK$'000 HK$7000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FAT FAT FAT FAT FAT
Balance at 1 January 2019 R-E-NG-A-AkH BIST (15060 6077 (MO 20,786 3698 165009 351,805
Revaluation surplus on land and building T3 RiETE (R - - - - 699 - - 699
Tax effect of revaluation surplus EHRERHEYE - - - = (69) - - (69)
Realisation of revaluation surplus, ERERRR (NHE)
net of tax - - - - (692) - 808 116
Currency translation differences EXEE = = = (40) = = = (40)
Contributions by/{distribution to) TRTEENEES
owners of the Company: (BERTEEN LA -
Appropriation of statutory reserve EERERR - - 7,154 - - - (7,154) =
Eaquity-settled share-based payment NEREERRHAER
fransaction DEHE % - - - - - 3,533 - 3,533
Forfeiture of share options RlERE = = = = = (192) 192 -
Profit for the year FRRH - - - - - - 22,357 22,357
Dividends paid EfilRE 13 - - - - - - (26,000) (26,000)
Balance at 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+ZA=T-R
&5 281,507 (125,162) 13,231 (150) 20,724 7,039 155,302 352,491
Balance at 1 January 2018 RoE-\f-A-RkH BIST (125162 6,077 - 0 0 14999 332,564
Revaluation surplus on land and bulding ~ +3t REETE R - - = = 1426 S = 1426
Tax effect of revaluation surplus ERRRHEYE = = = = (141) = = (14)
Realisation of revaluation surplus, ERE[RRR (NHE) ]
net of tax - - - - (672) - 783 M
Currency translation differences EizE = = = (110) = = - (110
Contributions by/[dlstribution to) FRAEEANEES
owners of the Company: (BARAFEA L) :
Equity-settled share-based payment IEREE R AR
transaction SEGRG 2 - - - - - 3,667 - 3,667
Forfeiture of share options RERE > = S = = 0 9 -
Profit for the year EREH = = - - - - 42,378 42,378
Dividends paid EfikE 13 - - - - - - (28,000) (28,000)
Balance at 31 December 2018 RZE-N\§
+-Bt-Bgs BI507 (125162 6077 My 20786 3698 165099 351895

F£133E231AMMERAHBHREN TR 2 E

B e

The notes on pages 133 to 231 are an integral part of these
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERTREBR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—ZT—AF+_-_A=+—HILtFE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZT-N\F
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
k3 FET FEIT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHRERE
Cash (used in)/generated from operations ez (FrA)/ g
Be 30(a) (10,882) 91,417
Finance expenses paid BN BEHAY (13,040) (12,9695)
Income tax paid BEATATEHR (745) (11,545)
Net cash (used in)/generated from KEEE (FTR)/ Az
operating activities REFHE (24,667) 66,907
Cash flows from investing activities BEZTHESHRE
Net decrease/(increase) in restricted SRR HRITER
bank deposits wA/ (Ehn) FEE 1,928 (30)
Bank interest received BUERTTH B 1,245 979
Purchases of property, plant and equipment B E% - BB & EHE (19,302) (13,810)
Purchase of key man insurance BEZERR (1,944) (8,601)
Proceeds from surrender of R EBRBEHFTSFIA
key man insurance - 2,728
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYWE BWELRE
plant and equipment FriS k8 304 -
Settlement on derivative financial PTEemIT ALHE
instruments (2,245) =
Net cash used in investing activities KB EHFTAREFE (20,014) (18,734)
Cash flows from financing activities BREETHHRERE
(Repayments of)/proceeds from borrowings &3 GEFR) Frigsxia 30(b) (20,489) 13,533
Repayments of finance lease payables EEmEHER[HIEA 30(b) (823) (983)
Dividends paid ERRE (26,000) (28,000)
Principal elements of lease payments HENFKHESH D 30(b) (5,355) =
Net cash used in financing activities MEEHATAIR S H5E (52,667) (15,450)
Net (decrease)/ increase in cash and cash IH&KIEEZHEY
equivalents (), & hnFae (97,348) 32,723
Effect of foreign currency rate changes HNHE T A S B A RS 2 (50) (113)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—A—HBREE X
WEEBY 194,236 161,626
Cash and cash equivalents at R+=-—A=+—HWRE
31 December REEZEEY 96,838 194,236
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents BHERAEELZEYHH
Time deposits up to three months ABH=EAKATHEHER 20 85,000 40,898
Bank and cash balances RITMIR S ek 20 12,679 153,682
Bank overdraft RITEX 22 (841) (344)
96,838 194,236

The notes on pages 133 to 231 are an integral part of these #133F231 B AR K HEN TR 5 E|
financial statements. B o
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2.1

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

Trio Industrial Electronics Group Limited (the “Company”)
is a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong
and listed (the “Listing”) on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The principal place of business and registered office of the
Company is at Block J, 5/F., Phase |l, Kaiser Estate, 51
Man Yue Street, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are
principally engaged in the manufacturing and sales of
electronic products. The immediate holding company of
the Company is Trio Industrial Electronics Holding Limited
(“Trio Holding”), a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands with limited liability.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of Hong Kong dollars (“HK$’000”), unless
otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting
policies adopted in the preparation of consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied
to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of presentation
2.1.1 Statement of Compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), and in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, the laws of
Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”). The
consolidated financial statements also include
applicable disclosure required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”).

2.1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERKE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IESHBEHE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of presentation (Continued) 21 ZE3E%E (&)
2.1.2Basis of preparation 212 RBEE

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified by the revaluation of land and buildings,
financial asset at fair value through profit or loss and
derivative financial instruments, which are carried at
fair value.

The preparation of the consolidated financial
statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

New and amended standards effective in 2019 which
are relevant to the Group’s operations

The Group has applied the following new standards
and amendments to standards which are effective for
the financial period beginning on or after 1 January
2019 and relevant to the Group:

134 TRIO INDUSTRIAL ELECTRONICS GROUP LIMITED | {2 T B 7 £@MER A H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IES:HBEHE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of presentation (Continued) 2.1 Z5E%E ()
2.1.2 Basis of preparation (Continued) 2Q12/RHEE (&)
New and amended standards effective in 2019 which R E— N FAEN W BN EFEER
are relevant to the Group’s operations (Continued) BRI FTET RATISETERY (4)
HKFRSs Annual Improvement 2015-2017 Cycle BEMBREEN  —F-RFE-T+F
BHERE
BEGHENSI0R HEET  ERILE

HKAS 19 (Amendment)  Plan Amendment, Curtailment or (BzIK)

Settlement BAQIIENE8T NEELARAECEN
HKAS 28 (Amendment)  Long-term Interests in Associates and (B3TR) REES

Joint Ventures BEMBRERN  ABARENEADY
HKFRS 9 (Amendment)  Prepayment Features with Negative F0% (BI]K)

Compensation ERMBREEN  HE
HKFRS 16 Leases £16%:

&8 (ERmERE  MENIREENER

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax 2BRE®)

Treatments - REE2H
The above new standards, amendments, RZFE—NF—A—Bh&RME
improvements and interpretation effective for the O B B BB RE AR ) R R R - (8 _
financial period beginning on or after 1 January 2019 Al BERREBHAERTEEX
do not have a material impact to the Group, except TR WRAVBRERMT2.2mE
for HKFRS 16 “Leases” as disclosed in note 2.2 to BEEAMGHmELENI6 [HE] KR
the consolidated financial statements. Gh o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERKE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IESHBEHE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of presentation (Continued) 21 Z2FH|E% (£)
2.1.2Basis of preparation (Continued) 212 RBIEME (&)
New and amended standards effective after 2019 R E— ) F AN B K %.A‘&’
which are relevant to the Group’s operations and yet BB BT S IR A B2 AT R AR5 2
to be adopted JEq)
The following are new standards and amendments to THAED R —h&E—A—A&%
standards relevant to the Group that have been issued S IBEIIA Y 5\7} EBZ HARS 2B M5B 1Y ok A
but are not effective for the financial period beginning B R EAEB BN
on or after 1 January 2019 and are yet to be adopted: YR R BB ETAN
Effective for
financial periods
beginning on or after
RUTBSR 2 &HRN
BHRABER
HKFRS 3 (Amendment) Definition of a Business 1 January 2020
HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 (Amendment) Definition of Material 1 January 2020
Conceptual Framework for Financial Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial 1 January 2020
Reporting 2018 Reporting
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7 and HKFRS 9 Hedge accounting 1 January 2020
(Amendment)
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor  To be determined
and its Associate or Joint Venture
ERUBREEINEIN (BITR) EBNTEE “ECRE-A-
EREHRAE IR RER G RAFESY  EANTE “E-TE-f-
CCHES)
R \EHBRERSER MR E 2 B TRIRIER —Z_T5-A-H
BEGTEREI0R BARBREEDN  Hhes —Z_T5-A-H
FTRRBRVHERELERER (BATX)
BANBREEE17H RBRAKH —EB_=%-f-H
EEMBRERANF 10 REE G ED  REFEABSATNISECEZANEELE e
F285%% FEE
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2.2

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Changes in accounting policies

This note explains the impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16
“Lease” (“HKFRS 16”) on the Group’s financial information
and discloses the new accounting policies that have been
applied from 1 January 2019, where they are different to
those applied in prior periods.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 retrospectively from 1
January 2019, but has not restated comparatives for the
2018 reporting period, as permitted under the specific
transitional provisions in the standard. The reclassifications
and the adjustments arising from the new leasing rules
are therefore recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position on 1 January 2019. The impact of change
in accounting policy for leases is described below and the
new accounting policies are disclosed in note 2.8 to the
consolidated financial statements.

On adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group recognised lease
liabilities in relation to leases which had previously been
classified as “operating leases” under the principles of
HKAS 17 “Leases”. These liabilities were measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted
using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as of 1
January 2019. The weighted average lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities on 1 January
2019 was 3.63%.

2.2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BMRMEE

2.2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

In applying HKFRS 16 for the first time, the Group has
used the following practical expedients permitted by the
standard:

° applying of a single discount rate to a portfolio of
leases with reasonably similar characteristics;

° accounting for operating leases with a remaining lease
term of less than 12 months as at 1 January 2019 as
short-term leases;

° excluding initial direct costs from the measurement of
the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application;
and

° using hindsight in determining the lease term where
the contract contains options to extend or
terminate the lease.

The Group has also elected not to reassess whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease at the date of initial
application. Instead, for the contracts entered into before
the transition date, the Group relied on the assessment
made applying HKAS 17 “Leases” and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
“Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease”.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2

POLICIES (Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERME

TERETHEEE (£)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued) 2.2 BITBEREH ()
As at
1 January
2019
R=ZB—NF
—HA—H
HKD’000
FET
Operating lease commitments disclosed RZE—N\F+ZA=+—H
as at 31 December 2018 BEMLEHERE 3,095
Discounted using the lessee’s incremental BREABEREARAANES
borrowing rate of at the date of initial application BERA R (2,920)
Add: adjustments as a results of different treatment ji : E¥ B RIEREMK | HRIBEHA
of extension and termination options TNEEFTEEMETHRARE 25,228
Less: short-term leases recognised W RESEAERRAAINEREE
on a straight-line basis as expense (210)
Lease liabilities recognised as at 1 January 2019 R=—ZE—h&E—- A —ABEIANEEERE 25,193
Of which are: HAppE
Current lease liabilities mEHEARE 5,518
Non-current lease liabilities EmBEEEE 19,675
25,193

The recognised right-of-use assets relate to the following
types of assets:

REBUTHEAEENEREEE -

As at As at

31 December 1 January

2019 2019

R=ZB-NF RNRZFT-IF

+=ZA=+-—H —A—H

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET TET
Buildings BF 21,567 25,193 .
The associated right-of-use assets for property leases YR E M ERIE A S E B R ER g{%
were measured on a retrospective basis as if the new TR R VR R ZRE S EREBN S’;%CZ)
rules had always been applied. Other right-of use assets R - Ef A SEREHEAEAEA U**g
were measured at the amount equal to the lease liabilities, SRS EIE 0 WIEB T — N\E+ A I
adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued @

lease payments relating to that lease recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERKE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (Continued)

TERETHEREE (F)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued) 2.2 BITBEREH ()
The change in accounting policy affected the following SHRREHFE_T-NF—A—HBHi
items in the consolidated statement of financial position AUMBEHRRAERNTIIES -
on 1 January 2019:
Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts
previously under
reported at Impacts of HKFRS 16 at
31 December adopting 1 January
2018 HKFRS 16 2019
R-ZB—I#&F
—H—H
R-ZZE—N\F RIBE BT K
+=B=+—0 HHEBHH HEZER
BEZIRM HwEZEA H165R 5T E
IREE SF16MHNEE W ERE &
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FET
Right-of-use assets FEHREEE - 25,193 25,193
Lease liabilities HEaE = (25,193) (25,193)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMEmRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IES:HBEHE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Subsidiaries
2.3.1 Consolidation

2.3 MBQF
231 60K

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method to
account for business combination. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the
fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities
incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interest issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any assets
or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values
at the acquisition date.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of
the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as
goodwill. If the total of consideration transferred, non-
controlling interest recognised and previously held
interest measured is less than the fair value of the
net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a
bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

i il
income. =
=z

-

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised EBANATRNLS SHREH ‘%2
gains on transactions between group companies are NEIERZ S H R B ZSE F K *;ff;%)

Lo . Lo 0

eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated. o REIEEBITFIAIES - B u
When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries NBIFTHREcEAVERIEL FE 2
have been adjusted to conform with the Group’s PAEAEB SRS o @

accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERKE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Subsidiaries (Continued)
2.3.2 Separate financial statements

Investment in subsidiaries is accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The result of subsidiaries is
accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investment in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from this investment
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive
income of the subsidiaries in the period the dividend is
declared or if the carrying amounts of the investment
in the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amounts in the financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

2.4 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker (“CODM”). The CODM, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the Board of
Directors of the Company that makes strategy decisions.

2.5 Foreign currency translation
() Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (“the functional currency”). United States
dollars (“US$”) is the functional currency of principal
operating subsidiaries of the Group. The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HK$, which
is the functional and presentation currency of the
Company.

2

2.3

2.4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(ii)

(i)

Transactions and balances in financial statements

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation
where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-
inflationary economy) that have a functional currency
different from the presentation currency are translated
into the presentation currency as follows:

(@) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at the
closing rate at the end of that reporting period;

(b) income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the rate on the
dates of the transactions); and

(c) all resulting currency translation differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

2.6 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

REMBRRMEE

2 ZEETHERESE (F)

2.5 HEBmE (&)

(i)

(iii)

MBRERORSE R G

SNERX BIRR 5 E HNIA B E# AT
ENEEANNRITERRESY
EEH  BEZFXIRRERE
TMBEINEHENEREERA
B EEHIMNE RS R EBERES
PHEKERER -

£EAT
T B MK B2 51 S R R 2 B A
EEE (4T RBERREAE
R 2 R BORREI T 5
ETY S EV TR

@ SHERZMHBRIEANZE
ERERRRREER W
BB

(b) BHlERAZRTETHE
RIME (3l FHER YT
REXSEMERER Rt
PEZARNY . ELER
T WSERRRSEAZE
RIBE) R

) MBHMUELEZEBHREZH
REAb 2 EK S ER o

2.6 BF®EB
B R A TR H (R B BT 4 BY A% AT URER - T
AEBBSFEMEMHRSEGR - BB
RENHBHIZRE A FERRARE -

Annual Report 2019 4

Sk
SINIWILVLS TVIONVNIS

143




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BMRMEE

2.7

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (except for land and building)
is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amounts or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amounts
of the replaced part is de-recognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

Land and buildings comprise mainly offices. Land and
buildings are carried at revalued amount, being its fair
value at the date of the revaluation on the basis of periodic
valuations by external independent valuers less any
subsequent accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of
valuation is eliminated against the gross carrying amounts
of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued
amount of the asset. Revaluations are performed with
sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does
not differ materially from that which would be determined
using fair values at the end of the reporting period.

Revaluation increases of land and buildings are recognised
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income to
the extent that the increases reverse previous revaluation
decreases of the same asset. All other revaluation increases
are credited to the property revaluation reserve in the
shareholders’ equity. Revaluation decreases that offset
previously revaluation increase of the same asset are
charged against property revaluation reserve directly
in equity. All other decreases are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. On
the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued land and
building, the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in
the property revaluation reserve is transferred directly to
retained profits.
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2.7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their cost or revalued amounts
less their residual values over the estimated useful lives on a
straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

Land and buildings 3.33%
Plant and machinery 20%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Office equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%
Leasehold improvements 20%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if necessary, at each reporting
date.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amounts of the relevant asset, and is
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount
is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BMRMEE

2.8

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases

As explained in note 2.2 to the consolidated financial
statements above, the Group has changed its accounting
policy for leases where the group is the lessee. The new
policy is described below and the impact of the change in
note 2.2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Until 31 December 2018, leases in which a significant
portion of the risks and rewards of ownership not transferred
to the Group as lessee were classified as operating leases.
Lease payments under operating lease (net of any incentives
received from the lessor) are expensed in consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

From 1 January 2019, leases are recognised as a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which
the leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the following lease payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable

o variable lease payments that are depend on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as
at the commencement date; and

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees.
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2.8

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

Lease payments to be made reasonably certain extension
options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is
used, being the rate of interest that a lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

o where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the lessee as a starting point, adjusted
to reflect changes in financing conditions since third
party financing was received;

o uses a build-up approach that starts with risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held
by the Group, which does not have recent third party
financing; and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security.

Lease payments are allocated between the principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to consolidated
statement of comprehensive income over the lease period
S0 as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BMRMEE

2.8

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee; and

° restoration costs.

The right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-
line basis. If the Group reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over
the underlying asset’s useful life.

While the Group revalues its land and buildings that are
presented within property, plant and equipment, it has
chosen not to do so for the right-to-use buildings held by
the Group.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as
an expense in consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of
12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise small offices
and car parking spaces.
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2.9

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Costs include cost of purchase (including taxes,
transport and handling) net of trade discounts received
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to
their present location and condition, and are calculated
using the weighted average method. Net realisable value
is determined based on estimated selling price less all
estimated costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and
distribution.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and
all losses of inventories are recognised in consolidated
statement of comprehensive income in the period the
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of
any write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction
in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in
the period in which the reversal occurs.

2.10 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business. If collection of trade and other
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are
classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as
non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERKE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IESHBEHE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets 211 RERHEMESRMEE

(i) Classification (i)

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value
through profit or loss, and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will be recorded in consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

(i) Recognition and de-recognition (ii)

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial
assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the financial assets have expired or
have been transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs
of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for managing
the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the
asset. There are three measurement categories into
which the group classifies its debt instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest are measured at amortised
cost. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss
arising on de-recognition is recognised directly
in consolidated statement of comprehensive
income and presented in other gains/(losses)
together with foreign exchange gains and
losses. Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERKE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
(iii) Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

o FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying
amount are taken through OCI, except for
the recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest income and foreign exchange gains and
losses which are recognised in consolidated
statement of comprehensive income. When
the financial asset is de-recognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in
OClI is reclassified from equity to consolidated
statement of comprehensive income and
recognised in other gains/(losses). Interest
income from these financial assets is included
in finance income using the effective interest rate
method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in other gains/(losses) and impairment
expenses are presented as separate line item in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

° FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised
in consolidated statement of comprehensive
income and presented net within other gains/
(losses) in the period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Measurement (Continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the de-recognition
of the investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in consolidated statement
of comprehensive income as other income when the
group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at
FVPL are recognised in “Other income, net” in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income
as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of
impairment losses) on equity investments measured at
FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes
in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables, see note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements for further details.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BMRMEE

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Offsetting financial instruments

2.13

2.14

2.15

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in
the normal course of business and in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-
measured at their fair value. The gain or loss is recognised
in “Other operating expenses, net” in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at
call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less, and bank
overdrafts. In the consolidated statement of financial
position, bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in
current liabilities.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
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2.14

2.15
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2

2.16

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received and receivable, and represents amounts receivable
for goods supplied, stated net of discounts, returns and
value added taxes. The Group recognises revenue when
the amount of revenue can be reliably measured; when it
is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the
entity; and when specific criteria have been met for each
of the Group’s activities.

Sales of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods directly to the customers
is recognised at the point that the control of the inventory
have passed to the customers, which is primarily upon
the acceptance of the products by the customers. The
customers have full discretion over the products, and there
is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customers’
acceptance of the products. The Group collects cash or
bank acceptance notes from the customers before or
upon deliveries of products through banks. Cash or bank
acceptance notes collected from the customers before
product delivery is recognised as contract liabilities (note 5
to the consolidated financial statements).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BMRMEE

2

2.17

2.18

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Interest income

Interest income from financial assets at FVPL is included in
the net fair value gains/(losses) on these assets, see note
6 to the consolidated financial statements below.

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost and
financial assets at FVOCI calculated using the effective
interest method is recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income as part of other income.

Interest income is presented as finance income where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes, see note 10 to the consolidated
financial statements below. Any other interest income is
included in finance income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently become
credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets the
effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).

Employee benefits
() Pension obligations

The Group contributes on a monthly basis to various
defined contribution plans organised by the relevant
governmental authorities. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further contributions
if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all
employees the benefits relating to employee service
in the current and prior years. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit expense when they
are due.

The Group joined the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
those qualifying employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance,
and who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

Pension obligations (Continued)

The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution scheme,
the assets of which are held in separate trustee-
administered funds. The Group has no further payment
obligations once the contribution has been paid. The
Group’s contributions to the scheme are recognised
as employee benefit expenses when they are due.
When employees leave the scheme prior to the full
vesting of the employer’s voluntary contributions, the
amount of forfeited contributions is used to reduce
the contributions payable by the Group.

The Group in the PRC participate in defined
contribution retirement benefit plans organised by
relevant government authorities for its employees
in the PRC and contribute to these plans based on
certain percentage of the salaries of the employees
on a monthly basis, up to a maximum fixed monetary
amount, as stipulated by the relevant government
authorities. The government authorities undertake to
assume the retirement benefit obligations payable to
all existing and future retired employees under these
plans.

For defined contribution plans, the Group pays
contributions to publicly or privately administered
pension insurance plans on a mandatory, contractual
or voluntary basis. The Group has no further payment
obligations once the contributions have been paid.
The contributions are recognised as employee benefit
expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions
are recognised as an asset to the extent that a
cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is
available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERKE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IESHBEHE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Employee benefits (Continued) 2.18 EEEF (&)

(ii) Bonus plans (i)
The expected cost of bonus payments are recognised
as a liability when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of services rendered
by employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation
can be made.

Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be settled
within twelve months and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when they are settled.

(iii) Employee leave entitlements (iii)
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result
of services rendered by employees up to the reporting
date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(iv) Short-term employee benefits (iv)

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and the
cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the
period in which the associated services are rendered
by employees.
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2

2.19

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled transactions

The Group’s employees, including directors, receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payment
transactions, whereby the employees rendered services in
exchange for shares or rights over shares of the Company.
The cost of such transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at
the date at which the entity and another party (including an
employee) agree to a share-based payment arrangement,
being when the entity and the counterparty have a
shared understanding of the terms and conditions of the
arrangement (“Grant Date”). The fair value of share options
granted to employees is recognised as an employee cost
with a corresponding increase in a reserve within equity. The
fair value is determined using the Binomial Option Pricing
Model, taking into account any market conditions and non-
vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with
parties other than employees are measured at fair value
of the goods or services received, except where the fair
value cannot be reliably estimated, in which case they
are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments
granted. In all cases, the fair value is measured at the date
the Group obtains the goods or the counterparty renders
the services.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
period in which the vesting conditions are to be fulfilled,
ending on the date on which the entitlement of relevant
employees to the award is no longer conditional on the
satisfaction of any non-market vesting conditions (“Vesting
Date”). During the vesting period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest ultimately is reviewed.
Any adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in
prior years is charged/credited to consolidated statement
of comprehensive income for the year of the review, with
a corresponding adjustment to the reserve within equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BMRMEE

2

2.19

2.20

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payment transactions (Continued)
Equity-settled transactions (Continued)

When the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in the share option reserve will be
transferred to share capital. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at
the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share
option reserve will be transferred to retained earnings.

Taxation

The tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

() Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of reporting period in the countries where
the Group operates and generates taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It
establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis
of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Taxation (Continued)

(ii)

Deferred income tax
Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill,
the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it
arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
reporting period and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements,
except for deferred income tax liability where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference
is controlled by the Group and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Generally the Group is unable to
control the reversal of the temporary difference for
associates. Only when there is an agreement in place
that gives the Group the ability to control the reversal
of the temporary difference in the foreseeable future,
deferred tax liability in relation to taxable temporary
differences arising from the associate’s undistributed
profits is not recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERKE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Taxation (Continued)

(ii) Deferred income tax (Continued)
Outside basis differences (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
arrangements only to the extent that it is probable
the temporary difference will reverse in the future and
there is sufficient taxable profit available against which
the temporary difference can be utilised.

(iii) Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis.

2.21 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Restructuring provisions comprise lease
termination penalties and employee termination payments.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an
outflow with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.
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2.21

2.22

2.23

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Provisions (Continued)

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due
to passage of time is recognised as interest expense within
“finance expenses, net” in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction cost) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facilities will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that
it is probably that some or all of the facilities will be drawn
down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to
which it relates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BMRMEE

2

2.23

2.24

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Borrowings and borrowing costs (Continued)

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting
period.

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in consolidated
statement of comprehensive income in which they are
incurred.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the shareholders is recognised
as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s financial
statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors,
where appropriate.
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3.1

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash flow and
fair value interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

Financial risk factors
(@) Market risk

(i)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and
the PRC. Entities within the Group are exposed
to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect to
HK$, Euro (“EUR”) and Renminbi (“RMB”).
Foreign exchange risk arises from export
sales, purchases, other future commercial
transactions, monetary assets and liabilities
that are denominated in a currency that is not
the entity’s functional currency.

Management has set up a policy to require
the group companies to manage their foreign
exchange risk against their functional currencies.
The group companies do not adopt formal
hedge accounting policy. It manages its
foreign currency risk by closely monitoring
the movement of foreign currency rates and
will consider to enter into foreign exchange
contracts to reduce the exposure should the
need arises.

As at 31 December 2019, if US$ had weakened/
strengthened by 5 percent against EUR with all
other variables held constant, post-tax profit for
the year ended 31 December 2019 would have
been HK$108,000 (2018: HK$354,000) lower/
higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange
loss on translation of EUR denominated
trade and other payables, and cash and cash
equivalents.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BMRMEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2019, if the US$ had
weakened/strengthened by 5 percent against
RMB with all other variables held constant,
post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December
2019 would have been HK$4,783,000 (2018:
HK$6,131,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result
of foreign exchange differences on translation of
RMB denominated trade and other receivables,
deposits, trade and other payables, and cash
and cash equivalents.

Under the Linked Exchange Rate System
in Hong Kong, HK$ is pegged to USS$,
management therefore considers that there is
no significant foreign exchange risk with respect
to the HKS.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the
exposure to foreign exchange risk arising from
certain currency exposures such as Great British
Pound, Singapore dollar, etc. are not significant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(@) Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from
borrowings. Borrowing obtained at variable rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk
which is partially offset by cash held at variable
rates. Borrowings obtained at fixed rates expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk. The
Group does not adopt any interest hedging
strategy.

Bank borrowings of the Group were arranged
on floating rates varied with the then prevailing
market condition,

As at 31 December 2019, if interest rates on
borrowings at variable rates had been 50 basis
points higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year
ended 31 December 2019 would have been
HK$23,000 (2018: HK$29,000) lower/higher as
a result of higher/lower net interest expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERKE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BI¥ERBRER (&)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 H¥ERREE (&)
(b) Credit risk (b) FERAR

The Group’s credit risk are primarily attributable to
financial instruments, financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss, trade receivables, deposits and
other receivables, time deposits and cash deposited
at banks and cash and cash equivalents. Management
has a credit policy in place and the exposures to
these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
In this respect, management considers the credit risk
is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents, cash
deposited at banks and time deposits are placed in
reputable financial institutions with sound credit ratings
assigned by international credit rating agencies.

For deposits and other receivables, management
makes periodic collective assessments as well as
individual assessment on the recoverability with no
significant credit risk identified.

The Group is also exposed to credit risk in relation to
financial asset that are measured at fair value through
profit or loss. The maximum exposure at the end of
the reporting period is the carrying amount of these
investments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment allowance policies for trade
receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measuring expected credit losses which uses
a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade
receivables. To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables has been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics and the days past due.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment
profiles of sales over a period of 3 years before 31
December 2019 or 1 January 2019 respectively and
the corresponding historical credit losses experienced
within this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted
to reflect current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the receivables.

Based on historical experience, majority of the trade
receivables were settled within credit term, hence the
expected loss rate of trade receivables during the year
ended 31 December 2019 is 0.9% (2018: 4.2%).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERKE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment allowance policies for trade
receivables (Continued)

(b)

The closing loss allowances for trade receivables as
at 31 December 2019 reconcile to the opening loss

BBEBRER (£)
BREBEE (&)

FERRE (&)
EZREWIRRBEREBE ()

RZZE—NF+ZA=+—HB®E
25 FE USSR TR B HA K &5 18 7 5 R ) )

allowances as follows: EEBENEERNT
2019 2018
—E-hE —N\F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FETT FAET
As at 1 January Rn—H—H 4,601 =
(Decrease)/ increase in loss allowance FARGEEZAKRER
recognised in R EEEE Ofd)/ B
consolidated statement of
comprehensive income during the year (1,023) 4,601
Receivable written off during the year A A7 A U B 4 88 e Wk oa
as uncollectible (2,249) -
As at 31 December R+t-—A=+—H 1,329 4,601

Trade receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include,
amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a
repayment plan with the Group, and a failure to make
contractual payments for a period greater than 90
days past due.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented
as net impairment losses within operating profit.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written
off are credited against the same line item.

During the year, the provision for impairment loss on
trade receivables was recognised in consolidated
statement of comprehensive income in relation to
impaired financial assets disclosed in note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements.

170 TRIOINDUSTRIAL ELECTRONICS GROUP LIMITED | {2 T B 7 £MER A H

8 5 YRR &S I IR H A ]
R i 3 o 37 S IR TR A A YR B 5RA
MR EE (R EHE) B AKREE

BARSEEFTVERE  UERRE
HA B 3BO0K K BRI MR BEVE & AY
NN

B O RWHENRBEEERY AEE

A AR R E R R R - Higm
SERTMEHR SRRV RT AR —I8E -

FA - IS PR ET A

BENDHESREENGFAZHK
BRERE W R E AR
o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Credit risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2019, the customer bases were
widely dispersed despite that 21.4% (2018: 34.2%)
of the trade receivables were due from the Group’s
largest customer and 64.8% (2018: 70.1%) were due
from the five largest customers determined on the
same basis.

Liquidity risk

Cash flow forecasting is performed in the operating
entities of the Group. Such forecasting takes into
consideration the Group’s debt financing plans,
covenant compliance and, if applicable external
regulatory or legal requirements — for example,
currency restrictions.

The Group maintains liquidity by a number of sources
including orderly realisation of short-term financial
assets and receivables; and long-term financing
including long-term borrowings. The Group aims to
maintain flexibility in funding by keeping sufficient
bank balances, committed credit lines available and
interest bearing borrowings which enable the Group
to continue its business for the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERKE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HIHEBRERE (/&)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 HMERBREZ (&)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) FBpELEM (&)
The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative TERIMERSHREAGOINEA
and derivative financial liabilities into the applicable B THBENEBENIEITERITE
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at cRBEE > KERINBRAR -
the end of reporting date to the contractual maturity FIEBRSBAGORMBRSRE -
date. The amounts disclosed are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows.
Total -
contractual Within
Carrying undiscounted one year or Within
amount cash flow ondemand  two to five years
EHARE -FR
BEfE ReRERR FREX ZERER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
A7 AT AT AT
At 31 December 2019 R-E-NE+-A=1-H
Trade and other payables BHRERENTE
(excluding sale deposits received) (BEEETLRM) 109,043 109,043 109,043 -
Contract liablity ANEE 2,064 2,064 2,064 -
Borrowings EE 11,852 12,994 12,994 -
Finance lease payables BERERATE 43 43 43 -
Lease liabilfies HERE 23,089 24,368 1177 17,191
146,991 149,412 132,221 17,191
At 31 December 2018 RZE-NE+-A=1-H
Trade and other payables B5 R ERA
(excluding sale deposits received) (BhEET 2R 167,424 167,424 167,424 =
Contract liabiity 18E 3,004 3,004 3,004 2
Borrowings EE 31,871 32,971 32,971 -
Finance lease payables AAREEMNE 866 882 882 -
203,165 204,281 204,281 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amounts of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt
is calculated as total borrowings (include bank borrowings
and finance lease payables) less cash and bank balances.
Total capital is calculated as “equity” as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position, plus net debt,
where applicable.

The Group’s strategy was to maintain optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital. The gearing ratios
as at 31 December 2019 were as follows:
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2019 2018

—E-NF —N\FE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FET

Borrowings (note 22) &k (F1zE22) 11,852 31,871
Finance lease payables (note 23) BE M E R HIE (MEE23) 43 866
Less: Bank and cash balances (note 20) B SRIT IR e AR (FFE20) (97,679) (194,580)
Net cash FRe (85,784) (161,843)
Total equity B 352,491 351,895
Total capital BB (438,275) (513,738)
Gearing ratio U ES RS N/A REA N/A T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BMRMEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Fair value estimation

The table below analyses the Group’s assets and liabilities
carried at fair value as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 by
level of the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure
fair value. Such inputs are categorised into three levels
within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

° Inputs other than quoted prices included within level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
(that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from
prices) (level 2).

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
(level 3).

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, all the Group’s assets
and liabilities carried at fair value are categorised into level
2.

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 during
the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded
in an active market (for example, over-the-counter
derivatives) is determined by using valuation techniques.
These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable
market data where it is available and rely as little as possible
on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required
to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument
is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in level
3

The following table presents the changes in the Group’s
assets and liabilities carried at fair value for the year ended
31 December 2019 and 2018.

MBERER (&)

ATESH

TR B R D TE (S ERIT RS AR
BHER - SHARER-F-NFR=
T—\F+ZA=T—BRAFEIEN
BERAME - B WE AR T AL
B A B TR AP = EEA

s MHREEXEBERIREEBRMESEH
HE CREHE) (F1E) -

s KBRTFIBMERNOREIN  REBEE
KBENAEENEBHA > AR
Hix (BIPImER) skEE (AR B
Bg) (B2E) -

. HEREELERETRETSK
I 0 A (ED 3E 7T 2 1 A) (383
B -

R NEFERZE—N\F+_A=+—
B "REBMARATFEIIENEERE
BHBEAFE2E -

BE-_Z—NEFrE-_T—N\F+-_A=1+
—BIFERES 2RIB 2 MiEk -

WIHRARMS EXZNEHMTE (105
SMTETR) A EDNERMGETEE
E o ZEHETNERECERARER A
BRmSEE YEERIGREREE
EE - WM ERXRTANAFEMTIER
BWABBEHANEE WABTASRK
FIAF2RE -

% — BB £ 2 EEBABELIERE
TBRETHBIEREE - HTABEIIAE
3E °

TREJBE-_T-NFR-_T-N\FT+
“A=tT-HLEFEARKERAFEIR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBEBRERMT
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 MBEBRER (&)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AFEME (&)
Financial
assets at
Land and Derivative fair value
building financial through
at fair value instruments profit or loss Total
BAYE BOYE
TEM T4 FFABRER
T REF $RMIA MEemEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
FHET FET FET FET
For the year ended BE-_T-hE
31 December 2019 +-A=+—HItEE
Opening balance LRI 24,850 - 6,765 31,615
(Loss)/ gain recognised in WA 2EBER
consolidated TERm (B18), iz
statement of comprehensive
income - (2,245) 177 (2,068)
Gains recognised in other REAMZE
comprehensive income RS 699 - - 699
Addition NE - - 1,679 1,679
Depreciation e (949) - - (949)
Settlement #8 - 2,245 - 2,245
Closing balance HiR#5 24,600 - 8,621 33,221
For the year ended BEZZ-N\F
31 December 2018 TZA=t—RHILFEE
Opening balance HEE R 24,400 - 2,651 27,051
Addition NE - - 6,935 6,935
De-recognition BUBHER - - (2,694) (2,694)
Loss recognised in consolidated — RGAEENER
statement of comprehensive RN ER
income = = (127) (127)
Gains recognised in other REM 2K
comprehensive income AR 1,426 - - 1,426
Depreciation nE (976) = = (976)
Closing balance PR 24,850 - 6,765 31,615
Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities 3.4 SREERCRABEZIRE

3.4

As at 31 December 2019, there were no financial assets
or financial liabilities which were subject to offsetting,
enforceable master netting or similar agreements (2018: nil).

R-ZB-NF+-A=+—H " HELR
BEXTRAGBEXTEE  RA ARG
TR FREESBURTEMBRR (=

T-N\F &)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERKE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE GROUP’S
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.

(@) Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment
The Group has substantial investments in property,
plant and equipment. Judgement is required in the
area of asset impairment, particularly in assessing:
(1) whether an event has incurred that may indicate
that the related asset values may not be recoverable;
(2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, being the
higher of fair value less costs of disposal or value-
in-use, which is the net present value of future
cash flows which are estimated based upon the
continued use of the asset in the business; and (3)
the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
preparing cash flow projections including whether
these cash flow projections are discounted using an
appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions used to
determine the level, if any, of impairment, including the
discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the
cash flow projections, could materially affect the net
present value used in the impairment test and as a
result affect the Group’s financial condition and results
of operations. If there is a significant adverse change
in the projected performance and resulting future
cash flow projections, it may be necessary to take an
impairment charge to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

BAAEERHRENTERH
fisst R A

ERT RA G AR EETHE - LUBER
BEREMAR (BRHEERERLBERE
BE R EMHHTAR) RELE -

EFRET AT RAER

AEBEEARRELEF RRR - IENE
AHARTIMEER - ROSEABRERM
Rl FEEARBREH TEVERFREZE
EMBEZREEELERRAE 2GR

BRRFTHEAAE ©

(@) "% - BWERKBRENMG

FEERERERYE - BFE KRR
e EEERMERS  EXRELH
- CHENME: ()VASHIRATEE
BrREREEEAREBEAIDENS
fFQEEREESTERT KD
R (B AR & R AN fE R E
B (AARBHEERAEERERG
AAMERBRRERENREFR)
MEFHNRSE) BF  RO)E
HPSRERABEANEEEE
BRE BHREHEACARERAIRS
DER LRI - AR EERE
BHEnRR (BRREREFRRA
BER KRR REREBR) BAEE - 7
EHRENAMAREFEELE
AREE WMAFELAKENTH
ARAREEEE - MAAKRBERE
METHARRSREBABEK
THES - QIR ARNEA2HEK
SRAMRBEEA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE GROUP’S
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Critical

accounting estimates and assumptions

(Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
selling expenses. These estimates are based on the
current market condition and the historical experience
of selling products of similar nature. It could change
significantly as a result of changes in customer taste
and competitor actions in response to severe industry
cycle. Management reassesses these estimates at
the end of each statement of financial position date.

Impairment of trade receivables

The Group’s management estimates the provision
of impairment of trade receivables by assessing
their recoverability. Provisions are applied to trade
receivables where events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the balances may not be collectible and
require the use of estimates. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact carrying value of trade receivables and
impairment charge in the period in which such
estimate has been changed.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong
and the PRC. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There
are many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the current and deferred income tax
assets and liabilities in the period in which such
determination is made.

REMBRRMEE

ERAEESHBRNEIES
hat R (F

EFREF AT RER (B)

(b)

(c)

(d)

FENTERFE
FEMAERFEREATEEHBE
E R EER G HERAE © %
FETNERBR MR LRHERU
HEERNBERLRMEL - TP
EFRBEFHFREBIFITERAY
MEBWITB A EEZEETAE
Rk - EBEREHMHARRER
HIEH R E R E A

B 5 BRI E
AEEEEEREBNHESEENK
TR B R] Y (O] 14 SR f R EOBE B -
EHREMFIIRBB(CTARERA
BEEAU BN F 2 E A M - A
SR E B EYGKIAR R - TR
HeBBERAGHNEETIR  F
MERBTEL HEYIGANERD
BARBBATHRESHHEAN
BER ST °

Frig®t
AEBEBHNEERTBENMAE
e BEMSHREBHEAFEHEXR
HE - RHPBEERZ > MEEZXF
RERBHTETAL NETE ©
ZEFTHNRERBAGRANGRL
BHEBREMTRE ZFEZRBF
ERBEHANNHRELEHREH
BEEREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERKE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4 ERAEESIRENTIES

JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE GROUP’S fhEt R A (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions FEGSHMETRER (&)
(Continued)

(d) Income taxes (Continued) (d) Fr8#H (&)

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain
temporary differences and tax losses are recognised
when management considers it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which the
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised.
When the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such differences will impact the recognition
of deferred income tax assets and taxation charges in
the period in which such estimate is changed.

(e) Valuation of equity-settled share-based payment (e)
transactions

The fair value of share options has been calculated
using the Binomial Option Pricing Model which
requires the input of highly subjective assumptions,
including the expected volatility of the share price.
Because changes in subjective assumptions can
materially affect the fair value estimate, in the opinion
of the Directors, the existing model may not always
necessarily produce a reliable single measure of
the fair value of the share options. Details of the
assumptions used are set out in note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE GROUP’S
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Critical

accounting estimates and assumptions

(Continued)

(f)

Determination of the lease term

In determining the lease term, management considers
all facts and circumstances that create an economic
incentive to exercise an extension option or not
exercise a termination option. Extension options (or
periods after termination options) are only included in
the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be
extended (or not terminated).

For leases of plants, office and warehouse, the
following factors are normally the most relevant:

- If there are significant penalties to terminate (or
not extend), the Group is typically reasonably
certain to extend (or not terminate).

- Otherwise, the Group considers other factors
including historical lease durations and costs
and business disruption required to replace the
leased asset.

Most extension options in plants, office and
warehouse have been included in the lease liability
because majority of them are profitable and replacing
in other locations will cause business disruption.

As at 31 December 2019, no potential future cash
outflows have not been included in the lease liability
because it is not reasonably certain that the lease will
be extended (or not terminated).

REMBWMRMEE

ERAEESHBRNEIES
hat R ()

EFREF AT RER (B)

)

EERH

TR EREREREL
ABATEEREEE (RETTE
RIPRIEE) NEERENAEEE
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(I SKRIERE) K EHEE
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EREE MAERREHRE T
JIRZBR XA :

— Rt (E}Z*LE) Eﬁﬁikgﬂ

R ARE R IEHERL
(HAERIE) -
- BRI AKEEZEHMAE

ERATHERB L EHBEE
BEMBRAREHHE -

BE -« WAEREEKXNSZHILHE
BESHAHREAE  AEKLBH
B R B &t B8 S A E A R

=T — 7‘1¢+ A=+—RH #
% n‘I’)\ Eﬂi;}:fﬁimb

(i?\%%ﬂ:) °

Sk
SINIWILVLS TVIONVNIS

Annual Report 2019 €3 17/ 9




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERKE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The management has determined the operating segments
based on the information reviewed by the CODM. The
CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segment, has been
identified as the Board of Directors of the Company.

Operating segments are reported in the manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the CODM. The
Group is subject to similar business risk, and resources
are allocated based on what is beneficial to the Group in
enhancing the value as a whole. The Board of Directors
considers the performance assessment of the Group should
be based on the profit before income tax of the Group as a
whole and regards the Group as a single operating segment
and reviews internal reporting accordingly. Therefore, the
Board of Directors considers there to be only one operating
segment under the requirements of HKFRS 8 “Operating
Segments”.

The Group provides manufacturing and sales of electronic
products, which are carried out internationally, through the
production complexes located in the PRC during the year
ended 31 December 2019.

Segment assets and liabilities

No assets and liabilities are included in the Group’s segment
reporting that are submitted to and reviewed by the CODM
internally. Accordingly, no segment assets and liabilities are
presented.

Information about major customers

External customers contribute over 10% of total revenue
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 are
as follows:

7 RPER
ERERRAEIELEREABHOLH
BEREESH - TEREREARRAK
AAEFE  BEHRELESBHERE
FHERER -

REDHBMERSTABEHRHT T ELER
RAMAME2HR— 2 - AEBEEERUE
BREKR BERERHREAAEEREE
BEMNWFRASE - EFERRAEEN
RILFHAEEEN A EEERRT RN
- BARERE K20 WA RN
MBS - Fit - EFERA - RIEFE
F A ERIFeTR [[EE D] WARTE -
EEFE—EEZDNE -

BE_ZFT-hAhF+-_A=1t—HLF
SEEBUNPENEERSRIE

N
tEFEMMEREE (BBRBREEY) -

xa

e

<

THEERER

ABER T EBLERRARHEFERRN
MAEES RS EBRETANEERE
- At MBI DHEERAE -

FTEEFHNEHR
BE-—T—hE+-_A=+—HIEE
IR EBMASE B EEIBI0% :

2019 2018

—E-NE —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Customer A ZEA 259,562 321,020
Customer B ZFEB 145,671 136,615
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographical information

During the year ended 31 December 2019, majority
of revenue were sold to customers in Europe (mainly
Switzerland, the United Kingdom (the “UK”), Ireland,
Denmark and Sweden), while the remaining revenue were
sold to customers in the United States of America (the
“US”), the PRC, Singapore, and Australia.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at point in
time method.

In relation to non-current assets held by the Group (primarily
represented by property, plant and equipment as detailed
in note 14 to consolidated financial statements), land and
buildings with carrying values as at 31 December 2019
of HK$24,600,000 (2018: HK$24,850,000), are located
in Hong Kong. Other property, plant and equipment are
primarily located in the PRC.

Revenue recognised in relation to contract liability

The Group has recognised the following liabilities related to
contracts with customers:

5

REMBRRMEE

PEHER (&)

I8 @45 5 R
RBE-_ZT—NF+_A=+—HItF
B RKEnlhmRKEBMNER (EZ2RE
T B (THRD F8F - FERE
) HRWSKREEFNRBRERE (13X
Bl Al FnEBNNEE -

HHE S m A W RS BETER o

REEEMEENIERDEE (EEAY
¥ BERERE  FRERGEUBHRE
MisE14) mME RZE—NF+ZA=+
—H ' BREE A24,600,0008 T (ZF—
J\E : 24,850,000/ 7T) Byt i RIEFH
URES - A%  BEREEEEN
R -

EHEBERIHWE
AEBEHAUTHRFANEHENE
&

As at
31 December 31 December
2019 2018
—E-hnF —E-N\F
+=ZA=+—H +=ZHAH=+—H
HKD’000 HKD’000
F#ET FET
Contract liability AHAE 2,964 3,004

(i) Significant change in contract liability

The Group receives payments from customers based
on billing schedule as established in contracts.
Payments are usually received in advance under the
contracts which are mainly from sales of goods.

() BHEENEXED
AEERBAORENHERHER
BB - BEREA QIRAH
WENHE  TEREHEER °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE B WK M
5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 SIER (&)
Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities EHEERINKE (&)
(Continued)
(i) Revenue recognised in relation to contract (i) MevaErIANS
liability
The following table shows the amounts of the revenue TEHEBE—"ZT-hhE+-_F=
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2019 +—HIFEEDRRELEEAHEAE
relates to carried-forward contract liability. BHEBHKRESEE -
Year ended
31 December 31 December
2019 2018
BZE BHZE
—E-hEF —E-NF
+=A=+—8 +=ZA=+—H
LFE ILFE
HKD’000 HKD’000
FHET FAET
Revenue recognised that was included (tAZ—Z—hF—H—H
in the contract liability balance at EHBBEHRY
1 January 2019 BRI
Sales of goods HEEm 1,379 1,353
(iii) Unsatisfied contracts related to sales of goods (i) HEEEERBFENRBEITEN
The Group select to choose a practical expedient and HREHRBEONERA —F3X
omit disclosure of remaining performance obligations —FUT AEEEEMHIERRE
as all related contracts have a duration of one year BFE WERBERSREBEOER -
or less.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BEMBHRRWE
6 REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME, NET 6 WEKHEMBAESE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Revenue W
Sales of goods EmEE 808,599 885,971
Other income, net EmUg A F58
Commission income (=N 133 156
Fair value gain/(loss) on financial BAT ARG AEEERD
assets at fair value through TREERNTE
profit or loss Wz, (E18) 177 (127)
(Loss)/gain on foreign exchange SNEE (B518) Wz (855) 2,438
Government grants (note (i) B e (FIEEG)) 2,791 1,660
Loss on de-recognition of financial BUBTERIZ A FERA
asset at fair value through BN emEE
profit or loss K& 18 = (376)
Scrap material sales income WEEYRLSE & YA 2,014 -
Sundry income FETEWA 1,140 1,481
5,400 5,232

Note: HiaE -

0] The government grants mainly represented subsidies received from (i) BREMEBERARRTEEENBARE
the PRC government in relation to the recognition of New and High RAASHENCE ((EFEMeE]) mit
Technology Enterprises (“NHTE") by the Company’ s wholly- AR BT ER R B o B R B AR R E R
owned subsidiary in the PRC. There are no unfulfilled conditions &1 -

relating to the grants.
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EXPENSES BY NATURE

Expenses included “cost of sales”, “selling and distribution

» o«

expenses”, “administrative expenses”, and “other operating

expenses, net” are analysed as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERKE

7 BUHEEIHEX

Bl o

AXBEIEERN] [HERSHE
BI-TTTBAX] RIEME SR

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Employee benefit expenses (including EBRAFZ (BIEES

Directors’ emoluments) (note 8) &) (H5E8) 182,672 193,773
Auditor’s remuneration 1% B 57 B
— Audit services — E: RS 1,783 1,753
- Non-audit services — IEEET RIS 407 763
Depreciation for property, plant and s

equipment (note 14) REBEITE (Ma14) 11,175 10,305
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FREEENE (MIFE35(i)

(note 35(ii) 6,784 -
Amortisation of insurance expense 1R b6 5 S 5 31 11
Loss on derivative financial instruments MESMTIABE 2,245 -
Obsolete inventories written off [RETF S 1,325 1,067
Operating lease payments LEBERR 476 6,836
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, HEYE  BWELRE

plant and equipment (Wzs) /518 (252) 49
Bad debts written off SRR SH 334 =
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment loss & 5 fE YR8 R (E 5 1B

on trade receivables (note 18(b)) (Bm),/ B (ME18(b)) (1,023) 4,601
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment FEREEERE (L)

loss on inventories (note 17) (MI5E17) 3,270 (652)

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 8

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

BERANAX (BEERESHE)

2019 2018

—ZE-hEF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Wages, salaries and allowances T& - %He KkiEaL 154,846 165,002
Retirement benefit costs RRAEFI R AR 24,293 25,104
Share-based payment (note 25) VARR AR A E RS R (Fi3E25) 3,533 3,667
182,672 193,773
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBEBRERMT
BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 9 EEZEMEAN#ER
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to the section RIBE A BHEBHI E383E I B E BH B
383 of the Companies Ordinance is as follows: ™
2019 2018
—E-NF ZE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TFET FAET
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect  FBREIARITEE (BEH A
of a person’s services as a director, RARHEK B AR ETR)
whether of the Company or its EffsER S
subsidiary undertaking:
Fees we 720 720
Basic salaries, allowances and EX%He  RER
benefits in kind B 15,320 13,768
Discretionary bonuses BB EAL - -
Employer’s contribution to a retirement RIRREFET S8 fE EH K
benefit scheme 1,116 1,348
Share-based payment VAR 17 B E AT 5k 2,483 2,483
19,639 18,319
(a) Directors’ retirement benefits (a) EEZERNKEF
No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable REBEE-ZT—-hEF+=A=+—H
by any Directors in respect of their other services in IEEE BERTRNESEHEER
connection with the management of the affairs of the ANaE S E M B AR EHE AR
Company or its subsidiary undertaking during the year M sk R ERAERN (=
ended 31 December 2019 (2018:nil). —\F | o
(b) Directors’ termination benefits (b) EEZBEREF
No payment was made to Directors as compensation REBEE-ZT-hEF+=H=1+—H
for the early termination of the appointment during the IHEE  BEpRRFRLEZEmMR
year ended 31 December 2019 (2018:nil). EEZXMEANRESRE (ZF—
NE |, o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERKE

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 9 E=E=EN{EFE#ER (&)

(Continued)

(c) Consideration provided to third parties for (c)
making available directors’ services

Save at disclosed above, no other payment was
made to the former employer or Directors for making
available the services of them as a Director of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2019
(2018:nil).

(d) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other (d)
dealings in favour of Directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
Directors

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of Directors, controlled bodies corporate by
and connected entities with such Directors during the
year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: none).

(e) Directors’ material interests in transactions, (e)
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Company’s business to
which the Company was a party and in which a
Director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year ended 31
December 2019 (2018: none).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 9
(Continued)

(f)

Directors’ emolument

The remuneration of every Director for the year ended
31 December 2019 and 2018 is set out below:

REMBWMRMEE

EENENRER (£)

) E=s

BE-Z2-AER-_FB—N\&F+=
B=+—ALFEEEEFHOT -

Employer’s
Basic salary, contribution
allowances to retirement Share-
and benefits  Discretionary benefit based
Fees in kind bonuses scheme  payment Total
Exge. RiCEA DR
BER g U RER
we ENER WiEEA B UES a3t
HK8'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
&7 &7 b7 AT 87 AT
2019 ey 3
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Lai Yiu Wah PRERE - 4,487 - 558 869 5,914
Mr. Tai Leung Lam ARMEE - 4,434 - 558 869 5,861
Mr. Joseph Mac Carthy Joseph Mec Carthy% 4 - 2,640 - - 745 3,385
Mr. Georges René Gener Georges René Gener7t &
(note ) () - 3,759 - - - 3,759
Independent Non-executive By 31785
Directors
Mr. Fung Chun Chung BERLE 240 - - - - 240
Mr. Cheung Kin Wing REgLE 240 - - - - 240
Mr. Wong Raymond Fook Lam  EH&F 4 240 = S = - 240
720 15,320 - 1,116 2,483 19,639
2018 —Z-)\F
Executive Directors YHITEE
Mr. Lai Yiu Wah RRELE - 4,497 - 558 869 5,924
Mr. Tai Leung Lam ARMEE = 4,433 = 558 869 5,860
Mr. Joseph Mac Carthy Joseph Mec Carthy’% & = 2,640 = = 745 3,385
Mr. Georges René Gener Georges René Genert &
(note i) (Bzh) - 498 = = = 498
Mr. Kwan Tak Sum Stanley BERLE (ki)
(note i) - 1,700 - 282 - 1,932
Independent Non-executive ~ BUFHTES
Directors
Mr. Fung Chun Chung BHERLE 240 - - - - 240
Mr. Cheung Kin Wing RRALE 240 - = = = 240
Mr. Wong Raymond Fook Lam B4 240 - - - = 240
720 13,768 - 1,348 2,483 18,319
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERKE

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 9 EEWHEFMNEER (&)
(Continued)
() Directors’ emolument (Continued) ) EEMS (E)
Notes: et -

(i) Mr. Georges René Gener was appointed as executive Director (i) Georges René Generft £ —Z — \4F
of the Company on 2 November 2018 and was resigned with T+ AZHEZEARRARRITEST
effect from 15 February 2020. RZZ-ZZF_A+HHERHE -

(ii) Mr. Kwan Tak Sum Stanley retired as executive Director of the (ii) BEREENR-_T—\FREA=1+HA
Company on 25 May 2018. BRAEXRNBNITES -

There was no arrangement under which a Director or REBEE-ZT—-hLF+=—A=1+—8H

the chief executive officer waived or agreed to waive IEEE EFHFETHRABLE

any remuneration during the year ended 31 December ZHMEXRBREARNEN (=ZF

2019 (2018:nil). —N\EF fE) o

(9) Five highest paid individuals (9) EEESFMAL

The five individuals whose emoluments were the BHE_T-AF+_A=+—BIL

highest in the Group for the year ended 31 December FE AEEBRARSFMHMALE

2019 included 4 Directors (2018: 3 Directors) whose FErloMREEMEN4IRES

emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented (ZE—N\F :3RE=E) - HEZ-ZT

above. The emoluments payable to the remaining 1 —NWE+-_A=+—"HILFEE &
individual during the year ended 31 December 2019 N T1EENAT (ZE—N\F:

(2018: 2 individuals) are as follows: 2F@ERIAL) KBS T -

2019 2018
—E-NF ZT—N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEIT
Basic salaries, allowances and EXEs 2K

benefits in kind BEWEF 4,451 4,368
Discretionary bonuses BB E4L 346 -

Remuneration paid or payable in PR RS C A ek R
respect of accepting office HEN - 1,620
4,797 5,988
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BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 9

(Continued)

(g) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (9)

The number of non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within

the following band is as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRMEE

EENENRESR (B)

hEBRBFMAL (&)
FHMNFUATHRBENIFESE RIETT
B &= EEARINT

2019 2018
—g-nE B N\F
Nil — HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000 7T - -
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/&7c 21,500,000/ 7T = -
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/&7c 22,000,000/ 7T = -
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 2,000,001% T £2,500,0007% 7T = -
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,500,0017% T £ 3,000,0007% 7T - 1
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7 23,500,000/ 7T - 1
HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 7T £4,000,0007% 7T = -
HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000 4,000,0018 524,500,000/ 7T = -
HK$4,500,001 — HK$5,000,000 4,500,001%8 75 25,000,000/ 7T 1 -
10 FINANCE EXPENSES, NET 10 BB FHEE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E—-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET F&T ]
Finance income BRI A
Bank interest income HRITH U A 1,245 979
Other interest income H Ath K S A 43 160
Finance income B A 1,288 1,139
Finance expenses B
Interest on bank borrowings RITIE A
- Wholly repayable within five years —ARAEFAZHEER (5,584) (6,931)
Interest on lease liabilities (note 35) HEBEF B (FIFESS) (1,839) -
Other finance expenses H B2
Bank charges RITUE (5,617) (6,034)
Finance expenses g 3 (13,040) (12,9695)
Finance expenses, net SRS FAE (11,752) (11,826) %
=z
S
ST
o)
e
5
@
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BMRMEE
11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

11 FIERAX

The amount of taxation in the consolidated statement HETHEKRFERABESENT :
of comprehensive income represents:
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Current income tax: BNEAFR 1B HY
- Hong Kong — BB 1,527 6,977
— The PRC —h 488 284
2,015 7,261
Overprovision in prior years BEFE B (254) -
Deferred income tax (note 26(c)) EIEFTISEL (MIFE26(c)) 193 -
Income tax expense FifsfiA X 1,954 7,261

(a)

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7)
Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law
on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the following
day.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first
HK$2 million of profits of qualifying corporation will be
taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will
be taxed at 16.5%. Accordingly, starting from the year
ended 31 December 2018, Hong Kong profits tax of
the qualified entity is calculated in accordance with
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The profits of
other group entities in Hong Kong not qualifying for
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to
be taxed at the flat rate of 16.5%.
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R YRBREBRRNE -

BBEFSHARS & &K EE
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8.25% + if #A 2,000,000/ JT A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

(b)

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”) is provided on
the assessable income of entities within the Group
incorporated in the PRC, calculated in accordance
with the relevant regulations of the PRC after
considering the available tax benefits.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law
passed by the Tenth National People’s Congress on
16 March 2007, the CIT for domestic and foreign
enterprises has been unified at 25%, effective from
1 January 2008.

Panyu Trio Microtronics Co., Ltd. (“Trio Microtronics”)
was set up as a foreign investment manufacturing
enterprise in the PRC. On 11 December 2017, Trio
Microtronics was awarded the NHTE accreditation by
Guangdong Science and Technology Department (&
HARIEZRiTEE) for an effective period of three years
from 11 December 2017 to 11 December 2020. As
such, Trio Microtronics can enjoy a Preferential CIT
rate of 15% for three financial years from 2017 to
2019. Its CIT rate for the year ended 31 December
2019 was 15% (2018: 15%).

No provision for CIT in Ireland has been made as the
Group has no assessable income in Ireland during the
year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: nil).

No provision for CIT in Germany has been made as
the Group has sufficient tax losses brought forward to
set off against assessable profits for the year ended
31 December 2019. (2018: nil).

REMBRRMEE

11 FrEHEAX (&)

(o)

RSN ([EXAEH]) T
REBARREHOTBEER R
15 P B AR B AR E 1R A B B N RE AR
A EBANERZ BRTUA
AHEERME o

BEETEZEARRERRER =
TEEF=A+HBAN(PED
EMERE)  BARINEDSER D
EMBHAE_EENE—AF—HiE
B—H25% o

BENTMEEHRLEMERER QA
(IHEBHMERE] RNPEKLAE—
RONEIRERERFE - R —+
F+-A+—H HEWERNEE
RERSBEMER TR RMmeE
MRE AR AE-_ZT—+F+=
At+—HAZE-_E-_ZTFE+_-_A+—
He AR —_ZTE—tFE_ZT—N
FH - RFEHREMERTZ
15%MEBEELEMSEHE - HEZE
—E-NF+ZA=+—HLFE
MEEMBREARIE% (ZFT—N
& 15%) °

BE_T-hF+-_A=t—HL
FEASERNE BB L EERTK
A BABEBREBBIELEEAE
W (ZF—\F : &) -

AEEARRRBGERAKAEEN
BHHEBE T NF+_A=1+—
B FREERB G - B &N
BELEEMEHERS (TN
|
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 11 FIBHAX (&)
The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from 62 (B bR PS50 A s ) 750 T8 B 4% i AR R U
the theoretical amount that would arise using the tax rate MEOREAE 2 BmEBEERNNT ¢

applicable to profits as follows:

2019 2018
—E-NF —ET-N\EF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Profit before income tax B AT 1S 250 Al A A 24,311 49,639
Calculated at a tax rate of 16.5% (2018: ZFHEL16.5% (ZZT— )\F :
16.5%) 16.5%) stE 2 1A 4,011 8,190
Effect of different tax rates in other EMBERTRRENTE
countries (291) (341)
Income not subject to tax BERTBA (4,589) (4,324)
Tax losses for which no deferred tax WERERIRLEFTSHEE
asset was recognised ZTIBEE 151 568
Expenses not deductible for tax Rk
purposes 3,139 3,333
Utilisation of previously unrecognised BB K FHER 2 FiIEE 1B
tax loss (48) -
Overprovision in prior years BEFEHBERE (254) =
Concession tax rate DE R S (165) (165)
Income tax expense FriS®if X 1,954 7,261
12 EARNINGS PER SHARE 12 SRER
(a) Basic earnings per share (a) BREXEF
The basic earnings per share is calculated on the ERERZFDIRARRER NE
profit attributable to owners of the Company divided MRFBRABEZZE-—NER=ZT
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares —\F+-A=1+—RILFEBE%
in issue during the year ended 31 December 2019 TEBRMNETHREGTE -
and 2018.
2019 2018
—E-NF ZZE—N\F
Profit attributable to owners of the iN/NEIE ¥ PN gl
Company (HK$'000) (F#&m) 22,357 42,378
Weighted average number of ordinary & 217 3@ A% InkE F RS
shares in issue (thousand shares) (FR) 1,000,000 1,000,000
Basic earnings per share (HK cents)  GRREARZF (&) 2.24 4.24
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRMRMEE
12 EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued) 12 SREF (&)
(b) Diluted earnings per share (b) SREBBEERR
The diluted earnings per share is calculated by FREERNTEBFEEITLIN
adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary mEFrHLaRKRENBERERS
shares outstanding to assume conversion of all EEEEEERGTE -
dilutive potential ordinary shares.
For the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, HE_Z-NFERZE-—N\F+=
the amount of diluted earnings per share presented BR=+—RHLFE FMENSkE
was same as the amount of the basic earnings per BREMNCHEREREREFN ¢ FEE
share as the share options of the Company have an B - TTEARRA RS IERES REE
anti-dilutive effect. WHpE -
13 DIVIDENDS 13 RE
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-NF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Interim dividend paid of HKO0.8 cent BT B B AR E @ AR 0.8/ 1l
(2018: nil) per ordinary share (ZBE—N\F : &) 8,000 -
Special dividend in 2018 of HK0.8 cent —Z— \FE4& RIS FI L@
per ordinary share 0.87811 - 8,000
Proposed final dividend of ERARE SR ®ER0.88L
HKO0.8 cent (2018: HK1.8 cents) —E-N\F - 1.881) —
per ordinary share (note) (Htat) 8,000 18,000
16,000 26,000
Note: Hta -
A final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2019 of HK0.8 REBE_T-NAFT+_A=T—HLEFENKRPRE
cent per ordinary share, amounting to a total dividend of HK$8,000,000, is BT mAR0.87 Il (A% 5424 58 /58,000,000% 7T)
to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company BR-ZBE-ZEFREA-TNABERBITIZARRER
to be held on 29 May 2020. BERAFAS LIRS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERKE

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 Y% BERRE

Land & Plant & Furniture & Office Motor  Leasehold Construction
buildings  machinery fixtures  equipment vehicles improvements  in progress Total
1 HE &R PAE HENE
R RHH R#E B haf: £ EEIR @
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FEr FEr FEr FEr FEr FEr ér  FEn
Year ended HEZZ-1E
31 December 2019 TZA=T-ALEE
Net book value at RZE-NE-A-H
1 January 2019 MEAFE 24,850 6,805 9,209 286 634 7,563 267 49,614
Exchange realignment ERAE - - £] ] - 9 - (13)
Additions (note (i) RE (M) - 16,135 1,570 268 1,319 10 - 19,302
Surplus on revaluation BitER 699 - - - - - - 699
Disposals il - 9 (20) (16) - - ) (52)
Depreciation e (949) (3,495) (3,169) (100) (342) (3,120) - (11,175)
Balance as at RZE-NE
31 December 2019 TZAZT-RMES 24600 19,436 7,587 437 1,611 4,444 260 58375
At 31 December 2019 RZE-1%
t-A=+-H
Cost or valuation BAdfE 24,600 48,190 21,028 3,850 3,841 21,534 260 129,303
Accumulated depreciation  Z:tifE - (8754 (13441) (3413) (2,230) (23,000) - (1092)
Net book value at RZE-NE
31 December 2019 t=A=t1-A
MREFE 24,600 19,436 7,587 437 1,611 4,444 260 58,375
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERME

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 14 Y% - BMERRE (&)

Land & Plant & Furniture & Office Motor  Leasehold Construction
buildings  machinery fixtures equipment  vehicles improvements in progress Total
1 HE &R BAE HENE
kEF RH#R R$E #fE RE £ ERIE it
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$000  HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FAr A7 FEr &7 FEr FAr FAr FEr
Year ended BE-E-N\%
31 December 2018 TZRAZt-RALEE
Net book value at RZE-N\E-F-H
1 January 2018 N FE 24,400 6,252 6,852 48 M 6,129 267 44,729

Exchange realignment EiAE - - - - - 3 - 3

Reclassification EFipp - 56 (56) = = = = =

Addtions (note (j) FE (W) : 3,157 5,209 285 435 4,704 - 13810

Surplus on revaluation E 1426 - - - - - - 1,426

Disposals k=4 - - (49) - - - - (49)

Depreciation & (976) (2,660) (2,767) 17) (212) (3,279 - (10,005)

Balance as at RZF-NE

31 December 2018 TZA=T—-RH&s 24,850 6,805 9,209 286 634 7,563 267 49,614

At 31 December 2018 RZE-N%

+-A=1-H

Cost or valuation R RER b {E 24,850 33,323 19,711 3,637 3,698 27,634 267 118,020

Accumulated depreciaion ~ 25H7& - 6518 (10500 (335 (3064 (19.971) - (83.408)

Net book value at RZE-N\F ]

31 December 2018 T-A=1-H
MEAFE 24,850 6,805 9,209 286 634 7,563 267 49,614

The analysis of the cost or valuation at 31 December 2019 of the above assets is as follows:

FHEER T -—NFFTA=T—BHHRARIEEITHOT :

At cost G - 19,436 7,587 437 1,611 4,444 260 33775

At valuation faftfE 24,600 - - - - - - 24,600

24,600 19,436 1,587 431 1,611 4,444 260 58,375

Note: BzE -

0] Additions of property, plant and equipment amounting to 0] BE-Z - NF+-A=T—"HLFEAEH g
HK$19,302,000 during the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: 19,302,000/ 7T (=ZZ — /\£F : 13,810,000/% Z
HK$13,810,000) mainly consisted of machineries and equipment L) MYE - BERREAEETERRERE= @ ‘3—2
purchased from third-party independent vendors for the development FRUBERAMEEARARAEFNEEREM & S
of new production base and upgrading of existing production facilities FHRRBEEREOKERERME  FEERE b
as set out in the prospectus of the Company dated 13 November ANEIBEEHAZTE—tF+—A+=BZ2HBEKE o g
2017. 2o n

@
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERKE

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 14 Y% - BMERRE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2019, depreciation
expense of HK$3,495,000 and HK$7,680,000 (2018:
HK$2,660,000 and HK$7,645,000) was charged to “cost
of sales” and “administrative expenses” respectively.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s land and buildings
are held under medium term leases (unexpired period
between 20 years to 50 years) and the carrying amounts
of land and buildings pledged as part of the securities for
banking facilities from a bank amounted to HK$24,600,000
(2018: HK$24,850,000).

As at 31 December 2019, the net carrying amounts of the
Group’s fixed assets held under finance leases (note 23
to consolidated financial statements) included in the total
amount of plant and machinery was HK$208,000 (2018:
HK$1,355,000).

Valuation processes of the Group

The Group’s land and building was valued at 31 December
2019 and 2018 by independent professionally qualified
valuers who held a recognised relevant professional
qualification and had recent experience in the locations
and segments of the assets valued. For land and building,
the current use equates to the highest and best use.

The Group’s finance division includes a team that reviews
the valuations performed by the independent valuers for
financial reporting purposes. This team reports directly
to the chief financial officer (“CFO”) and the Directors.
Discussions of valuation processes and results are held
between the CFO, directors, the valuation team and valuers
annually. As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the fair values
of the land and building were determined by Grant Sherman
Appraisal Limited.

HE-_ZE—-NET+-A=+—HILtEE
¥ E & 3,495,000 JT }&7,680,000
B (Z & — )\ F :2,660,000% 7t &
7,645,000/ 7C) D RIFTA TSHEER A &
[FTERBAS ] -

RZE-hE+-A=+—8 X£E>
T REFAEP AL CGRaBHE A
20F E50F) 5H - U REIRIF L KiE
F WEABRITIREMNRITRENIHE
R) BRI B A24,600,0008 ¢ (ZZ— N\
£ 1 24,850,000/ 7T) °

RZEBE-—NF+ZA=+—H  A&E:
ABELEMEREZIZRBERE (KEY
AN FE23) KB 2 BE B EREFE
#3208,000/ 7T (=ZZ — )\ : 1,355,000
BTT) °

AEEWEERRE
AEENTHEEFR_T-NFR-F
—NE+ZA=+—HHAEXEERBL
HEMGE  ZEEHEMAFR NI
EXER  UEGBEBEENHRED BT
EREAOLS - At REFTMmE - B
AAZEER R RRERR -

REBNMBHBE—SAEEZBIG
BB REETOEENBE - ZE
BEEZAEFVEE ((BEEMEE]D &
EERE - HEVHE  EF - HEEK
MEEMBFREEBRRREREITH
WeRZE-—NEFR_ZE—N\F+ZA=
+—8 L REFHAFERPETGE
BRAFERE °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
Valuation processes of the Group (Continued)

At each financial year end, the finance division:

° verifies all major inputs to the independent valuation
report;

o assesses property valuations movements when
compared to the prior year valuation report; and

o holds discussions with the independent valuers.

Valuation techniques

For land and building, the valuation was determined using
the sale comparison approach. Sale prices of comparable
properties in close proximity are adjusted for differences in
key attributes such as property size. The most significant
input into this valuation approach is price per square
foot, which is approximately amounted to HK$6,135 per
square foot for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018:
HK$6,237 per square foot).

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

REMBRRMEE

14 9% BERRHE (F)

FEBNGEERRE (&)
REMBRFEREER - B%E

s REBIUMEREZIMBEIEHA
2

. RLEBBEFEIEEREE T
EEEEES R

o  BHBVAERE °

fEERTS

ST MEFTME - HERBHEELEOA
BE - HOTEBMENHEERSERE
MEXNNERBRBUEZEMAR - ZEE
FRAZRERABEEHREFIRZ
B BE_T-NAF+_A=+t—HL
FEREFHRA6,135ET (ZF—/\
F: 8FHRE,237ETT) °

15 BAFEFARSZRNENEE

2019 2018

—2-NnF —N\E

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET FET

Unlisted key man insurance contract LM -—ZERREYD 8,621 6,765
As at 31 December 2019, the financial assets at fair value Z-NE+A=1T—8  BROFEFA

through profit or loss represented the investment element of
the key man insurances purchased for Mr. Lai Yiu Wah, an
executive Director of the Company and Mr. Lo Ka Kei Jun,
a senior management of the Group (2018: Mr. Lai Yiu Wah).

During the year ended 31 December 2018, after the
retirement of Mr. Kwan Tak Sum Stanley on 25 May
2018, the Group surrendered the insurance policy with
the insurance company and a loss of HK$376,000 was
recognised to consolidated statement of comprehensive
income for the year ended 31 December 2018.

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amounts of financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss pledged as
security for the Group’s bank loan outstanding amounted
to HK$5,189,000 (2018: HK$6,000,000).

?@ ﬁEE‘Jimﬂﬁi*TaK@Tﬂﬁi%?ﬁﬁ@é%
ERAEBSREEERESELE (ZT—N
FoRRELE) IBEEZERERNORETE -

HE-_ZT—)/\E+-_A=1+—BILEFE  &H
EREER - N\FEFRA-_THEBETE
AEBWET LBRBRAAGIZARE - WHRE
EF - \F+-_A=+—BHLFEKFEEMA
W a= R R ET 376,000 7T °

A\ hE+_A=+—8 " tEAXEEX
EEBITERERRNEAFEFABRERN
& Rl & E BR T (E 55,189,000 T (ZZE— N
: 6,000,000/ 7T) °

—H?I—H>nTn}F§
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BMRMEE

16 SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December

2019 and 2018 are as follows:

Place of incorporation

16 KEBAF

RZE—NEFERZZE—-N\F+_A=+—

BZEXEMBARFEAT :

or establishment and Issued and Effective interest held
Company name type of legal entity Principal activities paid-in capital by the Company
SMEL K LR
ARER ERERES TEEH BRTRESRE  FOAREERER
2019 2018
“8-hE  —F)E
Directly held:
EERE:
Trio Engineering Company Hong Kong/Limited liability Sales of electronic 200,000 shares 100% 100%
Limited company products HK$20,000,000
LTRBRAA BB/ AREAAH HEETER 200,000MR& {7
20,000,000/ 7
Professional Electronics Hong Kong/Limited liability Sales of electronic 10,000 shares 100% 100%
Manufacturing Solutions company products HK$10,000
Limited
LREFIEASBARDA B/ BRELRA HEETEM 10,000MR& {3
10,0007 7T
Deltrix Limited Hong Kong/Limited liability Sales of electronic 10,000 shares 100% 100%
company products HK$10,000
EHHNBERAF B4/ BREEAHA HEBTER 10,0008 5
10,0007 7T
Indirectly held:
BEEA
Panyu Trio Microtronics The PRC/Wholly Manufacturing of Paid-in capital 100% 100%
Co., Ltd. foreign-owned enterprise electronic products US$5,000,000
BN ERHENER e/ NEBERE HEETEM EQRA
BRAAF 5,000,000% T
Guangzhou Professional The PRC/Wholly Sales of electronic Paid-in capital 100% 100%
Electronics Manufacturing foreign-owned enterprise products RMB500,000
Solutions Limited
BMNEREFIXRE e/ NEBERE HEETEm EQRA
AR AR¥500,0007
Trio Engineering GmbH Germany/Limited Sales and development of Paid-in capital 100% 100%
liability company printed circuit boards EUR200,000
and electronics sub-
assemblies
Trio Engineering GmbH BH/ EREADT ENRIE B4R R B FAA M EHRA
HHE R FE 200,000& 7T
Trio-tronics Manufacturing Ireland/Limited Global sourcing and 100,000 shares 100% 100%
Global Limited liability company purchase of materials, EUR100,000
sales and marketing,
service support
Trio-tronics Manufacturing ~ EEW /BREEAF 2RRBREEMH 100,0008 817
Global Limited HEREH  RBEXH 100,008 7T
Deltrix (Europe) Limited Ireland/Limited Manufacturing of 100,000 shares 100% N/A
liability company electronic components EUR100,000
Deltrix (Europe) Limited ERW/ BREALA BETFHH 100,000 R 13 100% ok
100,0008X7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBWMRME
17 INVENTORIES 17 BE&

The carrying amounts of the inventories, net of allowances, FENEREE (BHNREE) 2EUTS

is made of below: |
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TFHETT FAET
Raw materials EM R 99,203 134,793
Work in progress RS 23,431 33,515
Finished goods 25K 19,728 17,440
Goods in transit TEER 2,733 4,066
145,095 189,814

18

The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and included
in “cost of sales” amounted to HK$498,528,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: HK$540,403,000).
A provision for impairment of inventories of HK$3,270,000
was recognised in “other operating expenses, net” in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: reversal of provision
for impairment of inventories of HK$652,000).

BE_Z—NWF+-_A=+—HLFE"
BREAITAHAHERA NEE
X AN 498,528,000/ 7T (=& — )\ & :
540,403,000/ L) - BHE-_ZT—NF+=
A=Z+—BHLFE  REEA2ERERA
BRAHMKCERT FE] NTEREAE
B 1% 53,270,000 L (ZE—N\F : 7
ERERER[652,00087T) °

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18 B RHMEWRIE
2019 2018
—E-NEF —ZT—N\F
Note HKS°000 HK$’000
Kt F#ET FHET
Trade receivables B 5 IR (@) 157,175 110,751

Less: allowance for impairment of B BB EWGRIE

trade receivables BB (b) (1,329) (4,601)
Trade receivables — net B S RN — F R 155,846 106,150
Other receivables E b e Uk FR T8 789 184
156,635 106,334

Under the factoring arrangement with banks, the Group
has transferred certain trade receivables to the factor in
exchange for cash and is prevented from selling or pledging
the receivables. The Group has been legally transferred all
of the risks and rewards of ownership of the discounted
trade receivables to the financial institutions. The carrying
amounts of the trade receivables exclude receivables which
are subject to a factoring arrangement.

RIFRRTZRARERY - AREEKE
TESREFAER ZRIEANBRIGR
T - WHREEIE R EREREWFR - K&
BEKEMBREEZREFKBAMBAENAE
R RERAEAERTCHESR - BEHE
WHIRREEN BB REZPRR A E
WORKIA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BMRMEE

18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

Trade receivables were arising from trading of
electronic products. The payment terms of trade
receivables granted to third party customers generally
range from full payment before shipment to net 90
days. The aging analysis of the trade receivables
based on invoice date at end of the reporting period
is as follows:

18 B RHMEWKIE (&)

Mkt -

(a)

EIRBRERBEEEEFEM -
BRTYE=TEFNEZREFIAN
MHRER -—REEEMEENRE
WE%IOKR - RIBEHRBEH - HE
HI R E 5 & WK IR &Y B e 0 4 40
T

2019 2018

—E-NE  —EF)N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Below 30 days 30K 85,083 43,574
Between 31 and 60 days 31E60X 37,249 34,902
Over 60 days 60K A 34,843 32,275
157,175 110,751

Trade and other receivables are past due when a
counterparty has failed to make a payment when
contractually due.

As at 31 December 2019, trade receivables of
HK$126,821,000 (2018: HK$79,443,000) were not
yet past due.
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B F ARG B B 5K
B B 5 R E AR FIRE AR S
5 -

R-ZEBE-HAhE+-_A=+—0" %
5 Y FNIE 126,821,000 7T (==&
— J\%F : 79,443,000/ JT) & & #
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired
relate to a number of independent customers for
whom there is no significant financial difficulty and
based on past experience, the overdue amounts can

REMBWMRMEE

18 ESRHEHMEWRE (&£)
(@ (&)
B AN ERE 28 5 - WA
HEZAVESAPERENBLR
FEBH BEBTLRE  TKREZ
ZBEFIE - ZERNFIENREKR

be recovered. The aging analysis of these receivables ST -
is as follows:
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Past due by: wEEf
Below 30 days 30K 22,291 23,715
Between 31 and 60 days 31£260K 1,599 4,412
Over 60 days 60K A 6,464 3,181
30,354 31,308

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables

AREBEE S EYFIAZREEAT

are denominated in the following currencies: PIEHEEHE ¢
2019 2018
—E-hE  —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET F#r
HK$ BT 253 26
RMB AR 1,865 1,448
Us$ E7T 155,045 109,277
EUR BT 12 -
157,175 110,751
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BMRMEE

18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(b)

Allowance for impairment of trade receivables

The movements on the allowance for impairment of
trade receivables are as follows:

18 B RHMEWKIE (&)

(b)

B 5 R RR E R

B RWFRRERBZRNT

2019 2018

—E-hF —ZE-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

At 1 January n—H—H 4,601 =
(Decrease)/increase in loss allowance FARGEE2ERE
recognised in consolidated statement of RERZEBEREMB

comprehensive income during the year CRA), (1,023) 4,601
Receivables written off during the year as £ A& S 7] Uiz B3 5 FE

uncollectible I RIR (2,249) S

At 31 December R+—_A=+—H 1,329 4,601

The creation and release of provision for impaired
receivables have been included in “other operating
expenses, net” in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. Amounts charged to the
allowance account are generally written off, when
there is no expectation of recovering additional cash.

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables
approximate their fair values as at 31 December 2019
and 2018.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit loss which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables.
Information about the impairment of trade receivables
and the Group’s exposure to credit risk can be found
in note 3.1(b) to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRMRMEE
19 PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS 19 ERRERZES

2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZT-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEIT
Prepayments TEfTRIR 9,249 14,451
Rental, utility and other deposits W% AAEEREMZS 11,524 3,901
20,773 18,352

Less: non-current portion B IEREIE S
Prepayments TEfRTRIA (1,897) (1,663)
Current portion mEE D 18,876 16,689

The carrying amounts of deposits of the Group approximate AEEZEHNEMEHRER -F ﬂﬁ&_ =
their fair values as at 31 December 2019 and 2018. —NE+A=+—HZAVERSE

20 RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK 20 ZR&IBTEIREBETERESLE

AND CASH BALANCES E%

2019 2018

—E-NEF —ZT-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

F#ET FET

Restricted bank deposits (note (a)) ZRRHIERITER (FisE () 6,186 8,114
Time deposit up to three months BE=EARU T TEHT

= 85,000 40,898

Bank and cash balances R1TRIR R 12,679 153,682

97,679 194,580

Notes: Hiat -

(@) The Group’s restricted bank deposits represented (a) AEENIREFEITERAEFHR
deposits pledged to banks to secure banking facilities BITHNER MMEARAMKHRE
granted to a subsidiary of the Group as set out in note MWar2s8mER FASE —KMB A
28 to the consolidated financial statements. AIRERITREE 2 A o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERKE

20 RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK 20 ZRHIBITERRBITIRAESE

AND CASH BALANCES (Continued) &R (&)

(b) The carrying amounts of restricted bank deposits, time (b) AEENZRARITER - BE=
deposit up to three months, cash and bank balances AT EHRFER - Re kiR
of the Group are denominated in the following THABNRAEN T EEE -
currencies:

2019 2018

—E-hnEF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

HK$ BT 96,020 142,201
Us$ e 4,097 49,379
RMB AR 2,749 10,132
EUR R T 960 960
Other currencies BB 39 22
103,865 202,694

(c) The Group’s bank and cash balances included () HEABLRERM= A£EM
the following for the purpose of the consolidated RIRB4ESRSIENTES
statement of cash flows:

2019 2018

—E-hF —FE-N\F

HK$’000 HK$°000

FET FET

Time deposit up to three months REI= (8 A s A T HE BiTF 5K 85,000 40,898

Bank and cash balances RITNIB 46k 12,679 163,682

Bank overdraft (note 22) HRITER (MIzE22) (841) (344)

Cash and cash equivalents B MREEEY 96,838 194,236

The restricted deposits, time deposit up to three RZE—NF+_A=+-—"HB %

months, and bank and cash balances are at fixed RHFH - AH=ZEAxATHE

interest rate range from 0.001% to 2.55% per HFEHRUARBITRIBSEHRIZET

annum (2018: 0.01% to 2.10% per annum) as at 31 F R X & E0.001%%E2.55% (==&

December 2019 and therefore are subject to fair value —N\F  FHZE0.01%E2.10%) =t
interest rate risk. B AZEmBRAFTEMNERRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

REMBWMRMEE

21 ESZRHEMENRE

2019 2018

—E-hHF —E-N\F

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

k=3 FET FET

Trade payables B SN HRIE (@) 78,640 108,407
Trust receipts 3R E 25,224 52,238
Accruals and other payables FEET N E At FE A RIR 14,643 20,382
118,507 181,027

Notes:

(a)

The credit terms of trade payables granted by the
vendors generally range from full payment before
shipment to net 180 days. The aging analysis of trade
payables based on invoice date at and of reporting
period is as follows:

Bt -

(@ EBEAXRTHEZENFKENEED
—REEAME2HENRERERI80K
TE - RBEFEAH  MEHRDH
BHRNFRREONAOT

2019 2018

—E-NF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Below 30 days 30RAT 40,086 53,5693
Between 31 and 60 days 31E60X 26,975 39,101 —

Over 60 days 60K A 11,579 15,713

78,640 108,407
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERKE

21 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 21 EZRHEMENSFIE (2)

(b) The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables b) AEEESENRBEZEEREBENRT

are denominated in the following currencies: P|EHEEETE
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FEIT
HK$ BT 12,936 17,500
Us$ ET 33,578 39,894
RMB AR 30,049 44,639
EUR BT 1,384 5,103
Other currencies Hfh & 693 1,271
78,640 108,407

22 BORROWINGS 22 &R

2019 2018
—E-NF ZE—N\F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
BtaE FET FET
Profits tax loans FMEHRER (a) - 6,615
Term loans EHERK (a) 5,822 8,912
Insurance premium loan REER (a) 5,189 6,000
Revolving loan BIRER (@) = 10,000
Bank overdraft RITEX 841 344
11,852 31,871
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBEBRERMT
22 BORROWINGS (Continued) 22 f& (&)

The Group’s borrowings were repayable as follows (without AEENBEREREBRLAT (RFETX

taking into account the Repayable on Demand Clause as P 5T (a) T sl 2 Sk (E BN -

detailed in note (a)) below :

2019 2018
—E-NF —ZE-N\F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FETT FET

Within 1 year 1R 2,969 26,655

Between 1 and 2 years 1FEFE24F 2,221 811

Between 2 and 5 years 2EFE5F 5,790 2,600

Over 5 years or above 5 872 1,805

11,852 31,871

Notes: et -

(a) As these loans include a clause that gives the lender (a) HRZEEREBE—EHERETE
the unconditional right to call the loans at any times HRAEBBHEENEEARHEEDE
(“‘Repayment on Demand Clause”), according to HK K REREBER])  REEE
Interpretation 5 “Presentation of Financial Statements BREZEST [MBmERATWm — EX
— Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan ANEBEAREREREZBBRRZIE
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause” HER o] ARTEE SRR
which requires the classification of whole term loans EZREERFINEHERSEAR
containing the Repayment on Demand Clause as PBaE  ZEERIBEARAEE
current liabilities, these loans were classified by the BRBEEE -

Company as current liabilities.

Sk
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME
22 BORROWINGS (Continued) 22 &K (&)

(b) As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the total b)) RZZE-NAER_FT-NF+_A
borrowings pledged by certain assets and their =+—H URETEEFEERNE
carrying values are shown as below: BREEREEITRNAT

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FET
Property, plant and equipment W - BENERE (Hit14)
(note 14) 24,600 24,850
Financial assets at fair value through 12 A F Bzt ABZEH
profit or loss (note 15) TSREE (Wit15) 8,621 6,765
Restricted bank deposits (note 20) SRBIRITER (B3E20) 6,186 8,114
39,407 39,729
The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest RIM|EBR > KREEEREEREAOF
rate changes and the contractual repricing dates at YR NLEREHCEBHN
end of the reporting period are as follows: o
2019 2018
—E-NF ZZE—N\F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FEIT
Within 1 year 1FR 11,852 31,871
The fair value of current borrowings equals their BERITRFEWIFEKN - BIEER
carrying amounts, as the impact of discounting is not ZAFEEAREEES -
significant.
The effective interest rate of bank borrowings are HE-_T—-—hhEF+=ZA=+—H
3.88% per annum for the year ended 31 December FEFE  ROTEBERNEBRFAN X
2019 (2018: 4.17% per annum). £8.88% (=& — \F: F 7 %

417%) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBWMRME
22 BORROWINGS (Continued) 22 &R (&)
(b) (Continued) (b) (&)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are REFEZZEmMEIN T EES
denominated in the following currencies: 17 :
2019 2018
—E-NF —ZT-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FHET
HK$ BT 6,663 25,871
Us$ T 5,189 6,000
11,852 31,871
The Group has the following undrawn borrowing NEBSAE TH N RIZEHE
facilities: BER
2019 2018
—E-NF —EF-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEIT
Expiring within one year N—E R H 208,249 119,752
23 FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES 23 FIEHREESFIE —
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFETT FET
Gross finance lease liabilities MEHEEBEHEE
- minimum lease payments - BREHEEMNR
Within 1 year 16 R 43 882
Future finance charges on finance lease MERENARBES B - (16)
Present values of finance lease liabilities mEMEABHEA 43 866
The carrying amounts of balances of the Group approximate REBEBCEREHREN_T-—NFR .
their fair values as at 31 December 2019 and 2018, —E-NF+ZA=+—RHzA2¥EMR £
2>
Assets arranged under finance leases represent plant and RIEFEHEL N EEIEBRE RS o 5
machinery. The average lease term is 4 years (2018: 4 RZZE-—NE+ZA=+—H" FHH =
years) with effective interest rate of 3.63% per annum as at MRAFE(ZZE—NEF 45F) MEK 2
31 December 2019 (2018: 3.63% per annum). FREA363% (ZFE—N\F: FF X
8.63%) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME
24 SHARE CAPITAL 24 R
2019 2018
—%-hE “F0\F
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
e E kX e Eix:
HK$°000 HK$000
FET FET
Issued and fully paid BRTRAR
At the beginning and the end of the year ~ RFEMRFEX 1,000,000,000 281,507 1,000,000,000 281,507

25

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTION

Pursuant to a written resolution of the then shareholder
passed on 27 October 2017, the Company adopted a
Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”). The terms of the
Scheme are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules.

The Scheme is a share incentive scheme established
to recognise and acknowledge the contributions eligible
participants have made to the Group. The Scheme is valid
and effective for a period of ten years commencing on the
date of the adoption of the Scheme, unless terminated
earlier by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Participants may include: (i) any director, employee,
consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner
or adviser of or contractor to any member of the Group
or a company in which the Group holds an interest or a
subsidiary of such company (the “Affiliate”); (ii) the trustee
of any trust the beneficiary of which or any discretionary
trust the discretionary objects of which include any director,
employee, consultant, professional, customer, supplier,
agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to any member
of the Group or an Affiliate; or (i) a company beneficially
owned by any director, employee, consultant, professional,
customer, supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or contractor
to any member of the Group or an Affiliate.

25

UESEERRO/AERTRD
X5
RER-F—tF+A-TLtABEERR
RBBNEERER - ARARABIAE
& (TRt 8)) - ZEFEMGRNE £
MHRAIEI7TEMIE -

et 8l A — R0 R IRREM
BEARBERSEBHAKEMERR MK
Moo AT EIBRFHRBRRAERRAG LIER
b - BRIA % BB B B+ FHRE
BRRBRA -

SLEENRE : (\AEBEMKE AR
REEFBHF RS A BIKZ A BT
BARMEMNES B8 - BH - EXA
B 8P #EYN- RE - 58 ANEHR
ASENE ([BBAL]) @ (\EBBZ%E
ABEREBETRKERRINERNES
BB - B - EEAE TP - fER -
RIE - BBA - B A SR Sk B

TEEMEFEREEEFTRZIEA ¢ k(i)
REBIMKEARNEMNES - ES -
B HEAE - BF - fER - R
BBA - HBMATEPEKEMALE R
2o SN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRANSACTION (Continued)

As at 31 December 2019, the total number of shares
available for issue under the Scheme was 70,000,000
(2018: 70,000,000 shares), representing 7% (2018: 7%) of
the issued share capital of the Company. The aggregate
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and to be exercised under the
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company,
must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Company’s
shares in issue as at the Listing Date. The 10% limit may be
refreshed at any time by obtaining approval of the Company’s
shareholders in general meeting provided that the total
number of the Company’s shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme and
any other share option scheme of the Company, must not
exceed 10% of the Company’s shares in issue as at the date
of the approval of the refreshed limit.

The number of shares issued and to be issued in respect
of which options granted and which may be granted to
any individual in any 12-month period up to the date of the
grant, shall not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue. Any further grant of options in excess of this
limit must be separately approved by the Company’s
shareholders in a general meeting with such grantee and
his/her close associates abstaining from voting. Any grant
of an option to a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company (or any of their respective
associates) must be approved by the independent non-
executive Directors (excluding any independent non-
executive Director who is the grantee of the option).

REMBRRMEE

25 DESEERROAERMSR

x5 (&)
R-ZE—h&E+-A=+—8  BE&:t
£ 7] it 3 17 89 IR {9 42 A 70,000,000%
~—ZT— \4 : 70,000,0000%) » #BE R
NEIDBITERAT% (ZT—\F : 7%) °
RIEZET B R AR eI HAb BN i 5t 2
BRHMA FITEMTE RITERREE
TERAEITHRMNAE - & X TE5HBA
RABRETBHHNBETRMDI0% © 3%
10% ERATBERF A A QAR IRE R E R D
EHUET FAE ST - WREBZATEI AR
AT R RT EER HAATE BAR
TEIETTIER Al T EITHI AR D R IR 1D 4R 8K -
TEBBARA B R EE T EREREBH
FBEEITARMD10% °

RAEMI2EASFERNEERE B T
r] 118 B A o 78 352 R m] S 9% 0 B IR TS I
MBEEITREBRITHRMNEKE - TEHBB
ARAREBITRMA1% - BHIL ERH
EAIEREE — P RE - BASIMEER
AIREERE ARG EHE - MABBRERA
MEBRHBEABHRERE - AIARAE
£ THABRTIERE (HFEF£EH
EABEAN) R ERE  HELHS
NIHERITES (TBEF BBEREARA
MERBIIEMITES) #E -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERKE

25 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 25 UREZEZERRAAEBRSRD

TRANSACTION (Continued)

Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder of
the Company or an independent non-executive Director
(or any of their respective associates) will result in the total
number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of all options already granted and to be granted to such
person under the Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) in any 12-month period up to
and including the date of grant representing in aggregate
over 0.1% of the shares in issue and having an aggregate
value, based on the closing price of the shares at the date
of each grant, in excess of HK$5,000,000, such further
grant of options is required to be approved by shareholders
at a general meeting of the Company, with voting to be
taken by way of a poll.

Upon acceptance of an option to subscribe for shares,
the eligible participant shall pay HK$1 to the Company
as consideration for the grant. The subscription price of
a share subject to options granted under the Scheme
shall be a price determined by the Board and notified to a
participant and shall be at least the higher of:

() the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of the
grant of the option; and

(i) The average closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of
the grant of the option.

X5 (%)
WRAARAEZRRABIIFNTES
(HBEESANEABEA) REEAE
B eEFNEFMI2EARERES
REAH (BFEZA) A LTREZAE
R AR RE ] Bt B AR AR AT B R X K iS 1
BHmEBRE (BREE1TE SFHERk
RARTTE 2 BBAE) BITER S EITRAS
BITHRMN AR S HBBEHETROK
0.1%  BRESXEL A MO KT
B&tE - /8 #3B5,000,000% 7T - 8 &
M — TR HBREARBRERNR AR
RAREg Lk - BAUKREFARR -

B AT REEIR D BV BRI - A B R2
HEAMARAXMIBTERRIKL
BR(E - RIFZEIREBRER S K
RNAREEESHEZSETEW MBI EE
MEWNER LEKIHEERATRS
2

() BMIMEBARERAIEORED
BREEHKRHE: &

(i) BMXABAMEBRATIEONER
REBREASNNAERSBHF
BRTHE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMEmRME

25 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 25 LR ZEZERRAAEBRSRD

TRANSACTION (Continued) x5 (#&)
The movement in the number of share options under the HE_Z-—hWF+_A=1T—HILFE "
Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2019 is as ZETEIE TR R ES A Z5m T -
follows:
Exercise  Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed Outstanding
price  at1 January during during during at 31 December
Date of grant (Note) 2019 theyear  theyear  the year 2019
RZB-1§ R=2-1%
TEE -B-H +=B=+-A8
REAH (W) Eii:d ERRE FRETR  FRXX xE
HK$
AT
Executive Directors
BiTES
Mr. Lai Yiu Wah 28 December 2017 0.954 7,000,000 - - = 7,000,000
PRt ZE—+F
TZAZtAR
Mr. Tai Leung Lam 28 December 2017 0.954 7,000,000 - - - 7,000,000
HRAMEE ZEtF
TZAZTAR
Mr. Joseph Mac Carthy 28 December 2017 0.954 6,000,000 - - - 6,000,000
Joseph Mac Carthy%t & “E+F |
TZAZtAR
Other eligible participants 28 December 2017 0.954 9,700,000 - - (1,300,000) 8,400,000
HthREKSHRE ZEtF
TZAZtAR
29,700,000 - - (1,300,000) 28,400,000
Weighted average exercise price HK$0.954 - - - HK$0.954
MEFHTRE 0.954% T - - - 0954787
Note: The closing price of the share immediately before the date on which Hfet - BEBREERY B SRR KT EA0.95
the share options were granted was HK$0.95. BIT °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BMRMEE

25 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 25

TRANSACTION (Continued)

The movement in the number of share options under the
Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2018 is as

DREZEERROAERSREY
X5 (&)
BE-_Z—-)\FE+t-A=+—HILFE
ZETE TSR ZEn T

follows:
Exercise  Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed Outstanding
price  at1 January during during during at 31 December
Date of grant (Note) 2018 theyear  theyear  the year 2018
RZB-N\% R=B-N\%
TEE -B-H t=A=t-H
REAH (W) Eir:d ERRE FRETR  FRXH K
HK$
AT
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Lai Yiu Wah 28 December 2017 0.954 7,000,000 - - - 7,000,000
PRERE ZE—tF
TZAZtNR
Mr. Tai Leung Lam 28 December 2017 0.954 7,000,000 - - - 7,000,000
HRAMEE ZEtF
TZAZt/R
Mr. Joseph Mac Carthy 28 December 2017 0.954 6,000,000 - - - 6,000,000
Joseph Mac Carthy%t & “E+F
T-AZtAR
Other eligible participants 28 December 2017 0.954 10,000,000 - - (300,000) 9,700,000
HthREKSERE EtF
+tZAZ+AR
30,000,000 - - (300,000) 29,700,000
Weighted average exercise price - HK$0.954 - - HK$0.954
MEFHTRE - 0.954% Tt - - 0.954% Tt

Note: The closing price of the share immediately before the date on which

Brat - EREMEERE R BRI AR 4T B 50.9578

the share options were granted was HK$0.95. JT °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRANSACTION (Continued)

Of the total number of options outstanding at the end of the
year, no share options had vested and were exercisable at
31 December 2019 (2018: none).

The options granted on 28 December 2017 (the “Valuation
Date”) with an exercise price of HK$0.954 per share, are
vested for a period of three years immediately after the
date of the grant. Options granted are exercisable after
three years but not exceeding ten years from the date of
the grant.

The fair value of the options has been calculated by Grant
Sherman Appraisal Limited using the Binomial Option
Pricing Model. The assumptions used are as follows:

REMBRRMEE

25 DESEERROAERMSR

X5 (%)

EFERARITENBRESEES - HE
BREXR_ZFT-NFT_A=+—HEH
BRATE (ZFE—N\F : &) -

R-ZB—tF+-_A-+N\B ([KEHR
) REMITEE RS R0.9548TTHI B
PetE - TDREREREBRER=FHER
& - TR BRI AR =
FRETEETFORREITE

BRENRFERPEFGEERARDRA
“HRABREBRAGE - AARKRLN
T

Granted on

28 December 2017

R-ZB—tF

+ZA=Z+NEEH

Grant date share price BB ARG ER HK$0.93
0.93%F T

Exercise price 1TEE HK$0.954
0.9547% 7T

Expected volatility TEHERR 1R 53.07%
Contractual option life TERRAE S KV F HA 10 years
10%F

Risk-free rate # [2 1) 2 2.16%
Expected dividend yield TEHRR B X 4.93%

Since the historical volatility of the Company’s shares over
the most recent period commensurate with the contractual
life of the share options is not available, the average of
the historical volatilities of the adopted listing guideline
companies has been adopted as the expected volatility
and reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is
indicative of future trends. The risk-free rate is the vyield
of Hong Kong Generic Rate with maturity matching the
contractual option life of the share options as obtained
from Bloomberg as at the Valuation Date. The historical
annualised dividend vyield of the Company of 4.93% has
been adopted.

AR EARNRROREEHE (BER
ERENSOFE) MELIKBEE
LB RAEREA LML R RIME L KR
FHEIERTARRE - IE&BQ%TEJ*“FEE
RIBABEIRRRBE - EERFETIR
HEBRBEZE Zi(BIoomberg)E’] 2 HI H
Eﬁiﬁﬁﬂx% HFH—BEABA K=

cERAARTNFEE(ELREE
4.93% e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BMRMEE

25 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 25 UERZEZERROABERSRW
TRANSACTION (Continued) R (&)
The assumptions used in computing the fair value of the TEEREATERKANBRREERE
share options are based on management’s best estimate. BENKEME - BRENBEIVAR S
The valuation of options is dependent upon a number of HEAFHBRINUEZREE - Z5UE2HE
variables using subjective assumptions. Any changes in e ORI @JT%‘EQ%TE%HXTE AN EGE
the variables may materially affect the estimation of the fair BRERTE
value of an option.
There was no market vesting condition or non-market 1% B 452 L P AR R AR 0 T 345 B B AR
performance condition associated with the options granted. s IETIGRIR G -
Share-based compensation expenses of HK$3,533,000 VAR 1 A& 5 7 &9 =R BM B 238,533,000/
were charged to the consolidated statement of TEBHEZEZZTZ-NFTZA=1THILE
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December FEMNEEEANKRR (ZE—\F:
2019 (2018: HK$3,667,000). 3,667,000/87T) Hkk o
26 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 26 ELEFIBH
Deferred income tax is calculated in full on temporary BHE_Z—NF+-A=+—HLtFE"
differences under the liability method using a principal BEMSHROEAAEINEEHEZER
taxation rate of 16.5% for the year ended 31 December I 2 %R £16.5% (ZZF — \F : 16.5%)
2019 (2018: 16.5%). The net movement on the deferred c AMRRIENESHBREMRBH
income tax liabilities, arising from accelerated tax Eﬁ@/'m U
depreciation is as follows:
(a) Deferred tax assets (a) EEBEEE
2019 2018
—B-NF — )\
HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FET
At 1 January R—H—H - =
Exchange realignment & 5 AR (1) =
Credited to consolidated statement it A4F4& 2 E &=
of comprehensive income (note c) (MtsEce) 215 =
At 31 December Rt=—B=+—8H 214 =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBEBRERMT
26 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued) 26 ELEFEH (&)
(b) Deferred tax liabilities (b) EZEBIEEE
2019 2018
—E-AF —ZT-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
At 1 January Rn—A—H 3,735 3,705
Credited to other comprehensive S AHMEmEmWE
income (45) 30
Charged to consolidated statement R4RA 2 EKEE NG
of comprehensive income (note c¢) (B¥5Ee) 408 =
At 31 December R+=-—A=+—H 4,098 3,735
(c) Deferred income tax charged to consolidated () RIS ZMEWKER A ERAYIELE T
statement of comprehensive income &
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FETT FHET
Deferred tax assets (note a) EERIBEEE (KifEa) (215) =
Deferred tax liabilities (note b) BEFHIBEE (H5Eb) 408 = —
Deferred income tax charged RERE 2EW R AIRE
to consolidated statement of EEPTSHL (FisE11)
comprehensive income (note 11) 193 -
(d) Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are expected d) EBEEMSHEERBEET BB
to be recognised/settled more than 12 months. 1218 ARERR 450 o
(e) Deferred income tax liabilities of HK$5,315,000 as at © RZF-—hF+ZA=+—8©
31 December 2019 (2018; HK$4,315,000) have not ABE THERFREL B ERM
been recognised for the withholding tax that would MEMHBERNELEASHAR
be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain #$5,315,00078 T <— z - )\ F
subsidiaries. Unremitted earnings as at 31 December 4,315,0007 7T ) ° —hF
2019 is HK$106,309,000 (2018: HK$86,296,000). TZA=T—H® * i ﬁ BN a
106,309,000 7T (= & — /\ 5 : >
86,296,000/ L) @ 5
e
<
z
@
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BMRMEE

27 RESERVES

(a)

(b)

(c)

Other capital reserve

Other capital reserves as at 31 December 2019
and 2018 represent the aggregate paid-in capital
of the subsidiaries acquired, offset by investment
costs in subsidiaries of the Company during the
reorganisation.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the
articles of association of those group companies
incorporated in the PRC, the group companies are
required to appropriate 10% of their profits after
income tax, as determined in accordance with
Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises and
the Accounting System for Business Enterprises and
other regulations applicable to group companies,
to the statutory surplus reserve until such reserve
reaches 50% of the registered capital of the group
companies. The appropriation to the reserve must be
made before any distribution of dividends to holders
of the group companies. The statutory surplus reserve
can be used to offset previous years’ losses, if any,
and part of the statutory surplus reserve can be
capitalised as the group companies’ capital provided
that the amount of such reserve remaining after the
capitalisation shall not be less than 25% of the capital
of the group companies.

Revaluation reserve

Revaluation reserve as at 31 December 2019 and
2018 represents the revaluation of land and buildings
held by the Group.

27 f##E
(a)

(b)

(c)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27 RESERVES (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Share option reserve

The fair value of share options granted at the grant
date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period with a corresponding increase in the
share option reserve.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises
its estimates of the number of options that are
expected to ultimately vest and the impact of the
revision of these estimates, if any, is recognised
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income over the remaining vesting period, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve.

At the time when the options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in the share option
reserve is transferred to the share capital. When the
share options are forfeited or are still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised
in the share option reserve is transferred to retained
profits.

Currency translation reserve

The currency translation reserve comprises the
exchange differences arising for the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations.

28 BANKING FACILITIES

(a)

(b)

At 31 December 2019, the Group had banking facilities
totalling HK$285,600,000 (2018: HK$295,600,000)
granted by three banks (2018: three banks). These
facilities were secured by the leasehold land and
buildings of the Group, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss of the Group, fixed deposits placed
in two banks, and an indemnity for an unlimited amount
executed by the Company.

The Group’s borrowings and obligations under finance
lease (note 23) of HK$43,000 as at 31 December
2019 (2018: HK$866,000) were secured by plant
and equipment of the Group, a guarantee executed
by the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
Government, and an indemnity for an unlimited
amount executed by the Company.

REMBRRMEE

27 & (&)

(d)

(e)

RELBSREBRENQFEN
BEREERBBHRXE  BRE
EAEDITE) I

RBERR AEBEETHEHRE
AR EBOBRERE MG
MEI %Mt rEXRNEE (10
B) R T RBHRAESGS 2ERE
KPR LEBRERFEBEAEL
HEAE -

ERBERITER - 2R ERRE
FREANSHRERERAN - BB
PO Wk = @ B B R T
£ ZAEBRERBRERNTHE
BREEREBEN -

B 5%
FE 34, % 46 o # B S 01 32 T 10 1 75 2R
SR I N 2 -

28 SRITHE

(a)

(b)

R—_ZT—hFE+_A=+—H K
EEHEBER=-RRT (ZE—N\F
=R 17) ¥ H A £285,600,000
BT (ZF—/\F : 295,600,000/
T0) ZIRITRE - ZERMERAEE
MEETHREF AEEZRAF
B ABEERENESREE - TRM
RIRTTHERTRARBERQBE
ST RO PR BRI (B /EHR R o

REBR-_ZT—NF+-_A=+—
BRBMAME (M sE23) BT2E
R R AEB HBL3,00006 T (ZF— N\
% : 866,000 L) © B ANE B A
B RE#E - BAFIITHREBTIR
HOEREANABZLINERER
EVEHIR -

Sk
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBERRMTE
29 COMMITMENTS 29 EiE
(a) Capital commitments (a)

Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the
reporting period but not yet incurred is as follows:

BRI
RBERRBTNEREENER
AT :

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TET
Property, plant and equipment M - BRE KRB = 2,775
(b) Operating lease commitments - as a lessee (b) KERERIE - EHERBEA

The Group leases offices, staff dormitory, warehouses,
and car parking spaces under non-cancellable
operating lease agreements. The lease terms are
between one to three years, and the majority of lease
agreements are renewable at the end of the lease
period at market rate.

From 1 January 2019, the Group has recognised
right-of-use assets for these leases, except for short-
term and low-value leases as detailed in note 35 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The total future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating lease payable as follows:

AEERBETAIBGHEEHE HH
HEHLAE BIFBE BERE
B  HANF—ZE=F XZH
HE WA EHEBRATSERE
I

BE-ZT—NF—A—HiE £&£H
ERRAZEHENERAESE &
RHREEBERERN  FAEAE
B R R T 5ES5 ©

RIBTAIHGE 2 KL RE RKES
REMENKEENT :

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET TET

Within one year —FRN 44 2,002
In the second to third years, inclusive ~SE-FZ2FE=F (BIEEHE

M) = 1,093

44 3,095
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRMRMEE
30 NOTE TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 30 H&HREXRME
(a) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash (a) BRASHAGMNEEEELEZRS
generated from operations: R -
2019 2018
—E-NF —T-N\F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FETT FET
Cash flows from operating activities K& TEFMEELSHKE
Profit before income tax B FFr 45 50 A& A 24,311 49,639
Adjustments for: T &R
Bank interest income RITH EWA (1,245) (979)
Amortisation of insurance expense R B =% 6 4 31 11
Depreciation for property, plant and ME - BELREBITE
equipment 11,175 10,305
Depreciation for right-of-use assets FRAEEENE 6,784 =
Equity-settled share based iR EE RN AE
payment expense WA 3,533 3,667
Finance costs BhE AN 13,040 12,965
Loss on derivative financial PTESR T AR
instruments 2,245 -
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, HEWE - BER
plant and equipment =B (W), BB (252) 49
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment B 5 W IERE |
loss on trade receivables BB (BE), BiE (1,023) 4,601
Provision/(reversal of) for impairment FEREEE
loss on inventories B (#E) 3,270 (652)
Obsolete inventories written off FREFEMH 1,325 1,067
Loss on de-recognition of financial BUBRERIZ N AT A
asset at fair value through BalRNemEERN
profit or loss E518 = 376
Fair value (gain)/loss on financial BRATER ABEERSY
asset at fair value through TREENAFEE
profit or loss (Wax),/ &8 (177) 127
Bad debt written off AR 334 =
Operating profit before working EEESEHAN
capital changes AR A 63,351 81,176 .
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERD /(3 m) 40,124 (34,632) z
(Increase)/decrease in trade and B 5 M E b IR 8
other receivables (3gm), m (49,612) 28,410 :%i
Increase in prepayment and deposits T 5 & 14 # 11 (2,186) (4403  RZ
(Decrease)/increase in trade and B 5 REAMFEFIA %
other payables CRid),/ $g (62,519) 17,862 5
(Decrease)/increase in contract liability  &4&E& Gid ),/ & (40) 3,004
Net cash (used in)/generated from &% (Fif)  FBHES
operations FHE (10,882) 91,417
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERKE

30 NOTE TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 30 R&h8xkK= (&)

(Continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (b) RMEITBELZEBEHE:
activities:
Borrowings
(excluding Finance
Lease interest lease
liabilities payables) payable Total
B
(Fa#E MEHE
HERE  EFFR) ERHE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Balance at 1 January 2018 RZE-NE-A-H
Hikes - 17,994 1,849 19,843
Cash flows Ben
- Inflow from financing activities -HEEBREMA - 109,071 - 109,071
- Outflow from financing activities -BEEHRERL - (95,538) (983) (96,521)
- Outflow from operating activities RETHBL AL = (858) (49) (907)
Non-cash changes FReEH
Interest expenses FE8XH - 868 49 917
Exchange differences EREE = (10) - (10
Balance at 31 December 2018 RZE-N\FE+ZB=1+-H
and 1 January 2019 RZE-hE-B-ANEH = 31,627 866 32,393
Cash flows Bk
- Inflow from financing activities -BEEHREMA - 37,000 - 37,000
- Qutflow from financing activities -HEEBRLML (5,355) (57,489) (823) (63,667)
- Outflow from operating activities -EEEHRSTIL (1,839) (956) (14) (2,809)
Non-cash changes FRe &Y
Interest expenses FlETH 1,839 956 14 2,809
Exchange differences EREE (3) (27) - (30)
Other non-cash items HiIEREBE 28,447 = = 28,447
Balance at RZE-NE+ZA=1+-8
31 December 2019 0k 23,089 11,011 43 34,143
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBWMRME
31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 31 BBARS

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries RATEEWNB AR CHORZEREGE

have been eliminated on consolidation and are not FRERSEHEMITEN AR o BrH

disclosed in this note. Save for those disclosed elsewhere U BEREMIE S BEENARTI - K&

in these Interim Financial Information, details of transactions HEMBER S 2R ZHFBEHEEND

between the Group and other related parties are disclosed ™

below:

(a) The Directors of the Company are of the view that (a) ARFEZTRAATRAFTARE
the following company was a related party that had —hF+ZA=1+—BkE=%H
transactions with the Group as at and during the tifﬁﬂfﬁiﬁ$$l IR 58
year ended 31 December 2019: B 5

Relationship HAEH
Name of related party with the Group )iy ol RER
Myrra Hong Kong Controlled by Mr. Georges Myrra Hong Kong E37Z82A RI#11T
Limited René Gener, the Limited # = Georges
executive Director René Gener
of the Company Se |

(b) The following transactions were undertaken by the (b) XEERHBE_-Z j1¢—|— A=
Group with the related party during the year ended +—HIFEEHEBER A ETUTR
31 December 2019: 2N

2019 2018
—E-NF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Myrra Hong Kong Limited Myrra Hong Kong Limited
- Purchase of goods —BEEM 136 -
Goods are bought from the entity controlled by the BEmDIRESHEGREEG BB
executive Director on normal commercial terms and TESITHNERES -
conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERKE

31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 31 BB AR H (&)

(c) Balances due to a related party (c) EFRBEESESR
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHETT FET
Myrra Hong Kong Limited Myrra Hong Kong Limited 38 =

The balances due to a related party is mainly
denominated in US$. The amount due to a related
party is unsecured, interest-free, trading in nature
and due within net 60 days. The fair value of amount
due to a related party approximates to the carrying
amount at 31 December 2019.

(d) Key management compensation (d)
Members of key management during the vyear
comprised the Directors only whose remuneration
is set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERME

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

32 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 32 AARMBEMRAERRFEES

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-)N\F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
it FET FET
Assets BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment in subsidiaries RSB R AR E 16 145,182 145,182
Right-of-use asset HRAEEE 291 =
Deferred tax asset EIEF I E E 4 5
145,477 145,182
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables H b fE U kI8 8,000 18,500
Prepayments and deposits AR RIERIES 298 315
Amount due from subsidiaries FE U BT /B~ B 5RO 64,152 20,363
Tax recoverable BB 579 701
Bank and cash balances IRIT IR 48R 89,272 126,060
162,301 165,939
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 Kk E bR FIE 2,371 2,275
Lease liabilities — current HEAE—RY 156 =
2,527 2,275
Net current assets REBEEFE 159,774 163,664
Total assets less current liabilities EEABRABERE 305,251 308,846
Non-current liability FkRBEME
Lease liabilities — non-current HEAE—IERF 155 =
Net assets BEFE 305,096 308,846
Equity e
Share capital R& AR 24 281,507 281,507
Reserves i (a) 23,589 27,339
Total equity BEER 305,096 308,846

The statement of financial position of the Company were
approved by the Board of Directors on 23 March 2020 and

were signed on its behalf

Lai Yiu Wah
R

Director

EF

RARWNTBERAREHESTEN T =
TE-ZA-_+=B#tE THEUATEER

REFER

Tai Leung Lam

R

Director

EF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERKE

32 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 32

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

(@) Reserve movement of the Company

ARARUBRARREHEES

(&)

(a) ADFRFHEEH

Share
options Retained
reserve profits Total
BRERE REER st
Note HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Mz FET FET FET
At 31 December 2018 RZT—\F
+=-A=+—H~ 3,698 23,641 27,339
Profit for the year FRRM - 18,717 18,717
Equity-settled share-based NEmEE RN AE 25
transaction ERMFORS 3,533 - 3,533
Forfeiture of share options 2 UK B R i (192) 192 -
Dividend paid BERRE 13 - (26,000) (26,000)
At 31 December 2019 RZZE—NF
+=-A=+—AH 7,039 16,550 23,589
At 31 December 2017 RZT—tF
+=-A=+—H 40 20,661 20,701
Profit for the year FRREM - 30,971 30,971
Equity-settled share-based NEmEE RN AE 25
transaction EMATRNR S 3,667 = 3,667
Forfeiture of share options SR Ui B P 1 9) 9 -
Dividend paid BRIRE 13 - (28,000) (28,000)
At 31 December 2018 R-E—N\EF
+=A=+—H 3,698 23,641 27,339
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERME

33 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 33 £®TI A — ZREr&E 5

As at 31 December 2019 R-E—-h&E+=ZA=+—H

Financial Financial
assets  assets at fair
at amortised value through

cost  profit or loss Total
BAFE
REEH AR STABIER
FTENERMEE MemEE et
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Financial assets at fair value RATEGFABRERN
through the profit or loss CREE - 8,621 8,621
Trade and other receivables B 5 R EA R FIR 156,635 - 156,635
Deposits wé 11,524 - 11,524
Restricted bank deposits IR EIRITER 6,186 - 6,186
Bank and cash balances BITRAEHER 97,679 = 97,679
Total BEt 272,024 8,621 280,645
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost Total —
RS AR A
STENERAE et
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET
Trade and other payables B 5 REAMENAFIE (BEK
(excluding sale deposits received) SHETTEBRIN) 105,965 105,965
Contract liability AHAaE 2,964 2,964
Borrowings EEN 11,852 11,852
Finance lease payables RMEREEMFIR 43 43
Lease liabilities HEARE 23,089 23,089
Total FE 143,913 143,913
il
=
>
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o
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=
@
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e B BMRMEE

33 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continued)
As at 31 December 2018

33 £€WMTHE-RERNED (&)

R-_E-—NF+-_A=+—H

Financial Financial
assets  assets at fair
at amortised value through
cost  profit or loss Total
RE R A BATE
FTEH FFABEER
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET FET
Financial assets at fair value BAFEFTABZERERN
through the profit or loss TREE - 6,765 6,765
Trade and other receivables 85 RE MR RIE 106,334 - 106,334
Deposits wé 3,901 = 3,901
Restricted bank deposits ZIRHIRITER 8,114 = 8,114
Bank and cash balances BITRIRE &R 194,580 - 194,580
Total HBEr 312,929 6,765 319,694
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost Total
BB A
B2
ctRAR #st
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET
Trade and other payables B 5 REAM BN FIA
(excluding sale deposits received) (BWSHERT 2R IN) 167,424 167,424
Contract liability aHERE 3,004 3,004
Borrowings RN 31,871 31,871
Finance lease payables BMEMSENRIA 866 866
Total HEt 203,165 203,165

34 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities
as at 31 December 2019 (2018: nil).

34 HAREE

R-ZZEB-AFE+-_A=+—0 K£EL
BEIMBEARLARBE (CE—N\F &)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERME

35 LEASE 35 HE
This note provides information for leases where the Group WAER AFEAA - AIARMFHAERE
is a lessee. BH} o
() Amount recognised in the consolidated statement () REEHMBRRRBEINESE

(i)

of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position
shows the following amounts relating to leases: R &

REMBARAKRBINATEEES

31 December 1 January
2019 2019
—2-nE  —F-NF
t=A=+-8 —A—8
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET

Right-of-use assets FEREEE
Buildings gF 21,657 25,193

Lease liabilities HEAE

Current pinE) 6,597 5,518
Non-current IR ED 16,492 19,675
23,089 25,193

Additions to the right-of-use assets were
HK$6,406,000 during year ended 31 December 2019.

HE_Z-—NF+-_A=+—81t
& [Z & A # & E N B6,406,000%8

=
Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement (i) RESEXHRERBEIANTE

of comprehensive income

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income

FermBEREINATERESR

shows the following amounts relating to leases: AT
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEIT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use {FREEETER S (ME7)
assets (note 7) 6,784 -
Interest expenses MERAXZ
(included in finance costs) (FEABERA)
(note 10) (FFzE10) 1,839 =

The total cash outflow for leases in 2019 was
HK$7,670,000. 7,670,000/ ¢ °

“E-AFHERSRHLERS

Sk
SINIWILVLS TVIONVNIS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B BMRMEE

35 LEASE (Continued)

(iii) The Group’s leasing activities and how these are

(iv)

accounted for

The Group leases various offices, warehouses,
factory, staff dormitory, and car parking spaces.
Non-cancellable rental contracts are typically made for
periods of one to three years. The Group also leases
various warehouses and factory under cancellable
rental contracts. The option to terminate the leases
are described in note (iv) below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants.

Extension termination options

Extension termination options are included in a
number of property leases across the Group. These
are used to maximize operational flexibility in terms of
managing the assets used in the Group’s operations.
The majority of extension termination options held
are exercisable only by the Group and not by the
respective lessor.

36 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a)

As approved by the Board of Directors, and consented
by the option holders of the Company, an aggregate
of 28,400,000 share options outstanding as at 31
December 2019 was cancelled with effect from 21
January 2020 in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme. No compensation was payable
to the option holders for the cancellation of the share
options. Details of this cancellation are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 21 January
2020.

35 HE (&)

(i) AEEREEFHREAEELRX

(iv)

36 WE

(@)

?3(0 TRIOINDUSTRIAL ELECTRONICS GROUP LIMITED |2 T ¥ EF £MAR LD A

AEBEEZRHAE BRE- T
B BIEE REEM - T A B
HEAN—KRAH—Z2=F - 4K
EAREAHEEHECNHEZR
BRERTH - RIEHENENRT
TR (iv) Bt ©

ME R TEER R e - I
BB TRMNGERMEE - HE
1o % N 48 e A0 (] 2258 o

FEFRAR LA

TEER LT AN KEZ Y XM
E-RERASEEZMAEEM
T OREARERARECELEEN -
FARABDERMK LEER RA
SEMIEBRMEBEAITE -

\

HREIR

e ERA AR BRERS
ABE R-_Z—AE+-_A=+
— B & AR 1T H & $£28,400,0001%
B E D IRE B IR RT B IR GE
W B-FT_TF-A-t+—HE
A e R DA R EE
BEAZHE - BEZEHENFE
BN ARAF A AE-_ZT_ZTF—A
—t+—BHRAM



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

(b)

The recent outbreak of COVID-19 has added
uncertainties to the business environment and
economic activities of the Group. A number of
provinces and municipalities in the PRC had taken
emergency public health measures to contain the
spread of COVID-19, including but not limited to
travel restrictions and extension of nationwide
public holiday for the Lunar New Year. The Group’s
production facilities in Nansha District, Guangzhou
City, Guangdong Province, the PRC had been affected
by the prolonged work suspension and reduced
workforce mobility, thereby experienced a temporary
decrease in production. Certain scheduled supplies
to and deliveries from the Group were also affected
by the traffic disruptions. As at the date of this
report, certain customers of the Group had agreed
to postpone their product delivery and none of the
sales orders placed to the Group had been cancelled
because of COVID-19. The Group will endeavor to
mitigate any adverse impacts on the Group and
its customers caused by COVID-19. Details of the
business updates on the impact of COVID-19 are set
out in the announcement of the Company dated 16
March 2020.

As at the date of this report, the Group is still in the
process of assessing the financial impacts of the
COVID-19 outbreak and its aftermath towards the
financial position and performance of the Group. The
management of the Group will pay close attention
to the COVID-19 development and perform further
assessment of its financial impacts.

The COVID-19 outbreak is a non-adjusting event
after the financial year-end and does not result in any
adjustments to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019.

REMBRRMEE

36 HMEMKRER (F)

(o)

3T HR IR COVID-19 AR EEH
EERIENEE RS THEAR
Z -FEHEZEALHTERDNEEZAH
B A B 12 HICOVID-19K) 2 4 -
BREETMREAREHITRIIEERS
BERENFEFARBH - AEEMLR
PEEREEMNTEPENEER
MR EEEET ME TR IERE
FE EERLEBREE TR
ETRTAANEEHRERBAAEE
R R INAR B mMED
2 . AAREBH AEEETE
FEREHEXNRKEMNESR B
AEBECMEMNEETETER
COVID-191#HBUE - NEEFEH
HERCOVID- 198 AEB R ER S
AN F 22 - BRECOVID-195
BNEBETERFBRHRARF
—E-EF=ZA+NEMRMH -

RABEBE  AEEDEFE
COVID-19/& % K Hig RE AL EH
FBAARRENMBEE - K&
E &2 ES R YH/ECOVID-19/) 5
R — T EHEHE -

IBEECOVID- 198 BT HE BT
ER®EHEBEE T IIT2EHEEH
E-E-NE+-A=+—BI#%F
ERERE M HRERAE A FHE -

Sk
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

hEMBBE
For the year ended 31 December
BE+-A=1+—-HLEE
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
—E-hF ZE-N\F ZE—+F ZT—RF ZT-HF
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET
Results *E
Revenue s 808,599 885,971 788,042 744,899 657,614
Profit before income tax AT S AR T 24,311 49,639 87,148 97,355 42,513
Income tax expense FrgfiA Y (1,954) (7,261) (17,140) (22,098) (12,756)
Profit for the year FREM 22,357 42,378 70,008 75,257 29,757
Attributable to: G -
Owners of the Company KARIER A 22,357 42,378 70,008 75,257 29,757
As at 31 December
Rt+t=-—RA=+—~H
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
—B-hE —F-/\f —T—+tF TR —F-IF
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FE FET FET FEr FET
Assets and liabilities EEREE
Total assets BELE 515,235 573,573 524,736 204,224 308,895
Total liabilities BERE (162,744)  (221,678)  (192,172)  (139,469)  (183,968)
Net assets BESFE 352,491 351,895 332,564 154,755 124,927
Equity attributable to owners AR AEHEAS A
of the Company JE(h RS 352,491 351,895 332,564 154,755 124,927
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